
Ridgway Town Council 
Special Meeting Agenda 

Monday, February 28, 2022 

Due to COVID-19, and pursuant to the Town’s Electronic Participation Policy, 
the meeting will be conducted via a virtual meeting portal. 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86072117881?pwd=WXd2ZS9PYXJLVnJkcW5WZXlxM2NYQT09 

Meeting ID: 860 7211 7881 
Passcode: 806335 

Dial by your location 
+1 346 248 7799 US
+1 253 215 8782 US

6:00 p.m. 

CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL  Councilors Adam Beck, Kevin Grambley, Beth Lakin, Terry 
Schuyler, Mayor Pro Tem Russ Meyer and Mayor John Clark 

PUBLIC COMMENTS Established time for the public to address the Council regarding 
any item not otherwise listed on the agenda.  Comments will be 
limited to 5 minutes per person. 

WORKSHOP 

1. Presentation of Water Supply Assessment prepared by LRE Water for the Town of
Ridgway – Ashley Moffat and Mark Mitisek, LRE Water

POLICY MATTERS Public comments will be limited to 5 minutes per person; overall 
discussion of each item may be limited to 10 minutes. 

2. Review and action on Project Development and Implementation Agreement – Lena Street
Improvements between Lena Street Commons, LLC and the Town of Ridgway – Town
Attorney.

ADJOURNMENT 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86072117881?pwd=WXd2ZS9PYXJLVnJkcW5WZXlxM2NYQT09


 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM #1 
 



 

 

To:    Honorable Mayor Clark and Ridgway Town Council 
From:   Preston Neill, Town Manager 
Date:   February 24, 2022 
Agenda Topic: Presentation of Water Supply Assessment prepared by LRE Water for the 

Town of Ridgway 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
SUMMARY: 
Ashley Moffat, Senior Project Engineer, and Mark Mitisek, Senior Project Manager, with LRE Water 
will attend the Town Council Workshop on Monday, February 28th to present the Water Supply 
Assessment prepared by LRE Water for the Town of Ridgway.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
The Town’s 2021 Strategic Plan contained a strategy to “Complete a water supply analysis to better 
understand available water resources.” The project had been listed in the Town’s 5 Year Capital 
Improvement Plan for several years. It was budgeted for in 2020 and the project was postponed due 
to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Town Council earmarked funds in the Town’s Fiscal Year 2021 
Budget for this project.  
 
On May 17, 2021 the Town issued a Request for Proposals seeking a qualified and experienced firm 
to prepare a comprehensive assessment of the Town’s current water rights portfolio and water 
supplies to determine whether the Town’s total projected water supplies available during normal, 
single dry, and multiple dry water years during a 30-year projection will meet the projected water 
demand of future growth and changes in usages within the Town’s service area. As a result of the 
competitive bid process, on July 14, 2021, the Town Council approved the Professional Services 
Agreement between the Town of Ridgway and LRE Water for the preparation of a Water Supply 
Assessment.  
 
Over the last seven months, staff has worked with LRE Water to provide the information and 
production data necessary for LRE Water to quantify the Town’s existing and future water demands, 
to evaluate the adequacy of the Town’s existing water supply system to meet those demands, and 
to identify any deficiencies in either available physical or legal supply. The resulting investigative 
study is attached to this memorandum.  
 
ATTACHMENT: 
Water Supply Assessment 



 
R O C K Y  M O U N T A I N   |   M I D W E S T   |   S O U T H W E S T   |   T E X A S

909 Colorado Avenue Glenwood Springs, CO 81601    |   Off ice: 970-945-6777   |   LREWATER.COM 

WATER SUPPLY ASSESSMENT 
Town of Ridgway, Colorado 

Prepared for: 
Town of Ridgway 

Date:  2022-02-10 

Project Number:  21630-01 

The technical material in this report was prepared by or under the supervision and direction of the 
undersigned, whose seal as a Professional Engineer/Hydrologist is affixed below. 

________________________________________ 
Ashley Moffatt, P.E. 
Senior Project Manager, VP of Western Operations 

________________________________________ 
Mark Mitisek, P.H. 
Senior Project Manager, Technology Business Unit Manager 

The following members of the LRE Water staff contributed to the preparation of this report. 

Michael Erion, P.E. 
Ryan Gilliom, PhD 
Hanna Anderson, P.E. 
Peter Van Dusen, E.I.T. 



 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Section 1: INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................. 4 

1.1 Scope of Work ............................................................................................................. 4 

Section 2: WATER SYSTEM DEMANDS .............................................................................. 6 

2.1 Existing Water System Demands ................................................................................. 6 

2.1.1 Existing Potable Water Demands .......................................................................... 7 

2.1.2 Existing Raw Water Demands .............................................................................. 7 

2.2 Demand Forecast (2021-2050) ...................................................................................12 

2.2.1 Potable Water Demand Projections .....................................................................12 

2.2.2 Raw Water Demand Projections ..........................................................................13 

Section 3: WATER AVAILABILITY .......................................................................................15 

3.1 Physical Water Supply ................................................................................................15 

3.1.1 Ridgway Ditch Diversion System .........................................................................17 

3.1.2 Lake Otonowanda ................................................................................................19 

3.1.3 Happy Hollow Ditch System .................................................................................20 

3.1.4 Pre-sedimentation Ponds .....................................................................................21 

3.2 Legal Water Supply .....................................................................................................26 

3.2.1 Ridgway Ditch ......................................................................................................26 

3.2.2 The Town’s Ridgway Water System ....................................................................27 

3.2.3 Other Water Rights ..............................................................................................28 

3.2.4 Water Right Administration ..................................................................................29 

3.3 Climate Change Considerations ..................................................................................35 

3.3.1 Climate Change Diversions ..................................................................................35 

3.4 Reliability of The Town’s Water System ......................................................................41 

3.4.1 Supply-Demand Scenarios ..................................................................................42 

3.4.2 Modeled Supply Gap ...........................................................................................43 

Section 4: WATER SUPPLY STRATEGIES .........................................................................55 

Section 5: SUMMARY OF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS .....................................58 

 

 



 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

LIST OF FIGURES 

Figure 1:  Project Vicinity Map .................................................................................................... 8 
Figure 2:  Schematic of the Town of Rigdway’s Water Supply System ....................................... 9 
Figure 3:  Town of Ridgway’s Total Annual Potable Production ................................................10 
Figure 4:  Town of Ridgway’s Average Monthly Potable and Raw Water Production ................11 
Figure 5:  Town fo Ridgway’s Projected Annual Demand Volume .............................................14 
Figure 6:  Watershed Summary Map .........................................................................................16 
Figure 7:  Total Annual Ridgway Ditch Diversion Summary (Historical) .....................................22 
Figure 8:  Average Monthly Ridgway Ditch Diversion Summary (Historical) ..............................23 
Figure 9:  Total Annual Happy Hollow Ditch Diversion Summary (Historical) ............................24 
Figure 10: Average Monthly Happy Hollow Ditch Diversion Summary (Historical) .....................25 
Figure 11: Water Right Location Map ........................................................................................33 
Figure 12: Call Chronology Analysis .........................................................................................34 
Figure 13: Total Annual Ridgway Ditch Diversion Summary (Climate Change) .........................37 
Figure 14: Average Monthly Ridgway Ditch Diversion Summary (Climate Change) ..................38 
Figure 15: Total Annual Happy Hollow Ditch Diversion Summary (Climate Change) .................39 
Figure 16: Average Monthly Happy Hollow Ditch Diversion Summary (Climate Change) ..........40 
Figure 17: Annual Supply Gap Frequency & Volume ................................................................45 
Figure H1.A: Historical Hydrology, Current Operation & 2.5% System Loss Analysis................47 
Figure H1.B: Historical Hydrology, Current Operation & No System Loss Analysis ...................48 
Figure H2.A: Historical Hydrology, Full Entitlement & 2.5% System Loss Analysis ...................49 
Figure H2.B: Historical Hydrology, Full Entitlement & No System Loss Analysis .......................50 
Figure C1.A: Climate Change Hydrology, Current Operation & 2.5% System Loss Analysis .....51 
Figure C1.B: Climate Change Hydrology, Current Operation & No System Loss Analysis ........52 
Figure C2.A: Climate Change Hydrology, Full Entitlement & 2.5% System Loss Analysis .........53 
Figure C2.B: Climate Change Hydrology, Full Entitlement & No System Loss Analysis ............54 

LIST OF TABLES 

Table 1:  Town of Ridgway’s Water Rights Summary ................................................................32 
Table 2:  Firm Yield Analysis .....................................................................................................46 
 

LIST OF APPENDICES 

Appendix A:  Water Right Decrees 

Appendix B:  Population Projections and Basis for Projecting Future Needs 

 

 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 4 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION 
LRE Water, Inc. (“LRE Water”) was retained by the Town of Ridgway (“Town”) to complete an 
investigative study of the Town’s water supply system. The objective of this investigation was first 
to quantify the Town’s existing and future water demands, then to evaluate the adequacy of the 
Town’s existing water supply system to meet those demands, and finally to identify any 
deficiencies in either available physical or legal supply.  

The following Water Supply Assessment is the culmination of that study. It summarizes the best 
available information and data related to the Town’s existing water supply system, describes the 
process and methodologies used to analyze the system’s ability to meet existing and future 
demands, and provides the Town with recommendations from which existing operations can be 
evaluated and future decisions can be guided. Section 2.0 of the report examines the production 
and delivery of water through the Town’s potable treatment system. Through this process, LRE 
Water derived the per capita water demand and the monthly and annual requirement of the 
existing system, which was subsequently used as a basis for projecting the Town’s future water 
requirements at buildout. Section 2.0 of the report also establishes an approximate timeline for 
when that future demand level will be reached based on various growth scenarios provided by 
the Town. Section 3.0 of the report then analyzes the physical and legal availability of water to 
the Town’s water system to meet the existing and future demands outlined in Section 2.0, and 
finally, Section 4.0 of the report summarizes the findings of the study and provides water supply 
strategies to help assist the Town in securing and maintaining a long term reliable water supply. 

1.1 SCOPE OF WORK 

As outlined in LRE Water’s proposal to the Town, the approach and methodology for completing 
a water supply assessment included six tasks: 

1. Review Water Supply System & Water Right Portfolio 
At the onset of the investigative study, LRE Water met with key personnel from the Town 
(“Town Staff”) on several occasions. The information obtained from these meetings and 
from the review of documents and materials that were provided to LRE Water by the Town 
and that were available through public databases set the foundation for LRE Water’s 
understanding of Ridgway’s water supply system: operations, infrastructure, and 
supporting water rights portfolio. As part of this task, LRE Water compiled and organized 
a notebook of decrees and other documents associated with the Town’s water rights 
portfolio. These materials are attached in Appendix A. 
 

2. Quantify Existing and Future Water Demands 
LRE Water used the Town’s available water records as a basis for determining the existing 
per capita demand, and then worked with Town Staff to establish a range of growth rates 
from which the amount and timing of future potable and non-potable water demands were 
quantified. This analysis can be found in Section 2.0: Water System Demands.     
 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 5 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

3. Analyze Physical Water Availability with and without Climate Change Considerations 
LRE Water relied on available diversions and storage records to evaluate the water supply 
that is physically available from Beaver Creek and Cottonwood Creek. The period of 
record that was evaluated included a variety of average, wet, and dry year conditions, 
including several periods of extended drought. These year types were then used as a 
basis for developing hydrology that applied “hot and dry” climate change considerations. 
Details related to the historic hydrology can be found in Section 3.1: Physical Water 
Supply, and detail related to the climate change analysis can be found in Section 3.3: 
Climate Change Considerations. 
 

4. Analyze Yield of Water Rights Portfolio 
LRE Water developed a firm yield model to evaluate the ability of the Town’s existing water 
supply system to meet existing and future demands under various hydrologic conditions 
(historic and climate change) and operational scenarios. The water right considerations 
used in the model are described in Section 3.2: Legal Water Supply, and the development 
of the firm yield model including inputs, assumptions, scenarios, and results can be found 
in Section 3.4: Reliability of Town’s Water System. 
 

5. Critique of Water Right Portfolio 
The modeled scenarios showed under what conditions the Town’s water system may be 
stressed or unable to meet demands. LRE Water provided general strategies to improve 
the reliability of the Town’s water system in Section 4.0: Water Supply Strategies. 
 

6. Recommendations 
Section 5.0 of this report highlights key study findings and provides the Town with specific 
recommendations based on those findings.  



Water Supply Assessment  Page 6 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

SECTION 2: WATER SYSTEM DEMANDS 
The Town of Ridgway is located in central Ouray County, Colorado, near the confluence of the 
Uncompahgre River and Dallas Creek, as shown in Figure 1. This former railroad town was 
established in 1891 and is the most populous municipality in the county with a current population 
of approximately 1,150 residents. The municipal water demand within the Town’s existing service 
area is primarily supplied by two sources:  Beaver Creek and Cottonwood Creek. The supply that 
originates from the Beaver Creek drainage is available on a year-round basis, and is currently 
diverted through the Ridgway Ditch and delivered directly to the Town’s Ridgway Reservoir (a.k.a. 
“Pre-sedimentation Ponds”) or stored in Otonowanda Reservoir (a.k.a “Lake Otonowanda”) and 
then subsequently delivered to the Pre-sedimentation Ponds. The supply that originates from the 
Cottonwood Creek drainage, can have limited availability during the late-summer and early-fall of 
dry years. This supply is diverted through the Happy Hollow Ditch and delivered directly to the 
Pre-sedimentation Ponds. From the Pre-sedimentation Ponds, the delivered water supply is then 
treated at the water plant for municipal uses or taken through the raw water (non-potable) system 
for irrigation. A schematic of the Town’s water system is shown in Figure 2. 

In order to assess the future reliability of the Town’s existing water system, LRE Water developed 
a series of scenarios wherein forecasted municipal demand levels were evaluated against historic 
hydrology and future hydrology that included climate change considerations. The forecasted, 
future demands were based on existing water use data. The Town maintains a production record 
at its water treatment plant, and LRE Water used this data to quantify the magnitude and pattern 
of use for existing water demands within the Town’s service area. These existing conditions and 
LRE Water’s forecasted future demands are described more fully in the following sub-sections.  

2.1 EXISTING WATER SYSTEM DEMANDS 

Town’s existing municipal water system has both a treated potable component and a raw water 
non-potable component. The treated potable water supply is delivered throughout the service 
area and supports both indoor domestic demands and the outdoor irrigation of lawns and gardens. 
The non-potable supply is delivered through a raw water line for the irrigation of larger open space 
and park lands. Both of these components receive water supplies from the Town’s diversions on 
Beaver Creek and Cottonwood Creek, and combined, the treated and raw water system are 
representative of the Town’s overall total municipal water demand.  

• Total Municipal Demand = Treated Potable Supply + Raw Water Irrigation System 

In order to forecast the total future municipal water demands, LRE Water examined each demand 
component separately. The demand on the treated water system will increase with population 
growth, whereas the demand on the raw water system will be tied to the future development of 
open space and park lands.  



Water Supply Assessment  Page 7 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

2.1.1 Existing Potable Water Demands 

In its examination of the Town’s treated water system, LRE Water relied on the Town’s monthly 
production data. Town Staff indicated that based on sales, the production record likely 
overestimates the amount of water used, and that the difference between production and actual 
use could be attributed to the accuracy of meters and leaks within the system. Nevertheless, the 
production record is the best available source of data and provides a conservative approximation 
of the Town’s existing water demands. 

The record covered 22 years from January 2000 through July 2021. In order to review existing 
conditions, LRE Water focused its analysis on the last 5-year and 10-year periods. From 2011 to 
2020, the Town on average produced approximately 62.9 million gallons (“MG”) or 193.1 acre-
feet (“AF”) through its municipal treatment plant. In the last 5-year, from 2016 to 2020, the treated 
demand has increased by approximately 9% to an average annual volume of 68.8 MG or 211.1 
AF. This increase likely reflects the Town’s growth from a population of approximately 925 
residents in 2010 to the existing population of approximately 1,150 residents. On a per capita 
basis, LRE Water quantified the average daily demand in the winter to be approximately 125 
gallons per day (“gpd”). This winter demand is representative of the treated indoor water supply 
that on average one person consumes per day. In LRE Water’s evaluation of municipal treatment 
plants for similarly sized mountain communities, a per capita demand of 125 gpd is on the higher 
end of the range, which is consistent with Town Staff’s observation that the production record 
overestimates the actual water use. Based on sales, Town Staff estimates that the delivered 
supply on a per capita basis is closer to 70 gpd. While there is potential to improve the existing 
water supply system such that the production level better matches sales, for the purposes of this 
assessment, LRE Water chose to model the higher production rate. LRE Water also examined 
the per capita summer demand, which includes the use of treated water for irrigating lawns and 
gardens. On average, the daily per capita demand nearly doubled to 250 gpd. This increase from 
the baseline indoor winter use to a treated summer supply that includes irrigation is consistent 
with what LRE Water has observed in its evaluation of other similarly sized mountain 
communities. A summary of the Town’s annual production over the last 10-years is shown in 
Figure 3, and a summary of the average monthly production rate is shown in Figure 4.  

2.1.2 Existing Raw Water Demands 

The water supply that is delivered through the Town’s raw water system is not metered. As such, 
for the purpose of this analysis, Town Staff provided LRE Water with an estimate of daily use 
during the irrigation season by subtracting the treated production from the total diversion supply 
for 2020. The water demand associated with irrigation typically follows a bell-shaped curve with 
demands increasing from late spring to a summer peak and then receding through the fall. Based 
on the Town’s calculated estimate, the raw water system delivers approximately 0.10 million 
gallons per day (“MGD”) or 0.18 cubic feet per second (“cfs”) in April and October, and 
approximately 0.22 MGD or 0.41 cfs June and July. A summary of the Town’s average monthly 
raw water supply is shown in Figure 4.  



Town of Ridgway

Dallas Creek Watershed

Ouray County

Uncompahgre River Watershed
(above Ridgway)

Figure 1: Project Vicinity Map
Town of Ridgway

®0 10 205

Miles
Date: 2022-01-24
File: 21630-1.0
Drawn: PCV
Approved: ANM

District 68

Source: ESRI World Topographic Basemap

Water Division 4



Figure 2
Schematic of the Town of Ridgway's Water Supply System

®0 1 20.5

Miles Date: 2022-01-24
File: 21630-1.0
Drawn: PCV
Approved: ANM

Beaver
Creek

Dallas Creek

East Fork
Dallas Creek

Uncompahgre
River

Town of 
Ridgway

Cottonwood
Creek

Happy Hollow Ditch

Ridgway Ditch

Lake Otonowanda
(decreed as Otonowanda Reservoir)

Pre-sedimentation Ponds
(decreed as Ridgway Reservoir)

Source: 2017 NAIP Imagery



Figure 3
Town of Ridgway's Total Annual Potable Production

2011 - 2020

Total Annual Production

Avg Annual Volume, Last 10-Years 62.9 million gallons (193.1 AF)
Avg Annual Volume, Last 5-Years 68.8 million gallons (211.1 AF)

TOTAL ANNUAL PRODUCTION SUMMARY
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 16-20
(MG) (MG) (MG) (MG) (MG) (MG) (MG) (MG) (MG) (MG) AVG

Jan 3.94 3.22 3.16 3.16 3.26 3.79 3.78 4.83 4.83 4.93 4.43
Feb 3.74 3.52 2.72 2.72 3.01 3.71 3.38 4.06 4.31 4.31 3.96
Mar 3.75 3.50 3.20 3.20 3.43 3.60 3.86 4.75 5.02 4.75 4.40
Apr 3.48 3.86 2.93 2.93 4.30 3.51 3.65 4.69 4.73 4.37 4.19
May 4.99 7.14 4.49 4.49 4.23 5.04 5.15 7.68 5.46 7.43 6.16
Jun 8.83 8.78 7.41 7.41 6.75 8.77 9.06 9.46 8.27 8.11 8.73
Jul 7.52 6.93 8.63 8.63 7.66 9.07 8.28 9.47 9.55 8.13 8.90
Aug 7.80 5.83 6.20 6.20 7.54 6.84 6.84 8.72 8.23 8.52 7.83
Sep 6.48 5.44 5.11 5.11 6.16 6.12 6.45 7.18 6.81 6.35 6.58
Oct 4.34 3.73 3.71 3.71 4.92 4.46 4.51 5.12 5.38 5.15 4.92
Nov 3.66 3.04 2.97 2.97 3.31 3.61 3.69 4.43 5.45 3.91 4.22
Dec 2.83 3.12 3.41 3.41 3.43 3.98 4.16 4.75 4.69 4.74 4.46

Total 61.36 58.10 53.93 53.93 58.00 62.50 62.81 75.17 72.74 70.69 68.78
62.92 62.92 62.92 62.92 62.92 62.92 62.92 62.92 62.92 62.92
#N/A #N/A #N/A #N/A 66.98 66.98 66.98 66.98 66.98 66.98
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 16-20
(AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) AVG

Jan 12.1 9.9 9.7 9.7 10.0 11.6 11.6 14.8 14.8 15.1 13.6
Feb 11.5 10.8 8.3 8.3 9.2 11.4 10.4 12.5 13.2 13.2 12.1
Mar 11.5 10.7 9.8 9.8 10.5 11.1 11.8 14.6 15.4 14.6 13.5
Apr 10.7 11.8 9.0 9.0 13.2 10.8 11.2 14.4 14.5 13.4 12.9
May 15.3 21.9 13.8 13.8 13.0 15.5 15.8 23.6 16.8 22.8 18.9
Jun 27.1 26.9 22.7 22.7 20.7 26.9 27.8 29.0 25.4 24.9 26.8
Jul 23.1 21.3 26.5 26.5 23.5 27.8 25.4 29.1 29.3 24.9 27.3
Aug 23.9 17.9 19.0 19.0 23.1 21.0 21.0 26.8 25.2 26.2 24.0
Sep 19.9 16.7 15.7 15.7 18.9 18.8 19.8 22.0 20.9 19.5 20.2
Oct 13.3 11.4 11.4 11.4 15.1 13.7 13.8 15.7 16.5 15.8 15.1
Nov 11.2 9.3 9.1 9.1 10.1 11.1 11.3 13.6 16.7 12.0 12.9
Dec 8.7 9.6 10.5 10.5 10.5 12.2 12.8 14.6 14.4 14.5 13.7

Total 188.3 178.3 165.5 165.5 178.0 191.8 192.8 230.7 223.2 216.9 211.1

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

80.0

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

A
nn

ua
l P

ro
du

ct
io

n 
(M

G
)



Figure 4
Town of Ridgway's Average Monthly Potable and Raw Water Production

2016 - 2020

Average Monthly Potable Rate (Avg Annual Production = 211.1 AF)
Average Monthly Raw Water Rate (Total 2020 Production = 103.6 AF)

Avg Potable Demand: 0.19 MGD (0.35 cfs)
Avg Raw Water Demand: 0.09 MGD (0.17 cfs)
Avg Total Demand: 0.28 MGD (0.52 cfs)

AVERAGE MONTHLY POTABLE PRODUCTION SUMMARY
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

(MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD)
2016 0.12 0.13 0.12 0.12 0.16 0.29 0.29 0.22 0.20 0.14 0.12 0.13
2017 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.12 0.17 0.30 0.27 0.22 0.22 0.15 0.12 0.13
2018 0.16 0.15 0.15 0.16 0.25 0.32 0.31 0.28 0.24 0.17 0.15 0.15
2019 0.16 0.15 0.16 0.16 0.18 0.28 0.31 0.27 0.23 0.17 0.18 0.15
2020 0.16 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.24 0.27 0.26 0.27 0.21 0.17 0.13 0.15
Avg 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.20 0.29 0.29 0.25 0.22 0.16 0.14 0.14

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
(cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs)

2016 0.23 0.25 0.22 0.22 0.30 0.54 0.54 0.41 0.38 0.27 0.22 0.24
2017 0.23 0.22 0.23 0.23 0.31 0.56 0.50 0.41 0.40 0.27 0.23 0.25
2018 0.29 0.27 0.28 0.29 0.46 0.59 0.57 0.52 0.44 0.31 0.27 0.28
2019 0.29 0.29 0.30 0.29 0.33 0.51 0.57 0.49 0.42 0.32 0.34 0.28
2020 0.30 0.29 0.28 0.27 0.45 0.50 0.49 0.51 0.39 0.31 0.24 0.28
Avg 0.27 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.37 0.54 0.53 0.47 0.41 0.30 0.26 0.27

MONTHLY RAW WATER DEMAND SUMMARY
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

(MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD)
2020 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.10 0.16 0.22 0.22 0.16 0.14 0.10 0.00 0.00

0.14 0.14 0.14 0.24 0.36 0.51 0.50 0.42 0.36 0.26 0.14 0.14
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
(cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs)

2020 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.18 0.30 0.41 0.40 0.30 0.27 0.18 0.00 0.00

0.00

0.10

0.20

0.30

0.40

0.50

0.60

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

M
on

th
ly

 P
ro

du
ct

io
n 

(M
G

D
)



Water Supply Assessment  Page 12 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

2.2 DEMAND FORECAST (2021 TO 2050) 

LRE Water forecasted future demands from 2021 to 2050 under various growth scenarios, using 
the Town’s existing water demands as a baseline starting point. The total municipal water demand 
includes both the treated water demand and the raw water demand. For the treated municipal 
supply component, the annual baseline demand for existing conditions was calculated to be 68.8 
MG or 211.1 AF based on the 5-year average production from 2016 to 2020. The future municipal 
water demands for the treated supply component were then forecasted using three estimated 
population growth rates, which are described in more detail in Section 2.2.1 below. For the raw 
water supply component, the annual baseline demand for existing conditions was estimated to be 
33.7 MG or 103.6 AF, and future water demands were based on an overall increase of 25% by 
2050. The total combined demand from the treated and raw water systems were then modeled 
against the available physical and legal supply in order to assess the reliability of the Town’s 
municipal system. 

2.2.1 Potable Water Demand Projections 

In order to forecast the potential future population within the Town’s service area, LRE Water 
relied on information that was provided by Town Staff. In particular, a summary titled “Population 
Projections and Basis for Projecting Future Needs,” which is included in Appendix B. This 
information was extremely helpful and allowed LRE Water to model a range of potable water 
demands. In total, three growth rates were used to forecast future demands over a 30-year period 
from 2021 to 2050, as shown in Figure 5. 

Growth Rates 

• Low Growth: +23% from 2021 to 2050: The low growth scenario is based data from the 
State Demographer Office for the County, which assumes that the Town of Ridgway will 
experience the same annual growth rates as projected for Ouray County. Under this 
scenario, the population would increase from approximately 1,150 to 1,415 residents, and 
the potable water demand would increase from 68.8 MG or 211.1 AF to 84.3 MG or 258.7 
AF (+15.5 MG or +47.6 AF). 
 

• Medium Growth: +37% from 2021 to 2050: The medium growth scenario assumes that 
the Town will grow 54% faster than Ouray County, based on the last 20-years of growth. 
Under this scenario, the population would increase from approximately 1,150 to 1,575 
residents, and the potable water demand would increase from 68.8 MG or 211.1 AF to 
94.1 MG or 288.8 AF (+25.3 MG or +77.7 AF). 
 

• High Growth: +81% from 2021 to 2050: The high growth scenario assumes that the 
Town will grow at a rate similar to that which occurred from 2000-2020, which is 2% 
annually. Under this scenario, the population would increase from approximately 1,150 to 
2,080 residents, and the potable water demand would increase from 68.8 MG or 211.1 AF 
to 124.6 MG or 382.4 AF (+55.8 MG or +171.3 AF).  



Water Supply Assessment  Page 13 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

2.2.2 Raw Water Demand Projections 

Future raw water demands were forecasted based on Town Staff’s estimate that the overall 
system would increase 25% by 2050. The existing raw water demand was estimated to be 
approximately 33.7 MG or 103.6 AF, and with an increase of 25%, the 2050 demand would be 
equal to 42.1 MG or 129.3 AF (+8.4 MG or 25.7 AF). LRE Water applied a linear annual growth 
rate in order to forecast this increase over the 30-year study period from 2021-2050, as shown in 
Figure 5.  



Figure 5
Town of Ridgway's Projected Annual Demand Volume

2021 - 2050

Low Growth:  +23% from 2021 to 2050 Population
2021 Existing Demand = 68.8 MG or 211.1 AF (1,150 residents)
2050 Future Demand = 84.3 MG or 258.7 AF (1,415 residents)

Medium Growth:  +37% from 2021 to 2050
2021 Existing Demand = 68.8 MG or 211.1 AF (1,150 residents)
2050 Future Demand = 94.1 MG or 288.8 AF (1,575 residents)

High Growth:  +81% from 2021 to 2050
2021 Existing Demand = 68.8 MG or 211.1 AF (1,150 residents)
2050 Future Demand = 124.6 MG or 382.4 AF (2,080 residents)

Raw Water Demand:  +25% from 2021 to 2050
2021 Existing Demand = 33.7 MG or 103.6 AF
2050 Future Demand = 42.1 MG or 129.3 AF

PROJECTED 2050 AVERAGE MONTHLY POTABLE & RAW WATER PRODUCTION
Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

(MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD) (MGD)
High 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.25 0.36 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.40 0.29 0.25 0.26

Medium 0.20 0.19 0.19 0.19 0.27 0.40 0.39 0.35 0.30 0.22 0.19 0.20
Low 0.18 0.17 0.17 0.17 0.24 0.36 0.35 0.31 0.27 0.19 0.17 0.18
Raw 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.12 0.20 0.28 0.27 0.20 0.18 0.12 0.00 0.00

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec
(cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs)

High 0.40 0.40 0.40 0.39 0.56 0.82 0.81 0.71 0.62 0.45 0.39 0.40
Medium 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.42 0.62 0.61 0.54 0.47 0.34 0.30 0.31

Low 0.27 0.27 0.27 0.27 0.38 0.55 0.55 0.48 0.42 0.30 0.27 0.27
Raw 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.19 0.32 0.43 0.42 0.32 0.28 0.19 0.00 0.00

84.3

94.1

68.8

124.6

33.7

42.1

0.00

20.00

40.00

60.00

80.00

100.00

120.00

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050

P
ro

je
ct

ed
 A

n
n

u
al

 D
em

an
d

 (
M

G
)



Water Supply Assessment  Page 15 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

SECTION 3: WATER AVAILABILITY 
In Section 2.2, LRE Water projected a range of future municipal water demands based on the 
existing demand within the Town’s service area. The ability for the Town to reliably meet these 
future demands depends on the source of supply that is available to deliver to the treatment plant 
and raw water system. For a water source to be considered a dependable supply, it must be 
physically available at the diversion structure and the associated water right(s) must legally be 
able to divert that supply. Each of these aspects is equally important in determining the adequacy 
of a water supply system. For example, an abundant water source is unreliable if the water right 
that is decreed to the diverting structure is legally out-of-priority, because it is junior to the 
downstream calling water user. Likewise, a senior water right is unreliable if the amount of water 
at the diversion structure is insufficient to meet the required demand. LRE Water developed a 
water supply that modeled both physically and legally available to the Town. In addition, LRE 
Water also modeled the role that storage plays at Lake Otonowanda and to a lesser extent the 
Pre-sedimentation Ponds in balancing the timing of diversions to meet demands. The results of 
this analysis are described in the following sub-sections. 

3.1 PHYSICAL WATER SUPPLY 

As described in Section 2.0, the Town’s existing municipal water system primarily relies on two 
sources of supply:  Beaver Creek and Cottonwood Creek.  

Beaver Creek: The Beaver Creek drainage is within the Dallas Creek watershed, which is 
part of the larger Uncompahgre River watershed. The portion of the Beaver Creek watershed 
that is above the Ridgway Ditch is approximately 1.8 square miles, which represents less than 
2% of the total drainage area within the Dallas Creek watershed. While the Ridgway Ditch 
watershed is proportionally small, it does produce, on average, approximately 35.8 inches of 
precipitation annually, which is 9.6 inches more than the average annual precipitation within 
the entire Dallas Creek watershed. These watersheds are shown in Figure 6, and the water 
supply that has historically been diverted through the Ridgway Ditch is summarized in Section 
3.1.1. 

Cottonwood Creek: The Cottonwood Creek drainage is part of the larger Uncompahgre River 
watershed. The portion of the Cottonwood Creek watershed that is above the Happy Hollow 
Ditch is approximately 3.7 square miles. This drainage area represents almost 2.5% of the 
Uncompahgre River watershed above its confluence with Dallas Creek. The Happy Hollow 
Ditch watershed has an average annual precipitation of 22.7 inches, which is 13.1 inches less 
than the Ridgway Ditch watershed, and the average elevation within the Happy Hollow Ditch 
watershed is approximately 8,500 feet, which is 2,500 feet lower than the average elevation 
within the Ridgway Ditch watershed. At a lower elevation, the available snowpack within the 
Happy Hollow Ditch watershed melts sooner than the Ridgway Ditch watershed and overall, 
the Cottonwood Creek drainage produces less water. These watersheds are shown in Figure 
6, and the water supply that has historically been diverted through the Happy Hollow Ditch is 
summarized in Section 3.1.3. 



Figure 6
Watershed Summary Map

®0 5 102.5

Miles Date: 2022-01-24
File: 21630-1.0
Drawn: PCV
Approved: ANM

Dallas Creek Basin
Watershed Drainage Area: 98 sq. miles

Avg. Annual Precipitation: 26.20 inches

Uncompahgre River Basin
Watershed Drainage Area: 149 sq. miles

Avg. Annual Precipitation: 30.87 inches

Beaver
Creek

Dallas Creek

West Fork
Dallas Creek

East Fork
Dallas Creek

Uncompahgre
River

Coal
Creek

Town of 
Ridgway

Happy Hollow Watershed
Watershed Drainage Area: 3.69 sq. miles

Avg. Annual Precipitation: 22.65 inches 

Ridgway Ditch Watershed
Watershed Drainage Area: 1.82 sq. miles
Avg. Annual Precipitation: 35.75 inches

Cottonwood
Creek

Happy Hollow Ditch

Ridgway Ditch

Service Layer Credits: Copyright:© 2013 National Geographic Society, i-cubed



Water Supply Assessment  Page 17 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

3.1.1 Ridgway Ditch Diversion System 

The Ridgway Ditch diverts water from Beaver Creek at a point approximately 6 miles upstream of 
the confluence of the East Fork of Dallas Creek and Beaver Creek. At this location, there is a 
headgate structure that includes a trough, rock screen, swing gate, and side channel. Photos of 
this system and a review of the recently updated infrastructure can be found in the Town’s 2019 
Capital Assessment Report (“2019 CAR”). The 2019 CAR determined that the diversions from the 
headgate structure were limited to 10 cfs by the capacity of the trough. In addition, the 2019 CAR 
also estimated that the carrying capacity at some locations along the ditch was 2 to 5 cfs. As such, 
the limiting physical constraint for the system is the carrying capacity of the ditch. In addition to 
the supply that is diverted directly from Beaver Creek, the ditch system also collects water from 
several natural springs. Most notably the Austin Spring, which Town Staff estimates to flow at a 
constant rate of 0.13 cfs. 

Division of Water Resources (DWR) maintains a record of daily diversion from Beaver Creek 
through the Ridgway Ditch, using a measuring device has been installed below the headgate 
structure. The daily record is compiled from field observations of the amount of water that is 
flowing through the measuring device. These field observations are recorded on a weekly or 
monthly basis during the summer irrigation season and less frequently during the winter non-
irrigation season. The daily flow rate that is recorded between observations is assumed to be the 
last observed rate. This record keeping practice is common and widely accepted in evaluating 
available diversion supplies. For the Ridgway Ditch, the daily record dates back to 1950. There 
are, however, several data gaps between then and now. As such, LRE Water relied on the most 
recent continuous period from 1999 through 2021. This 23-year record shows that water is 
physically available to the Ridgway Ditch on a year-round basis with the majority of the supply 
being diverted during the irrigation season from May to October. In addition to DWR’s diversion 
record, LRE Water added the estimated 0.13 cfs year-round supply from the Austin Spring in its 
analysis of the overall Ridgway Ditch system. In total, this system delivered on average from 1999 
to 2021, approximately 1,700 AF annually. This 23-year period included a variety of wet, dry, and 
average year types. During the wetter years, the Ridgway Ditch system diverted more than 2,000 
AF, with approximately 2,500 AF being diverted in 2010. In contrast, during drier years the system 
delivered just over 1,000 AF, with approximately 1,025 AF being diverted in 2021. A summary of 
the annual Ridgway Ditch diversion supply from 1999 to 2021 is shown in Figure 7, and the 
average monthly diversions over the same 23-year period are summarized in Figure 8. 

In its analysis of the water supply that is available to the Town from the Ridgway Ditch system, 
LRE Water modeled operations based on (1) an estimate of the current delivery of supplies to 
Lake Otonowanda, and (2) maximizing the Town’s entitlement to divert up to the first 2 cfs during 
the summer irrigation season, and while the Town has the legal right to the full water supply that 
is available during the winter the non-irrigation season, the modeled water supply was limited to 
0.25 cfs based on Town Staff observations.  

 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 18 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

Ridgway Ditch, Modeled Physical Water Supply 

• Estimated Supply based on Current Operations: In July 2016, the Town began to 
monitor Lake Otonowanda inflows (“Lake O Flume”), outflows (“Lake O Outfall”), and 
the change in storage contents for internal purposes. Town Staff provided this data to 
LRE Water, and noted that the winter observations were less accurate due to snow 
and ice conditions. The Lake O Flume measures the water supply from the Ridgway 
Ditch system before it is delivered to either the Pre-sedimentation Ponds or stored in 
Lake Otonowanda. LRE Water compared this Lake O Flume data to the water supply 
diverted by the Ridgway Ditch from 2016 to 2019, and on average, the Town received 
approximately 37% of the diverted supply. In addition, LRE Water assumed that of the 
estimated water supply from the Austin Spring the Town would receive approximately 
95% of that supply at the Lake O Flume. These percentages were then used to model 
the Town’s available water supply from the Ridgway Ditch system for the 23-year 
period record. By using these percentages on a yearly basis, the modeled supply 
shows more water is being delivered to Town in the winter non-irrigation season then 
what has historically been observed by Town Staff. For purposes of this assessment, 
though, it was determined to be the best available estimate of current operations. 

Under Current Operations, the modeled data showed that of the average total annual 
supply diverted by the Ridgway Ditch system from 1999 to 2021 (1,700 AF), the Town 
would receive approximately 675 AF. Then, in drier years, when the ditch system 
diverted just over 1,000 AF, the Town would receive less than 450 AF of that supply, 
with a minimum  of approximately 435 AF in 2021. The modeled annual water supply 
and average monthly delivery rates for Current Operations are summarized in Figure 
7 and Figure 8, respectively.  

• Estimated Supply based on Full Entitlement: The Town owns the most senior water 
right that is decreed to divert from the Ridgway Ditch. This water right, which is 
described in more detail in Section 3.2.1, can divert up to 2 cfs on a year-round basis. 
There are two other water rights decreed to the ditch. The next water right in the 
hierarchy of priorities is owned by multiple parties including the Town. This water right 
is decreed to divert up to 25 cfs for irrigation use only, and as such, it is only available 
during the months of April through October. The last water right in the hierarchy is 
owned by the Town and is decreed to divert up to 5 cfs on a year-round basis for 
municipal uses. Based on this hierarchy, LRE Water modeled the potential water 
availability to the Town on a seasonal basis. During the summer irrigation season (April 
– October), the Town would receive the entire supply up to the first 2 cfs diverted by 
the Ridgway Ditch system, and during the winter non-irrigation season (November – 
March), the Town would receive the entire supply up to 0.25 cfs. The DWR diversion 
records show that in the winter the available physical supply on average, is greater 
than 1.5 cfs. However, based on Town Staff’s observation at the Lake O Flume, a 
fraction of that supply available at the headgate is currently being delivered to Town. 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 19 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

For purposes of this assessment, LRE Water therefore limited the winter availability to 
0.25 cfs. In addition, while the Town has ownership in the irrigation water right that 
diverts up to 25 cfs after the Town’s senior 2 cfs water right its proportional split of that 
supply was not factored into the modeled water availability for three reasons: (1) the 
priority of this second right is more likely to be legally limited, (2) there were no supply 
gaps or shortages for the scenarios that evaluated future demands against the 
modeled Full Entitlement water supply, and (3) there are legal considerations, more 
fully described in Section 3.2.1, with how that supply is split.  

By operating under Full Entitlement, the modeled data showed that of the average 
total annual supply diverted by the Ridgway Ditch system from 1999 to 2021 (1,700 
AF), the Town would be entitled to approximately 800 AF, which is about 125 AF more 
than what the Town received under modeled Current Operations (800 AF – 675 AF = 
125 AF). Then, in drier years, when the ditch system diverted just over 1,000 AF, the 
Town would be entitled to more than 600 AF, with a delivered supply of 690 AF in 2021 
and a minimum of approximately 640 AF in 2020. In comparison to Current Operations, 
under Full Entitlement the dry-year annual supply to the Town would be approximately 
200 AF more (2020: 640 AF – 445 AF = 195 AF & 2021: 690 AF – 435 AF = 255 AF). 
The modeled annual water supply and average monthly delivery rates for operating 
under Full Entitlement are summarized in Figure 7 and Figure 8, respectively. 

3.1.2 Lake Otonowanda 

The Ridgway Ditch delivers water approximately 5 miles from Beaver Creek to Lake Otonowanda. 
This storage is used to supplement the Town’s municipal water system when supplies cannot be 
directly delivered from Ridgway Ditch and/or Happy Hollow Ditch. The reservoir exists in a natural 
depression, and based on information that was provided to LRE Water by Town Staff the lake has 
a total active storage capacity of approximately 756 AF and a maximum surface area of 59 acres. 
From Lake Otonowanda, storage supplies are delivered through a pipeline to the Pre-
sedimentation Ponds, which are located approximately 2 miles away. This delivery pipeline has 
an estimated capacity of 1.7 cfs based on the 2019 CAR.   

LRE Water incorporated these physical infrastructure constraints into its storage analysis, which 
modeled the supply and demand operations for Lake Otonowanda. In general, a water balance 
model accounts for the inflows to the reservoir, outflows from the reservoir, and the change in 
storage contents. For Lake Otonowanda, the inflow supply was equal to the amount of water 
delivered from the Ridgway Ditch system that was not needed to directly meet municipal 
demands, and the outflow supply was equal to municipal demands that could not be directly met 
from the Ridgway Ditch system and/or Happy Hollow Ditch. In addition to the outflow supplies that 
meet municipal demands, LRE Water also included evaporation and system losses. The monthly 
evaporation rate was derived by distributing the annual gross evaporation rate, as delineated in 
the NOAA Technical Report NWS 33 (TR33), by monthly percentages outlined in DWR guidelines 
for reservoirs above 6,500 feet in elevation, and system losses were estimated to be 2.5% per 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 20 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

month based on discussion with Town Staff. As described in more detail in Section 3.4, LRE 
Water also evaluated scenarios wherein the system losses were set to 0% per month. While it 
would be highly unlikely for the Town to eliminate all system losses, LRE Water modeled no loss 
scenarios in order to understand the impact that losses have on the reliability of the Town’s overall 
system. LRE Water modeled these Lake Otonowanda operations from 1999 to 2021 based on 
the 23-year water availability record for the Ridgway Ditch system. 

3.1.3 Happy Hollow Ditch System 

The Happy Hollow Ditch diverts water from Cottonwood Creek at a point approximately 2 miles 
upstream of its confluence with the Uncompahgre River. According to Town Staff, diversions from 
Cottonwood Creek are preferred over supplies delivered from either the Ridgway Ditch system or 
Lake Otonowanda, because the water quality is better. Once diverted, the Happy Hollow Ditch 
supply is then delivered through a pipeline to the Town’s Pre-sedimentation Ponds for subsequent 
treatment at the Town’s water plant or for direct use through the raw water system. The pipeline 
has an estimated capacity of 2.25 cfs.  

The daily record is compiled from field observations of the amount of water that is flowing through 
the measuring device. These field observations are recorded on a weekly or monthly basis during 
the summer irrigation season and less frequently during the winter non-irrigation season. The 
daily flow rate that is recorded between observations is assumed to be the last observed rate. 
This record keeping practice is common and widely accepted in evaluating available diversion 
supplies. For the Ridgway Ditch, the daily record dates back to 1950. 

DWR maintains a record of daily diversion from Cottonwood Creek through the Happy Hollow 
Ditch, using a measuring device has been installed below the headgate structure. Similar to the 
Ridgway Ditch, the daily record for the Happy Hollow Ditch is compiled from field observations at 
the measuring device. For the Happy Hollow Ditch, there is a continuous daily record from May 
2004 to present. In order to evaluate the same 23-year period of record from 1999 to 2021 that 
was used to model the Ridgway Ditch system and storage operations at Lake Otonowanda, LRE 
Water used hydrology from the known period of record (2004-2021) to estimate the available 
water supply prior to May 2004. The known hydrology for both the Ridgway Ditch and Happy 
Hollow Ditch was categorized by year type (wet, dry, or average), and based on the Ridgway 
Ditch year types from 1999 to 2004, a like year type from the Happy Hollow Ditch from 2004 to 
2021 was applied.  

Happy Hollow Ditch, Modeled Physical Water Supply 

• Estimated Supply based on Current Operations: LRE Water adjusted the diversion 
record for the Happy Hollow Ditch to account for the Tidwell Ditch. This ditch diverts 
its water supply from the same source as the Town’s Happy Hollow Ditch. Tidwell Ditch 
has an irrigation water right that is decreed for 0.375 cfs, and this right is senior to the 
Town’s Happy Hollow Ditch water right. While there may be times when the Tidwell 
Ditch is not diverting during the irrigation season, for example when the hay crop is 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 21 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

being processed, for the purposes of this assessment, LRE Water reduced the 
available water supply that was modeled for the Happy Hollow Ditch system from 1999 
to 2021 by 0.375 cfs during the entire irrigation season (April – October).  

In total, the average annual supply of water diverted by this system between 1999 and 
2021 was approximately 450 AF. This 23-year period included a variety of wet, dry, 
and average year types. During the wetter years, the Happy Hollow Ditch diverted 
more than 700 AF, with approximately 880 AF being diverted in 2006.  In contrast, 
during drier years the system diverted less than 300 AF, with approximately 260 AF 
being diverted in 2013. Of this water supply, the amount available for the Town’s use 
at its municipal system does not include the portion that was delivered through the 
Tidwell Ditch under its more senior water right during the irrigation season. This 
reduction resulted in an average annual water supply from 1999 to 2021 of 
approximately 330 AF, and a dry-year water supply of approximately 175 AF in 2014. 
On a seasonal basis, the Town’s portion of the daily supply would be on average, 
approximately 0.75 cfs during the winter non-irrigation season and 0.25 cfs during the 
summer irrigation season. In dry-years, these daily rates drop to approximately 0.6 cfs 
in the winter and 0.05 cfs over the summer. A summary of the annual Happy Hollow 
Ditch water supply from 1999 to 2021 is shown in Figure 9, and the average monthly 
diversions over the same 23-year period are summarized in Figure 10. 

3.1.4 Pre-sedimentation Ponds 

The Pre-sedimentation Ponds consist of three small ponds that are used to reduce the level of 
turbidity and sediment that are carried in the water supply from the Happy Hollow Ditch, the 
Ridgway Ditch system, and/or Lake Otonowanda. The settled supply is then delivered to either 
the Town’s water treatment plant for potable municipal use or it is used directly in the raw water 
system for irrigation. The Pre-sedimentation Ponds are used as an operational storage reservoir. 
The estimated total combined capacity of the three ponds is 20.7 AF or 5.65 MG with a maximum 
estimated surface area of 2.21 acres. No formal historical records are available for this structure. 
As it relates to LRE Water’s analysis, the supply that is delivered to the Pre-Sedimentation Ponds 
from Happy Hollow Ditch, the Ridgway Ditch system, and/or Lake Otonowanda to meet municipal 
demands is the last available supply used.  

  



Figure 7
Total Annual Ridgway Ditch Diversion Summary, Beaver Creek Water Supply

Historical Hydrology:  1999 to 2021

Total Annual Ridgway Ditch Diversion

Full Entitlement (Apr-Oct) = Town's supply is equal to the minimum of Ridgway Ditch diversions and the Town's ownership of the senior 2 cfs water right.
Full Entitlement (Nov-Mar) = Town's supply is equal to the minimum of Ridgway Ditch diversions and estimated winter Lake O inflow of 0.25 cfs.

Current Operations = Town's supply is equal to approximately 37% of Ridgway Ditch diversions & 95% of the estimated Austin Spring supply (0.13 cfs).

31 30 31 31 28 31 30 31 30 31 31 30
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 1 1

Historic Hydrology - Ridgway Ditch Current Full

Water Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Total Operations Entitlement
Year (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF)
1999 212.2 72.7 79.9 79.9 72.2 97.6 97.0 85.2 316.9 247.6 181.5 92.9 1,635.6 659.8 779.3
2000 109.0 34.8 36.9 36.9 34.3 36.9 35.7 170.5 221.1 287.2 74.3 109.6 1,187.1 493.8 682.5
2001 139.6 141.6 146.3 146.3 132.2 146.3 141.6 146.8 372.4 320.6 175.8 202.0 2,211.6 872.9 903.9
2002 132.1 98.0 115.6 115.6 104.4 115.6 86.6 116.3 130.4 126.8 82.9 58.4 1,282.8 529.2 734.2
2003 91.2 72.6 74.1 69.5 62.8 69.5 69.6 78.7 232.2 176.9 169.3 133.0 1,299.3 535.3 743.9
2004 86.6 67.2 69.5 69.5 64.7 73.2 123.2 119.0 160.3 293.2 214.6 236.8 1,577.8 638.4 846.0
2005 190.3 156.5 161.7 161.7 134.2 69.5 115.6 191.1 216.7 251.2 242.9 214.3 2,105.7 833.7 884.1
2006 216.2 188.9 121.1 121.1 109.4 121.1 124.4 221.5 263.3 212.3 181.8 138.4 2,019.5 801.8 891.6
2007 127.2 99.7 107.6 107.6 97.2 84.2 67.2 303.8 237.8 210.2 219.1 219.2 1,881.0 750.5 847.9
2008 151.4 142.8 149.4 149.4 139.5 149.4 34.8 168.3 252.5 311.3 104.2 167.1 1,920.1 765.0 680.3
2009 161.3 141.1 161.7 161.7 146.1 124.0 97.0 159.7 267.7 283.1 133.9 91.4 1,928.8 768.2 822.2

Max Year 2010 122.9 210.1 217.1 217.1 196.0 217.1 210.1 232.6 235.9 215.8 210.5 179.8 2,464.9 966.6 909.9

2011 120.9 90.9 131.0 131.0 118.3 131.0 128.7 168.0 190.4 216.7 279.4 126.2 1,832.4 732.6 882.9
2012 113.3 139.8 100.2 100.2 93.5 119.1 134.8 153.7 161.3 163.2 155.7 101.4 1,536.3 623.0 861.9
2013 165.2 67.2 69.5 69.5 62.8 69.5 67.2 123.3 235.0 140.7 114.3 100.7 1,284.8 530.0 790.8
2014 103.1 111.9 115.6 115.6 104.4 115.6 108.4 68.6 108.7 187.1 199.1 145.6 1,483.7 603.6 782.7
2015 148.0 132.7 137.1 137.1 123.8 137.1 115.8 122.4 109.1 152.2 134.4 116.8 1,566.7 634.3 855.6
2016 110.7 178.5 184.5 184.5 172.3 184.5 102.2 143.2 252.3 286.9 226.9 172.3 2,198.8 868.1 849.9
2017 180.7 165.1 165.4 165.4 149.4 106.4 96.8 158.3 265.7 296.6 286.5 178.4 2,214.7 874.0 888.4
2018 163.1 128.8 140.0 131.0 118.3 131.0 126.7 112.2 152.1 112.0 64.6 65.8 1,445.7 589.5 755.0
2019 76.8 37.5 38.7 38.7 35.0 38.7 39.3 178.0 314.3 301.3 179.1 109.7 1,387.2 567.9 731.4
2020 91.0 67.2 69.5 69.5 64.7 69.5 52.9 164.9 170.5 102.8 68.0 59.1 1,049.6 443.0 637.7

Min Year 2021 47.4 25.6 38.7 38.7 35.0 38.7 39.0 112.1 253.8 160.2 120.7 116.0 1,026.0 434.2 690.4
AVG 133.1 111.8 114.4 113.8 103.1 106.3 96.3 152.1 222.6 219.8 166.1 136.3 1,675.7 674.6 802.3

* The total monthly diversion supply includes a daily estimate of 0.13 cfs from the Austin Spring.

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

T
ot

al
 A

nn
ua

l W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y 
(A

F
)



Figure 8
Average Monthly Ridgway Ditch Diversion Summary, Beaver Creek Water Supply

Historical Hydrology:  1999 to 2021

Average Monthly Ridgway Ditch Diversion

Full Entitlement, Average Monthly Supply over the Study Period (1999-2021)
Full Entitlement, Average Monthly Supply in a Dry-Year (2021)

Current Operations, Average Monthly Supply over the Study Period (1999-2021)
Current Operations, Average Monthly Supply in a Dry-Year (2021)

31 30 31 31 28 31 30 31 30 31 31 30
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Historic Hydrology - Ridgway Ditch
Water Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep
Year (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs)
1999 3.45 1.22 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.59 1.63 1.38 5.33 4.03 2.95 1.56
2000 1.77 0.58 0.60 0.60 0.62 0.60 0.60 2.77 3.72 4.67 1.21 1.84
2001 2.27 2.38 2.38 2.38 2.38 2.38 2.38 2.39 6.26 5.21 2.86 3.40
2002 2.15 1.65 1.88 1.88 1.88 1.88 1.46 1.89 2.19 2.06 1.35 0.98
2003 1.48 1.22 1.21 1.13 1.13 1.13 1.17 1.28 3.90 2.88 2.75 2.24
2004 1.41 1.13 1.13 1.13 1.17 1.19 2.07 1.94 2.69 4.77 3.49 3.98
2005 3.09 2.63 2.63 2.63 2.42 1.13 1.94 3.11 3.64 4.08 3.95 3.60
2006 3.52 3.17 1.97 1.97 1.97 1.97 2.09 3.60 4.42 3.45 2.96 2.33

2007 2.07 1.68 1.75 1.75 1.75 1.37 1.13 4.94 4.00 3.42 3.56 3.68
2008 2.46 2.40 2.43 2.43 2.51 2.43 0.59 2.74 4.24 5.06 1.69 2.81
2009 2.62 2.37 2.63 2.63 2.63 2.02 1.63 2.60 4.50 4.60 2.18 1.54
2010 2.00 3.53 3.53 3.53 3.53 3.53 3.53 3.78 3.97 3.51 3.42 3.02
2011 1.97 1.53 2.13 2.13 2.13 2.13 2.16 2.73 3.20 3.52 4.54 2.12
2012 1.84 2.35 1.63 1.63 1.68 1.94 2.27 2.50 2.71 2.65 2.53 1.70
2013 2.69 1.13 1.13 1.13 1.13 1.13 1.13 2.00 3.95 2.29 1.86 1.69
2014 1.68 1.88 1.88 1.88 1.88 1.88 1.82 1.12 1.83 3.04 3.24 2.45
2015 2.41 2.23 2.23 2.23 2.23 2.23 1.95 1.99 1.83 2.47 2.19 1.96
2016 1.80 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.10 3.00 1.72 2.33 4.24 4.67 3.69 2.90
2017 2.94 2.78 2.69 2.69 2.69 1.73 1.63 2.57 4.46 4.82 4.66 3.00
2018 2.65 2.16 2.28 2.13 2.13 2.13 2.13 1.83 2.56 1.82 1.05 1.11
2019 1.25 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.66 2.89 5.28 4.90 2.91 1.84
2020 1.48 1.13 1.13 1.13 1.17 1.13 0.89 2.68 2.87 1.67 1.11 0.99
2021 0.77 0.43 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.65 1.82 4.27 2.60 1.96 1.95
AVG 2.16 1.88 1.86 1.85 1.86 1.73 1.62 2.47 3.74 3.57 2.70 2.29

CURRENT OPERATION:
AVG 0.88 0.77 0.76 0.76 0.76 0.72 0.67 0.99 1.46 1.40 1.07 0.92

Min Yr 0.36 0.23 0.31 0.31 0.31 0.31 0.32 0.75 1.65 1.04 0.80 0.80
Max Yr 0.81 1.38 1.38 1.38 1.38 1.38 1.38 1.48 1.54 1.37 1.34 1.19

FULL ENTITLEMENT:
AVG 1.68 0.24 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 1.38 1.69 1.95 1.94 1.70 1.65

Min Yr 0.64 0.15 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.52 1.53 2.00 1.98 1.82 1.75
Max Yr 1.77 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

4.00

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep

A
ve

ra
ge

 M
on

th
ly

 W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y 
(c

fs
)



Figure 9
Total Annual Happy Hollow Ditch Diversion Summary, Cottonwood Creek Water Supply

Historical Hydrology:  1999 to 2021

Total Annual Happy Hollow Ditch Diversion

Current Operations (Apr-Oct) = Town's supply is equal to the Happy Hollow Ditch diversions minus 0.375 cfs for the Tidwell Ditch.
Current Operations (Nov-Mar) = Town's supply is equal to the Happy Hollow Ditch diversions.

31 30 31 31 28 31 30 31 30 31 31 30
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 1

Historic Hydrology - Happy Hollow Ditch Current

Water Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Total Operation
Year (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF)
1999 52.5 66.1 65.2 65.2 58.9 65.2 59.3 68.8 38.4 23.0 29.2 36.9 628.6 476.4
2000 36.5 26.0 30.3 30.7 28.8 33.6 32.9 28.9 22.0 20.0 17.4 21.2 328.4 181.3
2001 33.9 30.1 34.4 34.4 31.1 34.4 36.4 43.0 25.3 0.0 2.7 28.1 334.0 227.4
2002 31.2 35.1 36.3 36.3 32.8 35.4 26.2 13.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.0 258.2 193.5
2003 36.9 30.9 30.3 26.3 15.7 30.7 24.4 43.0 14.9 0.0 0.0 14.7 268.0 174.2
2004 32.3 36.9 36.8 36.3 38.1 40.2 37.9 27.6 72.4 60.4 70.7 58.0 547.5 399.1
2005 48.3 38.1 39.4 39.4 37.9 57.8 53.4 57.3 58.7 58.3 67.8 68.4 624.7 465.5

Max Year 2006 86.9 93.2 92.8 92.8 83.9 92.8 87.4 62.4 40.3 45.0 55.5 47.4 880.4 721.3
2007 53.1 56.3 57.8 57.8 52.2 46.5 38.1 40.2 45.9 35.1 35.8 34.7 553.4 394.2
2008 38.0 50.3 34.4 34.4 32.2 34.4 36.5 38.6 34.8 42.9 31.3 31.1 439.0 280.1
2009 30.0 35.5 38.1 38.1 34.4 42.3 43.4 40.2 47.3 40.8 32.9 20.4 443.5 287.6
2010 52.5 66.1 65.2 65.2 58.9 65.2 59.3 68.8 38.4 23.0 29.2 36.9 628.6 476.4

2011 36.5 26.0 30.3 30.7 27.8 33.5 33.0 29.1 22.1 20.1 17.5 20.9 327.5 180.4
2012 33.8 30.0 34.4 34.4 32.2 34.4 36.4 43.0 25.3 0.0 2.7 28.1 334.9 228.2

Min Year 2013 31.2 35.1 36.3 36.3 32.8 35.4 26.2 13.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.0 258.2 193.5
2014 36.9 30.9 30.3 26.3 15.7 30.7 24.4 43.0 14.9 0.0 0.0 14.7 268.0 174.2
2015 32.3 36.9 36.8 36.3 36.7 40.4 38.8 9.2 2.4 2.4 0.0 0.0 272.1 212.7
2016 5.9 33.1 30.7 30.7 28.8 12.9 26.9 15.0 0.0 0.0 4.5 71.9 260.4 197.4
2017 79.8 79.1 77.1 73.8 66.6 65.8 69.0 40.1 42.1 38.5 48.5 45.2 725.7 566.6
2018 69.1 73.2 82.9 84.2 76.1 71.5 53.0 28.2 27.0 39.9 31.1 18.3 654.4 502.0
2019 41.0 52.8 55.3 55.3 50.0 55.3 55.0 34.7 24.5 32.5 59.6 26.0 542.2 387.0
2020 75.2 55.8 59.6 59.6 55.8 59.6 57.7 34.7 14.1 16.7 13.1 18.5 520.5 392.5
2021 38.1 23.9 41.2 41.2 37.2 38.7 35.4 27.5 17.2 21.1 24.5 28.1 374.2 228.4
AVG 44.0 45.3 46.8 46.3 41.9 45.9 43.1 36.9 27.3 22.6 25.0 30.2 455.3 327.8

Highighted cells represent estimated diversion data used to extent the available studry period for Happy Hollow Ditch.

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

800.0

900.0

1,000.0
19

99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

T
ot

al
 A

nn
ua

l W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y 
(A

F
)



Figure 10
Average Monthly Happy Hollow Ditch Diversion Summary, Cottonwood Creek Water Supply

Historical Hydrology:  1999 to 2021

Average Monthly Happy Hollow Ditch Diversion

Current Operations, Average Monthly Supply over the Study Period (1999-2021)
Current Operations, Average Monthly Supply in a Dry-Year (2021)

31 30 31 31 28 31 30 31 30 31 31 30
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Historic Hydrology - Happy Hollow Ditch
Water Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep
Year (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs)
1999 0.85 1.11 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.00 1.12 0.65 0.37 0.47 0.62
2000 0.59 0.44 0.49 0.50 0.52 0.55 0.55 0.47 0.37 0.33 0.28 0.36
2001 0.55 0.51 0.56 0.56 0.56 0.56 0.61 0.70 0.42 0.00 0.04 0.47
2002 0.51 0.59 0.59 0.59 0.59 0.58 0.44 0.21 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.20
2003 0.60 0.52 0.49 0.43 0.28 0.50 0.41 0.70 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.25
2004 0.52 0.62 0.60 0.59 0.69 0.65 0.64 0.45 1.22 0.98 1.15 0.97
2005 0.79 0.64 0.64 0.64 0.68 0.94 0.90 0.93 0.99 0.95 1.10 1.15
2006 1.41 1.57 1.51 1.51 1.51 1.51 1.47 1.01 0.68 0.73 0.90 0.80
2007 0.86 0.95 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.76 0.64 0.65 0.77 0.57 0.58 0.58
2008 0.62 0.84 0.56 0.56 0.58 0.56 0.61 0.63 0.58 0.70 0.51 0.52
2009 0.49 0.60 0.62 0.62 0.62 0.69 0.73 0.65 0.80 0.66 0.53 0.34

2010 0.85 1.11 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.06 1.00 1.12 0.65 0.37 0.47 0.62
2011 0.59 0.44 0.49 0.50 0.50 0.54 0.56 0.47 0.37 0.33 0.28 0.35
2012 0.55 0.50 0.56 0.56 0.58 0.56 0.61 0.70 0.42 0.00 0.04 0.47
2013 0.51 0.59 0.59 0.59 0.59 0.58 0.44 0.21 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.20
2014 0.60 0.52 0.49 0.43 0.28 0.50 0.41 0.70 0.25 0.00 0.00 0.25
2015 0.52 0.62 0.60 0.59 0.66 0.66 0.65 0.15 0.04 0.04 0.00 0.00
2016 0.10 0.56 0.50 0.50 0.52 0.21 0.45 0.24 0.00 0.00 0.07 1.21
2017 1.30 1.33 1.25 1.20 1.20 1.07 1.16 0.65 0.71 0.63 0.79 0.76
2018 1.12 1.23 1.35 1.37 1.37 1.16 0.89 0.46 0.45 0.65 0.51 0.31
2019 0.67 0.89 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.92 0.56 0.41 0.53 0.97 0.44
2020 1.22 0.94 0.97 0.97 1.00 0.97 0.97 0.56 0.24 0.27 0.21 0.31
2021 0.62 0.40 0.67 0.67 0.67 0.63 0.60 0.45 0.29 0.34 0.40 0.47
AVG 0.72 0.76 0.76 0.75 0.76 0.75 0.72 0.60 0.46 0.37 0.41 0.51

Highighted cells represent estimated diversion data used to extent the available studry period for Happy Hollow Ditch.

CURRENT OPERATION HAPPY HOLLOW DITCH:
AVG 0.35 0.76 0.76 0.75 0.76 0.75 0.35 0.27 0.19 0.13 0.18 0.20

Min Yr 0.13 0.59 0.59 0.59 0.59 0.58 0.07 0.03 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.06
Max Yr 1.04 1.57 1.51 1.51 1.51 1.51 1.09 0.64 0.30 0.36 0.53 0.42

0.00

0.25

0.50

0.75

1.00

1.25

1.50

1.75

2.00

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep

A
ve

ra
ge

 M
on

th
ly

 W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y 
(c

fs
)



Water Supply Assessment  Page 26 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

3.2 LEGAL WATER SUPPLY 

The Town’s municipal water system relies on the ability to divert water from Beaver Creek at the 
Ridgway Ditch and Cottonwood Creek at the Happy Hollow Ditch. In Section 3.1, LRE Water 
examined the physical water supply that is available to these sources. The physical supply, 
however, can only be diverted by the Town, if the Town’s decreed water rights are in-priority. The 
legal availability is therefore dependent on the seniority of the Town’s water rights compared to 
the rights of other downstream, vested water right users. 

Within the State of Colorado, water rights are operated based on the doctrine of prior appropriation 
– often referred to as “first in time, first in right.”  Under this system, the State Engineer assigns 
an administrative priority to each water right.  This assigned number is unique and is based on an 
analysis related to the date that the water right was appropriated (intent to divert and use water) 
and the date that the water right was adjudicated (confirmed by the Water Court).  The priority 
hierarchy is largely important in water short scenarios, wherein a downstream, senior water right 
can place an administrative call that requires all upstream, junior water rights to curtail or cease 
diverting.  

The legal characteristics of the water rights that are part of the Town’s portfolio are summarized 
in Table 1 and the geographic location is shown in Figure 11. Details related to these water rights 
are provided in the following sub-sections, along with an analysis of the portfolio’s ability to provide 
a reliable legal water supply.  

3.2.1 Ridgway Ditch 

There are three water rights decreed to the Ridgway Ditch. 

Ridgway Ditch, Water Right Hierarchy 

• 11840.00000:    2.0 cfs, Sibert Ditch Water Right 
• 14762.00000:  25.0 cfs, Original Irrigation Water Right (Ridgway Water & Power Co.) 
• 19904.14762:    5.0 cfs, Domestic Water Right (A. E. Walther) 

The Town owns water rights in the Ridgway Ditch, which divert from Beaver Creek. In total, there 
are three absolute water rights decreed to this structure for a total of 32.0 cfs. The original water 
right was appropriated on June 1, 1890, by the Ridgway Water & Power Company for irrigation 
at a rate of 25.0 cfs. The right was subsequently adjudicated in Civil Action No. 939 on May 15, 
1897, and was assigned Priority No. 131 for that adjudication. While this water right was the first 
to be decreed at the Ridgway Ditch structure, it is not the most senior water right on the ditch. In 
Civil Action 1496, which was adjudicated on December 16, 1912, the Town transferred its 2.0 cfs 
ownership in the Sibert Ditch to the Ridgway Ditch structure. This water right was originally 
adjudicated on May 15, 1897, in Civil Action 939 for domestic uses with an appropriation date of 
June 1, 1882, and was assigned Priority No. 72 for that adjudication. Finally, in Civil Action 1286, 
which was adjudicated on August 2, 1905, A. E. Walther decreed 5.0 cfs for domestic uses with 
an appropriation date of June 1, 1890. While this appropriation date is the same as that claimed 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 27 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

by the Ridgway Water & Power Company in 1897, it has a more junior status in the State’s 
administrative hierarchy because the claim was not filed during the first adjudication. Although 
domestic water rights were not allowed during the first adjudication, A.E. Walther did not file the 
appropriation claim for the 1905 adjudication to receive the senior status of filling in the first 
adjudication. As a result, it is assigned a “larger” (more junior) administrative number. 

Of these water rights, the Town owns the 2.0 cfs senior priority and can divert up to 5.0 cfs under 
the domestic right as part of the overall Ridgway Water System. In addition, on July 10, 1912, the 
Town was deeded 3.0 cfs of the 25.0 cfs decreed under the original priority. It appears that the 
Town’s 3.0 cfs has priority over the remaining 22.0 cfs based on the documents reviewed by LRE 
Water. This type of preference would be managed outside of DWR jurisdiction, and how that 
preference would be managed is a legal consideration that needs further review. 

3.2.2 The Town’s Ridgway Water System 

The Town’s Ridgway Water System consists of water rights decreed to the Ridgway Ditch, Happy 
Hollow Ditch, Lake Otonowanda, the Pre-sedimentation Ponds. Collectively the water rights that 
were decreed to these structures were part of an overall municipal system. 

Town’s Ridgway Water System, Water Right Hierarchy 

• 15401.00000:  2.0 cfs, Happy Hollow Ditch 
• 19904.14762:  5.0 cfs, Ridgway Ditch 
• 20269.14762:  746.1 AF, Lake Otonowanda 
• 20269.14762:  14.9 AF, Pre-sedimentation Ponds 

The combined total of diversions under the Town’s 2.0 cfs at Happy Hollow Ditch and the Town’s 5.0 cfs at 
the Ridgway Ditch are limited to 5.0 cfs. 

At the time that A.E. Walther adjudicated 5.0 cfs under the Ridgway Ditch in Civil Action 1286, he 
also adjudicated the Happy Hollow Ditch, Lake Otonowanda (decreed as Otonowanda Reservoir), 
and the Pre-sedimentation Ponds (decreed as Ridgway Reservoir). These water rights in addition 
to the supporting infrastructure the Happy Hollow Pipeline, the Happy Hollow Branch Pipeline, 
the Otonowanda Pipeline (pipeline from Lake Otonowanda to Pre-Sedimentation Ponds), and the 
Ridgway Pipeline (pipeline from Pre-sedimentation Ponds to the Town’s water treatment plant) 
form what is collectively known as the Ridgway Water System. 

The Ridgway Ditch delivers water diverted from Beaver Creek to Lake Otonowanda, which has 
an absolute water right for the storage of 746.1 AF and a decreed appropriation date of June 1, 
1890. The delivered and/or stored water supply is then taken through the Otonowanda Pipeline 
to the Pre-sedimentation Ponds, which has an absolute water right for the storage of 14.9 AF and 
a decreed appropriation date of June 1, 1890. The Pre-sedimentation Ponds, as previously 
described, are a series of three settling ponds that provide operational storage ahead of delivering 
water through the Ridgway Pipeline to the Town’s treatment plant. The Otonowanda Pipeline and 
Ridgway Pipeline were included in Civil Action 1286. The purpose of these pipelines, however, 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 28 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

was to convey water supplies between diverting and storage structures in the Ridgway Water 
System. As such, water rights were not decreed to these pipelines. 

Happy Hollow Ditch provides the Town with an additional source of supply from Cottonwood 
Creek. This ditch, along with its associated Happy Hollow Pipeline and Happy Hollow Branch 
Pipeline was decreed with an absolute water right to collective divert up to 2.0 cfs for domestic 
purposes. This water right was decreed with an appropriation date of March 1, 1892. 

3.2.3 Other Water Rights 

In addition to the water rights that the Town controls in Ridgway Ditch and the Ridgway Water 
System, the Town also owns three surface water rights for springs within the upper Beaver Creek 
basin, two surface water rights for pump stations, and an irrigation right associated with the Solar 
Ranch subdivision. 

Beaver Creek Springs, Water Right Hierarchy 

• 44559.14762:  0.02 cfs, Ridgway Spring No. 2 
• 44559.14762:  0.03 cfs, Ridgway Spring No. 3 
• 44559.14762:  0.13 cfs, Austin Spring 

On August 22, 1972, the Town made claim to three absolute water rights located in the upper 
Beaver Creek basin near Ridgway Ditch: Ridgway Springs No. 2, Ridgway Spring No. 3, and the 
Austin Spring. These springs were subsequently adjudicated in Case No. W-1305 for domestic 
use at rates ranging from 0.02 cfs (10 gpm) to 0.13 cfs (60 gpm). Moreover, these springs were 
adjudicated with appropriation dates of June 1, 1890. However, similar to the water rights decreed 
to the Ridgway Water System, the Town’s claim came after the first opportunity to file. Therefore, 
the water rights associated with these springs were assigned administrative numbers that were 
based on the later adjudication date and not the appropriation date. In terms of assessing the 
Town’s water supply, the diversion rates decreed to these rights are relatively modest. That said, 
Austin Spring was incorporated into LRE Water’s analysis.  

Pump Station, Water Right Hierarchy 

• 54700.00000:  1.00 cfs, Pump Station No. 1 (WWTP) 
• 58804.57190:  0.25 cfs, Pump Station No. 2 (Irrigation of Parks & Trees) 

On December 30, 1999, the Town made claim to an absolute water right for municipal purposes. 
The Ridgway Pump Station No. 1 was subsequently adjudicated in Case No. 99CW265 to divert 
up to 1.0 cfs. Specific to that claim, the Town described that one of the uses was to divert tailwater 
from the Hyde Sneva Ditch and use that supply to fill the sewage lagoon at the wastewater 
treatment plant. Then, on December 29, 2011, the Town made claim to an absolute water right 
for a second municipal pump station. The Ridgway Pump Station No. 2 was adjudicated in Case 
No. 11CW162 to divert up to 0.25 cfs from Cottonwood Creek for the purpose of irrigating park 
lands and trees. These rights allow the Town to serve municipal demands that don’t require a 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 29 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

treated water supply. While providing an important attribute, these water rights are relatively junior 
in priority and support uses that are not directly connected to the Town’s municipal water system 
without constructing additional infrastructure to pump this supply to the plant. As such, the pump 
stations were not included in LRE Water’s analysis. 

Finally, the Town quit claimed 0.1146 cfs (51.4 gpm) of the Hyde Sneva Ditch from Robert Savath 
as part of the Solar Ranches subdivision. This portion of the Hyde Sneva Ditch was changed in 
Case No. 96CW76 to be alternatively diverted through the Dallas Ditch or Well No. 7687. Similar 
to the pump stations, this water right provides an important attribute to the Town, but its use is 
not directly connected to the Town’s municipal water system, and as such, was not included in 
LRE Water’s analysis. 

3.2.4 Water Right Administration 

Water rights administration in Colorado is governed by the DWR. At a statewide level, DWR is 
managed by the State Engineering’s Office. Regionally, the state has been divided into 7 river 
divisions based on mainstem drainages, and those divisions have then been subdivided into 
smaller districts. Administration within these divisions and districts is managed by Division 
Engineer’s Office. The Town’s water rights are all located within District 68 (Upper Uncompahgre 
River) of Water Division 4 (Gunnison River Basin). As such, LRE Water reviewed the historical 
call chronology of river administration that could impact water users in District 68. This impact 
could be related to a local call placed at a structure within District 68, but is not limited by the 
district boundary. Details related to LRE Water’s call analysis as it relates to the Town’s water 
rights that divert from Beaver Creek and Cottonwood Creek are presented below and summarized 
in Figure 12. 

Beaver Creek Administration: The Town’s water rights that divert from Beaver Creek are 
subject to downstream calls placed by senior water right priorities administrated at structures 
located on the following tributary reaches. 

(1) Beaver Creek below Ridgway Ditch on Beaver Creek 
(2) the East Fork of Dallas Creek below its confluence with Beaver Creek 
(3) Dallas Creek below its confluence with the East Fork of Dallas Creek 
(4) the Uncompahgre River below its confluence with Dallas Creek 
(5) the Gunnison River below its confluence with the Uncompahgre River 

In the tributary reach located within District 68, calls have been placed on Dallas Creek at the 
Wood Perry Ditch and the Evans Ditch. In 2018, the call placed at the Wood Perry Ditch was 
senior to all of the Ridgway Ditch water rights for 14 days from May 8th through May 20th. The 
call continued to be placed through May 27th and for portions of June and September under a 
priority that was junior to the most senior Ridgway Ditch water right (Town’s 2 cfs), but senior 
to the other rights (25 cfs & 5 cfs). In 2021, a call was placed at the Evans Ditch from May 18th 
through June 3rd. The priority associated with this call was senior to all of the Ridgway Ditch 
water rights. These local calls by agricultural irrigators are a relatively new trend; however, in 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 30 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

talking with Eric Weig, the District 68 Water Commissioner, he believes that this pattern will 
continue in the future, especially for calls during the early season when the runoff from north 
facing watersheds have yet to start or is in a freeze-thaw pattern.   

In addition to local administration, the Uncompahgre River below the Dallas Creek confluence 
has historically had calls placed from May through September of dry-years. The main calling 
structure is the Montrose & Delta Canal, which is operated by the Uncompahgre Valley Water 
Users Association. The priority of the call can vary. In 2002, the calling priority was senior to 
all of the Ridgway Ditch water rights during July and August. Outside of that period, the priority 
of the call has been junior to the most senior Ridgway Ditch water right (Town’s 2 cfs), but 
senior to the other rights (25 cfs and 5 cfs). Also, it should be noted that the call chronology 
in 2021 for the lower Uncompahgre River basin does not reflect the hydrologic conditions, 
which were considerably dry. The Montrose & Delta Canal was able to receive additional 
storage supplies during the 2021 irrigation season, and as a result, junior water rights in the 
upper Uncompahgre River basin were not placed on call. This type of operation is currently 
being considered as part of Ouray County’s pending water court case (Case No. 19CW3098), 
wherein the Uncompahgre Water Users Association has signed an agreement “not to call in 
certain circumstances.” This agreement would only be valid once the water court case was 
finalized and a decree entered; however, if accepted, this agreement would potentially 
improve administrative constraints above Ridgway Reservoir.  

Based on the historic call chronology, LRE Water modeled the legal availability to divert water 
in the Ridgway Ditch, as follows: the Sibert Ditch water right for 2 cfs is considered to be out-
of-priority in May, July and August of dry-years and the original and domestic water rights for 
25 cfs and 5 cfs are considered to be out-of-priority from May through September of dry-years.   

Cottonwood Creek Administration: The Town’s water rights that divert from Cottonwood 
Creek are subject to downstream calls placed by senior water right priorities administrated at 
structures located on the following tributary reaches. 

(1) Cottonwood Creek below Happy Hollow Ditch 
(2) the Uncompahgre River below its confluence with Dallas Creek  
(3) the Gunnison River below its confluence with the Uncompahgre River 

In the tributary reach located within District 68, calls have been placed on Cottonwood Creek 
at the Tidwell Ditch. In 2012, a call was placed from June 19th through August 10th, and in 
2013, a call was placed from May 14th through August 6th. Under both calls, the administrative 
priority was senior to the water right associated with the Town’s Happy Hollow Ditch. There 
are two water rights decreed to the Tidwell Ditch. The call was placed by the more senior right, 
which can divert up to 0.375 cfs for irrigation. 

As it relates to calls that are placed downstream on the Uncompahgre River, Mr. Weig stated 
that he has not administered water rights on Cottonwood Creek as it relates to these calls. 
While Cottonwood Creek is technically tributary to the Uncompahgre River, it is typically dry 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 31 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

near the confluence during periods of downstream administration. As such, the downstream 
call is considered futile to water rights that divert from Cottonwood Creek, because the 
curtailment of diversions from this tributary would not increase the available water supply to 
the calling structure.  

Based on the historic call chronology, LRE Water modeled the legal availability to divert from 
the Happy Hollow Ditch as a reduction of 0.375 cfs to the physical supply. This reduction 
represents the supply that would be taken by the Tidwell Ditch for irrigation purposes. 

  



Table 1
Town of Ridgway Water Rights Summary

Administrative Adjudication Appropriation Decree Decreed Case
Number Date Date Amount Use Number

Beaver Creek Water Rights
Sibert Ditch 11840.00000 1897-05-15 1882-06-01 2.00 cfs Domestic CA1496

Ridgway Water & Power Company (1) 14762.00000 1897-05-15 1890-06-01 25.00 cfs Irrigation CA0939

Ridgway Water System, Walther (2) 19904.14762 1905-08-02 1890-06-01 5.00 cfs Domestic CA1286

Otonowanda Reservoir

Otonowanda Pipeline (3)

Ridgway Spring No. 2 44559.14762 1972-12-31 1890-06-01 0.02 cfs Irr, Dom W1305

Ridgway Spring No. 3 44559.14762 1972-12-31 1890-06-01 0.03 cfs Irr, Dom W1305

Austin Spring 44559.14762 1972-12-31 1890-06-01 0.13 cfs Irr, Dom W1305

* Otonowanda Reservoir = Lake Otonowanda 10.18 cfs

746.10 AF

Cottonwood Creek Water Rights

Happy Hollow Ditch

Happy Hollow Pipeline (4)

Happy Hollow Branch Pipeline (4)

Ridgway Reservoir

Ridgway Pipeline (5)

* Ridgway Reservoir = Pre-sedimentation Ponds 2.00 cfs

14.90 AF

Other Water Rights

Ridgway Pump Station No. 1 Wastewater from Hyde Sneva Ditch 54700.00000 1999-12-31 1999-10-06 1.00 Municipal 99CW0265

Ridgway Pump Station No. 2 58804.57190 2011-12-31 2006-07-31 0.25 Municipal 11CW0162

Hyde Sneva Ditch Irrigation in Solar Ranch Subdivision 13270.00000 1897-05-15 1886-05-01 0.11 Irrigation 96CW076

1.36 cfs

Notes:
(1) The deed from Walther to the Town indicates that the Town received 3 cfs of Priority No. 131, which was decreed for 25 cfs in CA-939.
(2) The Ridgway Water System was decreed as a collective system by A.E. Walther in 1905. The combined diversions from this system are limited to 5.0 cfs.
(3) The Otonowanda Pipeline is a transmission line and does not directly divert water from Beaver Creek.
(4) The Happy Hollow Pipeline and Happy Hollow Branch Pipeline are transmission lines and do not directly divert water from Cottonwood Creek.
(5) The Ridgway Pipeline is a conveyance line between Lake Otonowanda and Ridgway Reservoir.

AF Domestic CA1286

Ridgway Water System, Walther (2) 15401.00000 1905-08-02 1892-03-01 2.00

Ridgway Water System, Walther (2) 20269.14762 1905-08-02 1890-06-01 14.90

Structure Name Water Right

cfs Domestic CA1286

Ridgway Ditch

Ridgway Water System, Walther (2) 20269.14762 1905-08-20 1890-06-01 746.10 AF Domestic CA1286



Figure 11
Water Rights Location Map

®
0 1 20.5

Miles
Date: 2022-01-24
File: 21630-1.0
Drawn: PCV
Approved: ANM

Lake Otonowanda
(decreed Otonowanda Reservoir)

Pre-sedimentation Ponds
(decreed Ridgway Reservoir)Happy Hollow Ditch

Administration No. for 2.0 cfs = 15401.00000

Happy Hollow Branch Pipeline

Austin Spring

Ridgway Pump Station No. 2

Happy Hollow Pipeline

Uncompahgre River
Instream Flow

Ridgway Town Pumpstation No. 1

Ridgway Ditch
Administration No. for   2.0 cfs = 11840.00000
Administration No. for 25.0 cfs =  14762.00000
Administration No. for   5.0 cfs = 19904.14762

Beaver Creek
Instream Flow

Ridgway Spring No. 3

Ridgway Spring No. 2

Beaver Creek

Uncompahgre
River

East Fork 
Dallas Creek

Cottonwood
Creek

Dallas Creek
Instream Flow

Source:  2017 NAIP Imagery

Location based on DWR Database

CWCB Instream Flow Reaches



Figure 12

Call Chronology Analysis related to Town's Beaver Creek Water Rights
Calling priority is equal to or more senior than the 2.0 cfs Ridgway Ditch water right (Administration No. 11840.00000).
Calling priority is more senior than the 25 cfs and/or 5 cfs Ridgway Ditch water rights (Administration No. 14762.00000 & 19904.14762).
Calling priority is junior to all of the Ridgway Ditch water rights.

Structure Admin. No. April
M&D Canal 12516.00000 1 Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)

M&D Canal 38502.00000 1 1

May
M&D Canal 12516.00000 1
M&D Canal 14198.00000 1

2012 M&D Canal 12516.00000 1 Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)

M&D Canal 12516.00000 1 1 Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)

Wood Perry 11840.00000 1 1 Ridgway Ditch = All Out
Wood Perry 12571.00000 1 1 Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)

M&D Canal 14198.00000 1
M&D Canal 38536.00000 1 1
M&D Canal 39036.00000 1 1
Evans Ditch 11809.00000 1 Ridgway Ditch = All Out

Structure Admin. No. June
M&D Canal 12442.00000 1 1
M&D Canal 12516.00000 1 1
M&D Canal 14198.00000 1
M&D Canal 24564.00000 1 1

2012 M&D Canal 12516.00000 Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)
2013 M&D Canal 12516.00000 1 Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)

Stark Volkman 12150.00000 1
M&D Canal 12516.00000 1 1
Wood Perry 12905.00000 1 1

2020 M&D Canal 29554.12540 1
M&D Canal 12516.00000 1 1
M&D Canal 14198.00000 1 1
Evans Ditch 11809.00000 1 Ridgway Ditch = All Out

Structure Admin. No. July
M&D Canal 11665.00000 1
M&D Canal 11715.00000 1 1

2012 M&D Canal 12516.00000 Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)
2013 M&D Canal 12516.00000 1 Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)
2018 Stark Volkman 12150.00000 Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)

East Canal 12874.00000 1 1 Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)
M&D Canal 29554.12540 1
M&D Canal 29554.28945 1

Structure Admin. No. August
2002 M&D Canal 11665.00000 Ridgway Ditch & Happy Hollow System = Out
2012 M&D Canal 12516.00000 Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)

Stark Volkman 12150.00000 1
Stark Volkman 12498.00000 1
East Canal 12516.00000 1 1
M&D Canal 14198.00000 1 1
M&D Canal 29554.28945 1

Structure Admin. No. September
M&D Canal 11665.00000 1
M&D Canal 38502.00000 1 1

2012 M&D Canal 12516.00000 1 Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)
Stark Volkman 12498.00000 1
Stark Volkman 14198.00000
Wood Perry 14701.00000 1 1

Notes: Uncompaghre River Calling Structures:  Montrose & Delta Canal, Stark Volkman Ditch, and East Canal
Dallas Creek Calling Structures: Wood Perry Ditch, Evans Ditch (only effect Beaver Creek diversions)

Call Chronology Analysis related to Town's Cottonwood Creek Water Rights
Calling priority is more senior than the Town's Happy Hollow water rights (Administration No. 15401.00000).

Structure Admin. No. May
2013 Tidwell Ditch 14715.00000 1 1 Happy Hollow System = Out

June
2012 Tidwell Ditch 14715.00000 1 1 Happy Hollow System = Out
2013 Tidwell Ditch 14715.00000 1 1 Happy Hollow System = Out

July
2012 Tidwell Ditch 14715.00000 1 1 Happy Hollow System = Out
2013 Tidwell Ditch 14715.00000 1 1 Happy Hollow System = Out

August
2012 Tidwell Ditch 14715.00000 1 1 Happy Hollow System = Out
2013 Tidwell Ditch 14715.00000 1 1 Happy Hollow System = Out

2020

2002

2018

2002

2020

2018

2002

2002 Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)

2020

2002

2018 Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)

2018

2021

2021

Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)

Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)

Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)

Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)

Ridgway Ditch = JR's Out (25 cfs & 5 cfs)

Ridgway Ditch = All Out



Water Supply Assessment  Page 35 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

3.3 CLIMATE CHANGE CONSIDERATIONS 

In 2019, the Colorado Water Conservation Board (“CWCB”) released an update to the State’s 
supply and demand projection data and tools in support of the Colorado Water Plan. Specifically, 
this update is known as the Analysis and Technical Update to the Water Plan or the 2019 
Technical Update. Among the data sets developed for this effort was a robust set of climate-
adjusted natural flows representative of future (2050) climate change conditions. In the vicinity 
near the Town of Ridgway, there are several climate-adjusted natural flow data sets that were 
created for the Gunnison StateMod Model. In particular, there is a data set for Beaver Creek near 
Ridgway and a data set for the Uncompahgre River near Ridgway. LRE Water used this data to 
develop representative climate change impacts, as described more fully in the following sub-
sections. 

3.3.1 Climate Change Diversions   

The Beaver Creek monthly natural flow dataset was used as the indices to adjust the monthly 
historical Ridgway Ditch and Happy Hollow Ditch diversions. The adjustments are based on a 
monthly ratio of historical diversions to historical streamflow. It assumes the same proportion that 
was historically diverted is diverted under climate change. These historical diversion adjustments 
were completed for both the “In-between” and “Hot and Dry” climate change scenarios from the 
2019 Technical Update. Each of these scenarios project an equally probable hotter and drier 
future. This approach utilizes sophisticated well supported climate data sets to projected changes 
to the timing and amount of the available flow under climate change. This data, however, does 
not account for the effect of dust on the snowpack.   

Climate Change Scenarios 

• In-Between Scenario: The “In-between” climate change scenario represents the median 
or 50th percentile of available General Circulation Model’s (“GCMs”) with a consumptive 
irrigation use (“CIR”) and runoff greater than 50% of GCMs. The CIR represents the water 
demand for vegetation, including agricultural crops, lawns and gardens, and natural 
vegetation. As the CIR increases, there is less water available for other uses. The “In-
between” scenario represents a lower runoff and a higher CIR than current conditions, 
resulting in an overall reduction of approximately 12% to the average annual flow in 
Beaver Creek when compared to historical conditions.  
 

• Hot and Dry Scenario: The “Hot and Dry” climate change scenario represents a CIR that 
is greater than 75% of GCMs and runoff that is greater than 25% of GCMs. This scenario 
represents a lower runoff and higher CIR than the “In-between” scenario, resulting in an 
overall reduction of approximately 22% to the average annual flow in Beaver Creek when 
compared to historical conditions. For purposes of this assessment, LRE Water adjusted 
the monthly historic diversions for the Ridgway Ditch and Happy Hollow Ditch based on 
the “High and Dry” scenario.  



Water Supply Assessment  Page 36 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

As a result, the average annual water supply that was modeled as being available to the 
Ridgway Ditch system under climate change decreased from 1,700 AF to approximately 
1,350 AF. Of this supply, the Town’s portion modeled under Current Operations decreased 
from 675 AF to 550 AF, and when operated to maximize the Town’s Full Entitlement the 
modeled supply decreased from 800 AF to 770 AF. In dry years, the climate change 
hydrology for the Ridgway Ditch system produced less than 800 AF, which is 
approximately 200 AF less than the historical dry-year hydrology. Of this supply, the 
Town’s portion was reduced by more than 100 AF:  

 Comparison, Dry-Year Total Annual Availability 

• Current Operations: Historical = 435-450 AF Climate Change = 350 AF 
• Full Entitlement: Historical = 640-690 AF Climate Change = 500 AF 

The modeled annual water supply and monthly delivery rates for the Ridgway Ditch 
system adjusted for the “Hot and Dry” climate change are summarized in Figure 13 and 
Figure 14, respectively. 

By applying the “Hot and Dry” climate change adjustments to the available diversions at 
the Happy Hollow Ditch, the average annual water supply decreased from 450 AF to 
approximately 350 AF, of which the Town’s portion decreased from 330 AF to 260 AF. In 
dry years, the Town’s portion decreased from 175 AF in 2014 to 130 AF in a climate 
adjusted 2014. The modeled annual water supply and monthly rates for the Happy Hollow 
Ditch adjusted for the “Hot and Dry” climate change are summarized in Figure 15 and 
Figure 16, respectively. 

For more information on these climate change data sets, refer to the 2019 Technical Update on 
the Colorado Water Plan website.  Note that these climate change scenarios do not account for 
dust on snow events, which further impact the timing and volume of available flows. 

  



Figure 13
Total Annual Ridgway Ditch Diversion Summary, Beaver Creek Water Supply

Climate Change Hydrology - Hot & Dry:  1999 to 2021

Climate Change Hydrology (Hot & Dry) -Total Annual Ridgway Ditch Diversion Historical Hydrology - Total Annual Ridgway Ditch Diversion

Full Entitlement (Apr-Oct) = Town's supply is equal to the minimum of Ridgway Ditch diversions and the Town's ownership of the senior 2 cfs water right.
Full Entitlement (Nov-Mar) = Town's supply is equal to the minimum of Ridgway Ditch diversions and estimated winter Lake O inflow of 0.25 cfs.

Current Operations = Town's supply is equal to approximately 37% of Ridgway Ditch diversions & 95% of the estimated Austin Spring supply (0.13 cfs).

31 30 31 31 28 31 30 31 30 31 31 30
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 1 1

Climate Change Hydrology - Hot & Dry - Ridgway Ditch Current Full

Water Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Total Operations Entitlement
Year (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF)
1999 92.7 88.1 88.8 77.2 75.2 115.5 89.4 87.5 97.6 158.1 92.3 86.9 1,149.3 479.8 697.1
2000 55.1 48.9 53.1 82.0 60.3 86.0 128.1 84.0 92.5 79.7 88.0 73.9 931.7 399.3 619.6
2001 204.3 148.1 127.7 135.4 121.8 199.2 195.5 101.9 119.7 225.9 217.2 93.0 1,889.6 753.7 853.9
2002 98.9 73.1 72.2 82.3 76.8 122.7 104.6 59.1 78.5 106.7 111.4 96.9 1,083.1 455.3 675.8
2003 103.2 68.3 61.0 75.2 80.6 109.0 127.4 75.6 95.0 94.8 121.9 120.8 1,132.8 473.7 757.7
2004 96.5 72.9 101.2 83.2 85.1 176.4 199.5 88.0 76.1 115.5 113.9 114.7 1,323.0 544.1 751.1
2005 122.6 75.7 108.1 93.5 83.0 155.4 181.2 162.6 143.0 191.7 201.4 124.2 1,642.4 662.3 912.9
2006 141.2 75.4 102.9 92.4 105.6 130.8 134.0 118.9 165.4 219.4 188.0 134.7 1,608.6 649.8 911.8
2007 132.0 80.6 81.4 66.9 68.2 167.2 109.0 117.1 99.2 189.4 171.3 111.1 1,393.6 570.2 849.0
2008 109.7 93.1 86.4 61.1 82.6 166.8 246.9 198.5 190.8 174.2 163.3 77.2 1,650.7 665.3 853.0
2009 113.3 94.1 116.9 82.8 127.1 147.3 209.8 177.2 136.1 146.1 115.7 88.7 1,555.1 630.0 852.8

Max Year 2010 153.5 107.7 78.7 112.1 100.7 205.6 296.4 204.7 194.7 195.8 262.5 107.7 2,020.2 802.0 904.8
2011 116.6 73.6 85.7 81.1 85.4 100.1 172.4 169.1 136.9 137.7 92.9 83.9 1,335.3 548.7 828.5
2012 94.7 54.9 59.6 62.8 68.4 142.5 91.2 115.7 88.7 147.6 157.1 70.2 1,153.3 481.3 742.1
2013 95.4 69.9 61.5 84.0 69.3 85.9 85.6 90.2 84.7 82.1 117.9 175.0 1,101.3 462.1 702.3
2014 88.2 70.0 48.8 60.4 65.9 99.9 148.0 112.4 118.9 128.1 134.4 59.3 1,134.5 474.4 784.4
2015 107.9 61.4 86.5 62.7 67.4 127.8 195.6 88.5 48.5 149.6 160.1 90.7 1,246.6 515.8 744.0
2016 126.2 142.3 134.0 130.1 131.9 213.7 127.2 97.5 127.9 102.7 168.6 161.8 1,664.0 670.3 857.2
2017 129.7 107.6 133.9 94.5 145.8 169.1 241.2 203.5 156.1 167.7 132.5 101.3 1,782.9 714.3 897.1
2018 111.4 82.1 81.0 92.5 86.3 138.4 117.9 66.1 88.2 120.2 125.6 109.1 1,218.6 505.5 758.1
2019 97.8 60.5 61.1 50.6 51.4 123.2 81.1 86.9 73.9 139.3 126.2 82.5 1,034.5 437.3 699.1

Min Year 2020 65.4 39.0 42.2 44.3 47.8 97.1 63.0 79.4 61.4 100.5 106.8 49.1 795.9 349.1 545.2
2021 41.2 62.5 52.7 79.0 61.2 84.0 62.9 38.1 61.7 129.9 106.0 48.6 827.7 360.8 508.0
AVG 108.6 80.4 83.7 82.0 84.7 137.5 148.2 114.0 110.2 143.6 142.4 98.3 1,333.7 548.0 769.8

* The total monthly diversion supply includes a daily estimate of 0.13 cfs from the Austin Spring.

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

T
ot

al
 A

nn
ua

l W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y 
(A

F
)



Figure 14
Average Monthly Ridgway Ditch Diversion Summary, Beaver Creek Water Supply

Climate Change Hydrology - Hot & Dry:  1999 to 2021

Climate Change Hydrology (Hot & Dry) -Average Monthly Ridgway Ditch Diversion

Full Entitlement, Average Monthly Supply over the Study Period (1999-2021)
Full Entitlement, Average Monthly Supply in a Dry-Year (2021)

Current Operations, Average Monthly Supply over the Study Period (1999-2021)
Current Operations, Average Monthly Supply in a Dry-Year (2021)

31 30 31 31 28 31 30 31 30 31 31 30
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Climate Change Hydrology - Hot & Dry - Ridgway Ditch
Water Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep
Year (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs)
1999 1.51 1.48 1.44 1.26 1.35 1.88 1.50 1.42 1.64 2.57 1.50 1.46
2000 0.90 0.82 0.86 1.33 1.09 1.40 2.15 1.37 1.55 1.30 1.43 1.24
2001 3.32 2.49 2.08 2.20 2.19 3.24 3.28 1.66 2.01 3.67 3.53 1.56
2002 1.61 1.23 1.17 1.34 1.38 2.00 1.76 0.96 1.32 1.73 1.81 1.63
2003 1.68 1.15 0.99 1.22 1.45 1.77 2.14 1.23 1.60 1.54 1.98 2.03
2004 1.57 1.22 1.65 1.35 1.53 2.87 3.35 1.43 1.28 1.88 1.85 1.93
2005 1.99 1.27 1.76 1.52 1.49 2.53 3.04 2.64 2.40 3.12 3.28 2.09
2006 2.30 1.27 1.67 1.50 1.90 2.13 2.25 1.93 2.78 3.57 3.06 2.26
2007 2.15 1.35 1.32 1.09 1.23 2.72 1.83 1.90 1.67 3.08 2.79 1.87
2008 1.78 1.56 1.40 0.99 1.49 2.71 4.15 3.23 3.21 2.83 2.66 1.30
2009 1.84 1.58 1.90 1.35 2.29 2.40 3.53 2.88 2.29 2.38 1.88 1.49
2010 2.50 1.81 1.28 1.82 1.81 3.34 4.98 3.33 3.27 3.18 4.27 1.81
2011 1.90 1.24 1.39 1.32 1.54 1.63 2.90 2.75 2.30 2.24 1.51 1.41
2012 1.54 0.92 0.97 1.02 1.23 2.32 1.53 1.88 1.49 2.40 2.56 1.18
2013 1.55 1.17 1.00 1.37 1.25 1.40 1.44 1.47 1.42 1.33 1.92 2.94
2014 1.43 1.18 0.79 0.98 1.19 1.62 2.49 1.83 2.00 2.08 2.19 1.00
2015 1.75 1.03 1.41 1.02 1.21 2.08 3.29 1.44 0.81 2.43 2.60 1.52
2016 2.05 2.39 2.18 2.12 2.38 3.48 2.14 1.58 2.15 1.67 2.74 2.72
2017 2.11 1.81 2.18 1.54 2.62 2.75 4.05 3.31 2.62 2.73 2.15 1.70
2018 1.81 1.38 1.32 1.50 1.55 2.25 1.98 1.08 1.48 1.95 2.04 1.83
2019 1.59 1.02 0.99 0.82 0.92 2.00 1.36 1.41 1.24 2.27 2.05 1.39
2020 1.06 0.66 0.69 0.72 0.86 1.58 1.06 1.29 1.03 1.63 1.74 0.83
2021 0.67 1.05 0.86 1.28 1.10 1.37 1.06 0.62 1.04 2.11 1.72 0.82
AVG 1.77 1.35 1.36 1.33 1.52 2.24 2.49 1.85 1.85 2.34 2.32 1.65

CURRENT OPERATION:
AVG 0.73 0.58 0.58 0.57 0.64 0.90 1.00 0.76 0.76 0.94 0.93 0.69

Min Yr 0.47 0.32 0.33 0.34 0.39 0.66 0.47 0.55 0.46 0.68 0.72 0.38
Max Yr 1.00 0.75 0.55 0.75 0.75 1.31 1.92 1.31 1.29 1.25 1.65 0.75

FULL ENTITLEMENT:
AVG 1.56 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 1.75 1.49 1.55 1.82 1.82 1.46

Min Yr 0.93 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.93 1.16 0.90 1.50 1.61 0.70
Max Yr 2.00 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 1.68

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

3.50

4.00

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep

A
ve

ra
ge

 M
on

th
ly

 W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y 
(c

fs
)



Figure 15
Total Annual Happy Hollow Ditch Diversion Summary, Cottonwood Creek Water Supply

Climate Change Hydrology - Hot & Dry:  1999 to 2021

Climate Change Hydrology (Hot & Dry) -Total Annual Happy Hollow Ditch Diversion Historical Hydrology -Total Annual Happy Hollow Ditch Diversion

Current Operations (Apr-Oct) = Town's supply is equal to the Happy Hollow Ditch diversions minus 0.375 cfs for the Tidwell Ditch.
Current Operations (Nov-Mar) = Town's supply is equal to the Happy Hollow Ditch diversions.

31 30 31 31 28 31 30 31 30 31 31 30
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 1

Climate Change Hydrology - Hot & Dry - Happy Hollow Ditch Current

Water Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Total Operation
Year (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF) (AF)
1999 34.5 32.8 33.0 28.2 27.7 43.8 33.3 32.4 36.6 61.2 34.4 32.3 430.3 326.1
2000 14.2 12.4 13.6 22.2 15.9 23.4 36.2 22.8 25.5 21.5 24.0 19.9 251.6 138.9
2001 31.0 22.1 18.9 20.1 18.1 30.2 29.6 14.8 17.7 34.4 33.0 13.4 283.2 192.8
2002 19.8 14.2 13.9 16.1 15.1 24.9 21.0 11.1 15.4 21.4 22.5 19.4 214.8 161.0
2003 21.2 13.5 11.8 14.9 16.3 22.5 26.6 15.0 19.4 19.3 25.3 25.1 231.0 150.1
2004 32.6 24.0 34.4 27.8 28.7 62.2 70.8 29.5 25.2 39.7 39.1 39.5 453.5 330.5
2005 35.6 21.1 31.1 26.6 23.5 45.8 53.9 48.0 42.0 57.1 60.1 36.2 480.8 358.3

Max Year 2006 60.9 30.9 43.4 38.6 45.0 56.1 57.7 50.7 72.1 96.7 82.3 58.1 692.5 567.3
2007 38.4 22.6 22.7 18.2 18.9 49.3 31.4 33.8 28.3 56.2 50.6 32.0 402.4 286.7
2008 24.5 20.5 18.9 12.8 18.1 38.2 57.5 45.8 44.0 40.0 37.3 16.7 374.3 238.8
2009 25.4 20.9 26.3 18.1 29.0 33.7 48.8 40.9 31.0 33.4 26.0 19.6 353.2 229.0
2010 38.6 26.5 18.8 27.6 24.8 52.4 76.5 52.2 49.6 49.8 67.5 26.5 510.7 387.0
2011 20.5 12.4 14.6 13.8 14.7 17.4 31.0 30.3 24.3 24.4 16.0 14.3 233.9 128.8
2012 20.1 11.0 12.0 12.7 14.2 31.2 19.4 25.0 18.8 32.4 34.6 14.5 245.9 167.6
2013 19.0 13.5 11.6 16.5 13.5 16.9 16.9 17.8 16.7 16.1 23.8 36.3 218.4 163.7
2014 15.5 12.0 7.9 10.1 11.3 17.7 27.1 20.1 21.4 23.2 24.4 9.9 200.6 130.4
2015 18.5 9.9 14.5 10.1 11.1 22.1 34.7 14.9 7.5 26.2 28.1 15.3 213.0 166.5

Min Year 2016 14.6 16.6 15.6 15.1 15.4 25.4 14.8 11.1 14.9 11.7 19.9 19.1 194.2 147.2
2017 41.6 34.2 43.1 29.6 47.4 55.1 79.9 66.9 50.8 54.6 42.6 32.0 577.9 451.2
2018 50.1 36.0 35.3 40.9 38.3 63.2 53.3 28.1 38.9 54.3 56.9 49.1 544.5 417.6
2019 37.6 22.1 22.3 17.9 18.5 48.3 30.7 33.1 27.8 55.0 49.6 31.4 394.3 281.5
2020 31.3 17.0 18.6 19.8 22.1 48.5 30.1 38.9 29.2 50.4 53.8 22.5 382.3 288.2
2021 13.3 22.0 18.0 28.5 21.7 30.5 22.1 12.1 21.7 48.9 39.3 16.4 294.6 179.8
AVG 28.6 20.4 21.7 21.1 22.2 37.3 39.3 30.2 29.5 40.3 38.7 26.1 355.6 256.1

Highighted cells represent estimated diversion data used to extent the available studry period for Happy Hollow Ditch.

0.0

100.0

200.0

300.0

400.0

500.0

600.0

700.0

800.0

900.0

1,000.0
19

99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

T
ot

al
 A

nn
ua

l W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y 
(A

F
)



Figure 16
Average Monthly Happy Hollow Ditch Diversion Summary, Cottonwood Creek Water Supply

Climate Change Hydrology - Hot & Dry:  1999 to 2021

Climate Change Hydrology (Hot & Dry) - Average Monthly Happy Hollow Ditch Diversion

Current Operations, Average Monthly Supply over the Study Period (1999-2021)
Current Operations, Average Monthly Supply in a Dry-Year (2021)

31 30 31 31 28 31 30 31 30 31 31 30
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Climate Change Hydrology - Hot & Dry - Happy Hollow Ditch
Water Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep
Year (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs) (cfs)
1999 0.56 0.55 0.54 0.46 0.50 0.71 0.56 0.53 0.62 1.00 0.56 0.54
2000 0.23 0.21 0.22 0.36 0.29 0.38 0.61 0.37 0.43 0.35 0.39 0.33
2001 0.50 0.37 0.31 0.33 0.33 0.49 0.50 0.24 0.30 0.56 0.54 0.23
2002 0.32 0.24 0.23 0.26 0.27 0.41 0.35 0.18 0.26 0.35 0.37 0.33
2003 0.34 0.23 0.19 0.24 0.29 0.37 0.45 0.24 0.33 0.31 0.41 0.42
2004 0.53 0.40 0.56 0.45 0.52 1.01 1.19 0.48 0.42 0.65 0.64 0.66
2005 0.58 0.35 0.51 0.43 0.42 0.74 0.91 0.78 0.71 0.93 0.98 0.61
2006 0.99 0.52 0.71 0.63 0.81 0.91 0.97 0.82 1.21 1.57 1.34 0.98
2007 0.62 0.38 0.37 0.30 0.34 0.80 0.53 0.55 0.48 0.91 0.82 0.54
2008 0.40 0.34 0.31 0.21 0.33 0.62 0.97 0.75 0.74 0.65 0.61 0.28
2009 0.41 0.35 0.43 0.29 0.52 0.55 0.82 0.67 0.52 0.54 0.42 0.33
2010 0.63 0.45 0.31 0.45 0.45 0.85 1.29 0.85 0.83 0.81 1.10 0.45
2011 0.33 0.21 0.24 0.22 0.27 0.28 0.52 0.49 0.41 0.40 0.26 0.24
2012 0.33 0.18 0.19 0.21 0.26 0.51 0.33 0.41 0.32 0.53 0.56 0.24
2013 0.31 0.23 0.19 0.27 0.24 0.27 0.28 0.29 0.28 0.26 0.39 0.61
2014 0.25 0.20 0.13 0.16 0.20 0.29 0.45 0.33 0.36 0.38 0.40 0.17
2015 0.30 0.17 0.24 0.16 0.20 0.36 0.58 0.24 0.13 0.43 0.46 0.26
2016 0.24 0.28 0.25 0.25 0.28 0.41 0.25 0.18 0.25 0.19 0.32 0.32
2017 0.68 0.57 0.70 0.48 0.85 0.90 1.34 1.09 0.85 0.89 0.69 0.54
2018 0.81 0.60 0.57 0.67 0.69 1.03 0.90 0.46 0.65 0.88 0.93 0.82
2019 0.61 0.37 0.36 0.29 0.33 0.79 0.52 0.54 0.47 0.90 0.81 0.53
2020 0.51 0.29 0.30 0.32 0.40 0.79 0.51 0.63 0.49 0.82 0.88 0.38
2021 0.22 0.37 0.29 0.46 0.39 0.50 0.37 0.20 0.36 0.80 0.64 0.28
AVG 0.47 0.34 0.35 0.34 0.40 0.61 0.66 0.49 0.50 0.66 0.63 0.44

Highighted cells represent estimated diversion data used to extent the available studry period for Happy Hollow Ditch.

CURRENT OPERATION HAPPY HOLLOW DITCH:
AVG 0.34 0.25 0.26 0.25 0.29 0.44 0.47 0.35 0.36 0.47 0.46 0.32

Min Yr 0.18 0.21 0.19 0.19 0.21 0.31 0.19 0.14 0.19 0.14 0.24 0.24
Max Yr 0.81 0.43 0.58 0.51 0.66 0.75 0.79 0.68 0.99 1.29 1.10 0.80

0.00

0.25

0.50

0.75

1.00

1.25

1.50

1.75

2.00

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep

A
ve

ra
ge

 M
on

th
ly

 W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y 
(c

fs
)



Water Supply Assessment  Page 41 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

Disclaimer: The accuracy of the modeled water supply assessment is correlated to the 
accuracy of the data that is being modeled. LRE Water applied the best available data in its 
assessment of the reliability of the Town’s municipal water system to meet future demands. 
However, as noted in Section 2.1.1, Section 3.1, and Section 3.3 the available data associated 
with the Town’s production record at the water treatment plant (reliability of monitoring 
equipment), the daily diversion records for the Ridgway Ditch and Happy Hollow Ditch 
(frequency of measurements), the Town’s monitoring of Lake Otonowanda supplies (reliability 
of winter monitoring), and the criteria for climate change adjustments (modeling does not 
include dust on snow considerations) could be improved. The Town should monitor these 
variables, and reevaluate this analysis when better data becomes available. 

 

3.4 RELIABILITY OF THE TOWN’S WATER SYSTEM 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In order to support the Town in its planning efforts and to systematically evaluate the water supply 
that is physically and legally available to meet current and future municipal demands, LRE Water 
developed a spreadsheet-based water supply and demand model. This model simulates monthly 
diversions from Ridgway Ditch and Happy Hollow Ditch, as well as monthly storage operations 
for Lake Otonowanda and the Pre-sedimentation Ponds. The model also incorporates historical 
and climate change hydrology based on available data for a 23-year period from 1999 to 2021, 
and finally, the model limits the ability of the Town to divert the physically available supply based 
on legal water right considerations. 

In terms of how the Town’s available resources are used, the model sets forth a hierarchy for 
allocating the available water supplies to meet municipal demands:  

1. Direct deliveries from Happy Hollow Ditch  
2. Direct deliveries from Ridgway Ditch 
3. Storage release from Lake Otonowanda 
4. If all other sources have been exhausted, remaining storage in Pre-sedimentation Ponds 

This water supply and demand model allows LRE Water to evaluate different demands (total vs. 
potable), various growth rates (low, medium, and high), different hydrologic conditions (historic 
vs. climate change), and operational changes. The results from these various scenarios were 
used to guide recommendations that better position the Town’s water system now and as it grows. 
The following sub-sections outline model scenarios and discuss results. 

 

 

 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 42 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

3.4.1 Supply-Demand Scenarios 

In total, LRE Water modeled 48 scenarios based on a combination of the following parameters: 

• Growth High: 2050 Annual Potable Demand = 124.6 MG or 382.4 AF 
Medium: 2050 Annual Potable Demand = 94.1 MG or 288.8 AF 
Low: 2050 Annual Potable Demand = 84.3 MG or 258.7 AF  
  

• Demands Total: Potable & Raw Water Demand (42.1 MG or 129.3 AF) 
 Potable: Potable Demand Only 
 

• Hydrology Historical: Modeled Supply based on adjusted Diversion Record 
Climate: Historical Supply adjusted for Climate Change 
 

• Operations Current: 37% of Ridgway Ditch + 95% of Austin Spring 
 Entitlement: Up to 2 cfs Ridgway Ditch (Apr-Oct) + 0.25 cfs (Nov-Mar) 
 

• Losses 2.5%: System Losses = 2.5% per month 
 No Loss: System Losses = 0% 
 *The no loss scenarios still include evaporative losses. 

Of the potential combination of scenarios, LRE Water focused on 8 scenarios for its assessment 
of the reliability of the Town’s water system. For each of the 8 scenarios the forecasted water 
demand was based on the Total Demand at High Growth. These 8 scenarios were broken down 
first by hydrology (historical vs. climate change) and then by operations (current vs. entitlement). 
These same scenarios were also analyzed at medium and low growth alternatives. 

• Historical Hydrology: H1.A = Current Operations & 2.5% System Loss 
 H1.B = Current Operations & No System Loss 
 
 H2.A = Full Entitlement & 2.5% System Loss 
 H2.B = Full Entitlement & No System Loss 
 

• Climate Change: C1.A = Current Operations & 2.5% System Loss 
 C1.B = Current Operations & No System Loss 
 
 C2.A = Full Entitlement & 2.5% System Loss 
 C2.B = Full Entitlement & No System Loss 

A more detailed analysis is shown in figures that are labeled based on the above outline. At the 
top third of the more detailed summary sheet, the inputs that are being modeled are highlighted 
in yellow. The middle third of the figure then shows which available supplies are being used to 
meet the municipal demand. Finally, the bottom third of the page shows the end of month content 
for Lake Otonowanda for the total demand scenario and the potable only scenario. The ability to 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 43 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

carryover storage supplies is a key assist in the Town’s portfolio and greatly improves the 
reliability of the overall water system.  

3.4.2 Modeled Supply Gap 

For each scenario, LRE Water evaluated how the municipal demands were met with available 
supplies. More specifically, the projected demand in each of the 30-years from 2021 to 2050 was 
evaluated against a 23-year hydrologic record (historical or climate change). As it relates to the 8 
main scenarios outlined above, LRE Water focused its analysis on the results associated with the 
total projected 2050 municipal demand at high growth of 512 AF/year. The results of this analysis 
showed that there is a supply gap for three of the scenarios, all of which were under Current 
Operations when the Town’s Full Entitlement was not maximized. In those scenarios, there were 
years within the 23-year hydrologic study period when the Town’s municipal water system was 
not able to meet the 2050 demand at high growth. 

Modeled Results, High Growth Scenarios 

• Historical Hydrology: For the historical hydrology scenarios at high growth (H1.A, H1.B, 
H2.A, H2.A), the model showed supply gaps in only one scenario: H1.A = Current 
Operations and 2.5% System Loss. Specifically, there was a shortage in 2000 of 
approximately 25 to 50 AF and a second more serve shortage in 2021 of approximately 
100 to150 AF, as shown in Figure 17. In addition to evaluating the supply gap(s) at the 
2050 demand, LRE Water also examined the maximum demand that could be met without 
shortage and when that demand would occur in the 30-year forecast from 2021 to 2050. 
For scenario H1.A (historical hydrology, current operations, and 2.5% system loss), the 
firm yield or the maximum demand that could be met without shortage was 427 AF, which 
corresponds to the year 2039 at high growth, as shown in Table 2. In comparing the results 
for scenarios evaluated against the historical hydrology, three of the scenarios did not 
have supply gaps or shortages. LRE Water, therefore, concluded that by operating the 
Ridgway Ditch to maximize the Town’s legal entitlement to divert up to the first 2 cfs during 
the irrigation season and maintaining a non-irrigation supply of up to 0.25 cfs, the Town 
could meet its 2050 demands at high growth. Alternatively, the results show that the Town 
could reduce or eliminate shortages by minimizing system losses. Moreover, the firm yield 
analysis shows that at a high growth rate, the Town could meet total future municipal 
demand for the next 18 years (2039). Finally, there were no shortages when these four 
historical hydrology scenarios were analyzed with demand projections at the medium and 
low growth rates or when only the treated potable water demands included.  

• Climate Change Hydrology: For the climate change scenarios (C1.A, C1.B, C2.A, C2.B), 
the model showed supply gaps in two of the scenarios: C1.A = Current Operations & 2.5% 
System Loss and C1.B = Current Operations & No System Loss. In scenario C1.A, there 
were shortages in 7 of the 23 years modeled, and in four of those years the severity of the 
shortage was over 100 AF, as shown in Figure 17. The firm yield for this scenario was 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 44 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

394 AF, which is approximately 100 AF less than the same scenario evaluated against 
historical hydrology. Moreover, the firm yield of 394 AF for the C1.A scenario corresponds 
to the year 2034 at high growth, which is 5-years sooner than the H1.A scenario. Finally, 
the C1.A scenario was the only scenario where shortages occurred at lower growth rates. 
At the medium growth rate, the total projected 2050 municipal demand was 418 AF/year, 
which is 94 AF less than the 2050 high growth demand. The firm yield for this medium 
growth scenario was the same 394 AF; however, this maximum demand did not occur 
until the year 2044, which is 5-years later than the H1.A scenario and 10-years later than 
the C1.A scenario at high growth, as shown in Table 2.  

In scenario C1.B, the current operations are evaluated against the climate change 
hydrology as with scenario C1.A; however, system losses have been eliminated. This 
change reduced the number of years when shortages occurred from 7 to 3, and the 
severity of the shortage was reduced in two of those remaining three years. In addition, 
the firm yield increased from 394 AF to 487 AF and the timing of when the maximum 
demand is reached was pushed out to the year 2047. These results indicate that if the 
Town were to invest in making its delivery and storage system (Ridgway Ditch, Happy 
Hollow Ditch, and Lake Otonowanda) as efficient as possible, it would still not be able to 
fully meet the total 2050 municipal demand at high growth during an extreme period of 
dry-year hydrology (2002-2003). However, the model results for scenario C2.A show that 
by operating the Ridgway Ditch to maximize the Town’s legal entitlement to divert up to 
the first 2 cfs during the irrigation season and maintaining a non-irrigation supply of up to 
0.25 cfs the Town could meet its total 2050 demands at high growth under climate change 
hydrology.      



1
99

8

1
99

9

2
00

0

2
00

1

2
00

2

2
00

3

2
00

4

2
00

5

2
00

6

2
00

7

2
00

8

2
00

9

2
01

0

2
01

1

2
01

2

2
01

3

2
01

4

2
01

5

2
01

6

2
01

7

2
01

8

2
01

9

2
02

0

2
02

1

2
02

2

Figure 17
Annual Supply Gap Frequency & Volume
(2000-2020 Growth Rate, 2050 Demand)

Current Operations

H
is

to
ri

ca
l

Current Operations 
& No System Loss

Full Entitlement 
& No System Loss

Full Entitlement 

Current Operations

Current Operations 
& No System Loss

Full Entitlement 

Full Entitlement 
& No System Loss

C
li

m
at

e 
C

h
an

g
e

<25 AF Shortage 25 - 49 AF Shortage 50 - 99 AF Shortage 100 - 150 AF Shortage

H1.A

H1.B

H2.A

H2.B

C1.A

C1.B

C2.A

C2.B



Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 388 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 418 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 512 AF

Full Entitlement
& No System Loss

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 388 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 418 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 512 AF

C
li

m
at

e 
C

h
an

g
e

H
yd

ro
lo

g
y

Current Operations
Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 388 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year = 2044
Max. Firm Yield = 394 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year = 2034
Max. Firm Yield = 394 AF

Current Operations
& No System Loss

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 388 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 418 AF

Full Entitlement

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 388 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 418 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 512 AF

Full Entitlement
& No System Loss

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 388 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 418 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 512 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 388 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 418 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 512 AF

Full Entitlement

Max. Firm Yield Year = 2047
Max. Firm Yield = 487 AF

C2.B

H1.A

H1.B

H2.A

H2.B

Table 2
Firm Yield Analysis

C1.A

C1.B

C2.A

Scenario
Low Growth Rate

2050 Annaul Demand = 388 AF
Medium Growth

2050 Annaul Demand = 418 AF
High Growth

2050 Annaul Demand = 512 AF

H
is

to
ri

ca
l

H
yd

ro
lo

g
y

Current Operations
Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 388 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year > 2050
Max. Firm Yield > 418 AF

Max. Firm Yield Year = 2039
Max. Firm Yield = 427 AF

Current Operations
& No System Loss



Supply-Demand Gap for the Town of Ridgway

Under Various Operation & Demand Scenarios

SCENARIO: Historic Hydrology, Current Operations & System Loss

Set Parameters Input Parameters - Vary by Scenario

Non-Potable Demand Growth 25% in 2050 Demand Scenario Total Potable
Lake O Max Release Rate 1.7 cfs Hydrologic Supply Historic Climate Change (H&D)
Lake O Capacity 746.0 AF Ridgway Ditch Operations Current Entitlement
Pre-sed. Ponds Max Release Rate 3.0 cfs System Loss -2.5% 0.0%
Pre-sed. Ponds Capacity 17.2 AF

Legal Availability of Water Rights Growth Scenario

Ridgway Ditch, Sr. (2 cfs) out-of-priority May, Jul & Aug High, 2000-2020 Average Growth
Ridgway Ditch, Jr. (25 cfs & 5 cfs) out-of-priority May-Sep
Happy Hollow Ditch reduced by 0.375 cfs for Tidwell Ditch Apr-Oct

0

20

40

60

80

AF

Monthly Deliveries Summary (2050 Demand 512 AF/yr)

Pre-sedimentation Ponds
Ridgway Ditch Direct Supply

Lake O Storage Supply
Supply Gap

Happy Hollow Direct Supply
Total Demand (Diversion)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

AF

Lake O End-of-Month Storage

EOM - Total Demand EOM - Potable Demand

rgilliom
Text Box
H1.A



Supply-Demand Gap for the Town of Ridgway

Under Various Operation & Demand Scenarios

SCENARIO: Historic Hydrology, Current Operations & No System Loss

Set Parameters Input Parameters - Vary by Scenario

Non-Potable Demand Growth 25% in 2050 Demand Scenario Total Potable
Lake O Max Release Rate 1.7 cfs Hydrologic Supply Historic Climate Change (H&D)
Lake O Capacity 746.0 AF Ridgway Ditch Operations Current Entitlement
Pre-sed. Ponds Max Release Rate 3.0 cfs System Loss -2.5% 0.0%
Pre-sed. Ponds Capacity 17.2 AF

Legal Availability of Water Rights Growth Scenario

Ridgway Ditch, Sr. (2 cfs) out-of-priority May, Jul & Aug High, 2000-2020 Average Growth
Ridgway Ditch, Jr. (25 cfs & 5 cfs) out-of-priority May-Sep
Happy Hollow Ditch reduced by 0.375 cfs for Tidwell Ditch Apr-Oct

0

20

40

60

80

AF

Monthly Deliveries Summary (2050 Demand 512 AF/yr)

Pre-sedimentation Ponds
Ridgway Ditch Direct Supply

Lake O Storage Supply
Supply Gap

Happy Hollow Direct Supply
Total Demand (Diversion)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

AF

Lake O End-of-Month Storage

EOM - Total Demand EOM - Potable Demand

rgilliom
Text Box
H1.B



Supply-Demand Gap for the Town of Ridgway

Under Various Operation & Demand Scenarios

SCENARIO: Historic Hydrology, Full Entitlement & System Loss

Set Parameters Input Parameters - Vary by Scenario

Non-Potable Demand Growth 25% in 2050 Demand Scenario Total Potable
Lake O Max Release Rate 1.7 cfs Hydrologic Supply Historic Climate Change (H&D)
Lake O Capacity 746.0 AF Ridgway Ditch Operations Current Entitlement
Pre-sed. Ponds Max Release Rate 3.0 cfs System Loss -2.5% 0.0%
Pre-sed. Ponds Capacity 17.2 AF

Legal Availability of Water Rights Growth Scenario

Ridgway Ditch, Sr. (2 cfs) out-of-priority May, Jul & Aug High, 2000-2020 Average Growth
Ridgway Ditch, Jr. (25 cfs & 5 cfs) out-of-priority May-Sep
Happy Hollow Ditch reduced by 0.375 cfs for Tidwell Ditch Apr-Oct

0

20

40

60

80

AF

Monthly Deliveries Summary (2050 Demand 512 AF/yr)

Pre-sedimentation Ponds
Ridgway Ditch Direct Supply

Lake O Storage Supply
Supply Gap

Happy Hollow Direct Supply
Total Demand (Diversion)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

AF

Lake O End-of-Month Storage

EOM - Total Demand EOM - Potable Demand

rgilliom
Text Box
H2.A



Supply-Demand Gap for the Town of Ridgway

Under Various Operation & Demand Scenarios

SCENARIO: Historic Hydrology, Full Entitlement & No System Loss

Set Parameters Input Parameters - Vary by Scenario

Non-Potable Demand Growth 25% in 2050 Demand Scenario Total Potable
Lake O Max Release Rate 1.7 cfs Hydrologic Supply Historic Climate Change (H&D)
Lake O Capacity 746.0 AF Ridgway Ditch Operations Current Entitlement
Pre-sed. Ponds Max Release Rate 3.0 cfs System Loss -2.5% 0.0%
Pre-sed. Ponds Capacity 17.2 AF

Legal Availability of Water Rights Growth Scenario

Ridgway Ditch, Sr. (2 cfs) out-of-priority May, Jul & Aug High, 2000-2020 Average Growth
Ridgway Ditch, Jr. (25 cfs & 5 cfs) out-of-priority May-Sep
Happy Hollow Ditch reduced by 0.375 cfs for Tidwell Ditch Apr-Oct

0

20

40

60

80

AF

Monthly Deliveries Summary (2050 Demand 512 AF/yr)

Pre-sedimentation Ponds
Ridgway Ditch Direct Supply

Lake O Storage Supply
Supply Gap

Happy Hollow Direct Supply
Total Demand (Diversion)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

AF

Lake O End-of-Month Storage

EOM - Total Demand EOM - Potable Demand

rgilliom
Text Box
H2.B



Supply-Demand Gap for the Town of Ridgway

Under Various Operation & Demand Scenarios

SCENARIO: Climate Change, Current Operations & System Loss

Set Parameters Input Parameters - Vary by Scenario

Non-Potable Demand Growth 25% in 2050 Demand Scenario Total Potable
Lake O Max Release Rate 1.7 cfs Hydrologic Supply Historic Climate Change (H&D)
Lake O Capacity 746.0 AF Ridgway Ditch Operations Current Entitlement
Pre-sed. Ponds Max Release Rate 3.0 cfs System Loss -2.5% 0.0%
Pre-sed. Ponds Capacity 17.2 AF

Legal Availability of Water Rights Growth Scenario

Ridgway Ditch, Sr. (2 cfs) out-of-priority May, Jul & Aug High, 2000-2020 Average Growth
Ridgway Ditch, Jr. (25 cfs & 5 cfs) out-of-priority May-Sep
Happy Hollow Ditch reduced by 0.375 cfs for Tidwell Ditch Apr-Oct

0

20

40

60

80

AF

Monthly Deliveries Summary (2050 Demand 512 AF/yr)

Pre-sedimentation Ponds
Ridgway Ditch Direct Supply

Lake O Storage Supply
Supply Gap

Happy Hollow Direct Supply
Total Demand (Diversion)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

AF

Lake O End-of-Month Storage

EOM - Total Demand EOM - Potable Demand

rgilliom
Text Box
C1.A



Supply-Demand Gap for the Town of Ridgway

Under Various Operation & Demand Scenarios

SCENARIO: Climate Change, Current Operations & No System Loss

Set Parameters Input Parameters - Vary by Scenario

Non-Potable Demand Growth 25% in 2050 Demand Scenario Total Potable
Lake O Max Release Rate 1.7 cfs Hydrologic Supply Historic Climate Change (H&D)
Lake O Capacity 746.0 AF Ridgway Ditch Operations Current Entitlement
Pre-sed. Ponds Max Release Rate 3.0 cfs System Loss -2.5% 0.0%
Pre-sed. Ponds Capacity 17.2 AF

Legal Availability of Water Rights Growth Scenario

Ridgway Ditch, Sr. (2 cfs) out-of-priority May, Jul & Aug High, 2000-2020 Average Growth
Ridgway Ditch, Jr. (25 cfs & 5 cfs) out-of-priority May-Sep
Happy Hollow Ditch reduced by 0.375 cfs for Tidwell Ditch Apr-Oct

0

20

40

60

80

AF

Monthly Deliveries Summary (2050 Demand 512 AF/yr)

Pre-sedimentation Ponds
Ridgway Ditch Direct Supply

Lake O Storage Supply
Supply Gap

Happy Hollow Direct Supply
Total Demand (Diversion)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

AF

Lake O End-of-Month Storage

EOM - Total Demand EOM - Potable Demand

rgilliom
Text Box
C1.B



Supply-Demand Gap for the Town of Ridgway

Under Various Operation & Demand Scenarios

SCENARIO: Climate Change, Full Entitlement & System Loss

Set Parameters Input Parameters - Vary by Scenario

Non-Potable Demand Growth 25% in 2050 Demand Scenario Total Potable
Lake O Max Release Rate 1.7 cfs Hydrologic Supply Historic Climate Change (H&D)
Lake O Capacity 746.0 AF Ridgway Ditch Operations Current Entitlement
Pre-sed. Ponds Max Release Rate 3.0 cfs System Loss -2.5% 0.0%
Pre-sed. Ponds Capacity 17.2 AF

Legal Availability of Water Rights Growth Scenario

Ridgway Ditch, Sr. (2 cfs) out-of-priority May, Jul & Aug High, 2000-2020 Average Growth
Ridgway Ditch, Jr. (25 cfs & 5 cfs) out-of-priority May-Sep
Happy Hollow Ditch reduced by 0.375 cfs for Tidwell Ditch Apr-Oct

0

20

40

60

80

AF

Monthly Deliveries Summary (2050 Demand 512 AF/yr)

Pre-sedimentation Ponds
Ridgway Ditch Direct Supply

Lake O Storage Supply
Supply Gap

Happy Hollow Direct Supply
Total Demand (Diversion)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

AF

Lake O End-of-Month Storage

EOM - Total Demand EOM - Potable Demand

rgilliom
Text Box
C2.A



Supply-Demand Gap for the Town of Ridgway

Under Various Operation & Demand Scenarios

SCENARIO: Climate Change, Full Entitlement & No System Loss

Set Parameters Input Parameters - Vary by Scenario

Non-Potable Demand Growth 25% in 2050 Demand Scenario Total Potable
Lake O Max Release Rate 1.7 cfs Hydrologic Supply Historic Climate Change (H&D)
Lake O Capacity 746.0 AF Ridgway Ditch Operations Current Entitlement
Pre-sed. Ponds Max Release Rate 3.0 cfs System Loss -2.5% 0.0%
Pre-sed. Ponds Capacity 17.2 AF

Legal Availability of Water Rights Growth Scenario

Ridgway Ditch, Sr. (2 cfs) out-of-priority May, Jul & Aug High, 2000-2020 Average Growth
Ridgway Ditch, Jr. (25 cfs & 5 cfs) out-of-priority May-Sep
Happy Hollow Ditch reduced by 0.375 cfs for Tidwell Ditch Apr-Oct

0

20

40

60

80

AF

Monthly Deliveries Summary (2050 Demand 512 AF/yr)

Pre-sedimentation Ponds
Ridgway Ditch Direct Supply

Lake O Storage Supply
Supply Gap

Happy Hollow Direct Supply
Total Demand (Diversion)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

AF

Lake O End-of-Month Storage

EOM - Total Demand EOM - Potable Demand

rgilliom
Text Box
C2.B



Water Supply Assessment  Page 55 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

SECTION 4: WATER SUPPLY STRATEGIES 
The first step in assuring that the Town’s water system can reliably support existing and future 
demands is to evaluate the water supply that is physically and legally available to the system 
under a worst case scenario. In this study, the worst case scenario was defined as the total 2050 
demand at high growth, water supply reduced for climate change, and operating the Town’s water 
system using an estimate of current operations. As summarized in Figure 17, the modeled 
maximum supply gap for this scenario is over 100 AF. However, the modeling results also showed 
that by changing and/or improving system operations the supply gap could be reduced or 
eliminated. As such, it is not currently necessary for the Town to actively pursue additional water 
supplies. Nevertheless, as conditions may change and/or the available data used as the basis for 
modeling may improve, LRE Water has provided several common water supply strategies that 
the Town could explore as alternatives to making operational changes or in combination with 
changes.  

Increase Storage:  Reservoirs allow water users to store supplies when hydrologic conditions 
are abundant and the stream system is less likely to be under administration, and then release 
those supplies later in the season when natural flows have receded. This flexibility is highly 
valuable, which is why storage is the cornerstone of most water right portfolios. The Town’s 
existing water system includes storage in Lake Otonowanda and to a limited extent the Pre-
sedimentation Ponds. Securing additional storage that can be delivered in a similar manner 
for direct use at the water treatment plant or raw water system would be ideal. Storage that is 
located downstream of the Town’s water system would have to be used by exchange and/or 
included in a plan for augmentation. When operated by exchange, the Town would divert 
water through the Ridgway Ditch or the Happy Hollow Ditch at the same rate that water was 
released from the reservoir. This operation does not increase the supply that is physically 
available to the Town’s water system. Instead, it allows water to be diverted at a structure that 
would otherwise be out-of-priority to a downstream call by replacing the diverted amount at a 
location upstream of the calling structure. An exchange, though, cannot be operated unless 
there is available water in the reach between the point of diversion and the point where the 
river is made whole by the released supply. Essentially, other vested water rights within the 
exchange reach cannot be impacted by the exchange.  

Acquire Water Rights:  The acquisition of additional water rights could potentially bolster the 
reliability of the Town’s portfolio. As previously described, the value of a water right depends 
on the water supply that is physically and legally available to use. In addition, the historic 
consumptive use of a water right is the measure of the amount of water that can be changed 
for use by the Town. A water right that has an abundant source of supply is unreliable if it is 
out-of-priority at critical times. Likewise, a senior water right is unreliable if its source of supply 
is insufficient when needed. As it relates to its existing water system, the Town would want to 
acquire a water right that is more senior than the calling rights outlined in Section 3.2 above, 
and a good history of consumptive use. 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 56 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

In addition, the type of use that is decreed to the water right is important. As with most regions 
in Colorado, the senior water rights in the Uncompahgre River basin are decreed for irrigation. 
While it is not uncommon for municipalities to acquire these types of agricultural water rights, 
it does typically require that the water right be changed through a water court proceeding in 
order to be used at a new location and for other purposes in addition to irrigation. This process 
involves quantifying the historic consumptive use associated with the water right, because 
only the portion of the right that was historically consumed is available to be changed. For 
water rights that have historically been used for irrigation, the consumed portion of the diverted 
supply is equal to the amount of water used in the cultivation of the crop. The water supply 
that is not consumed is returned to the stream system through surface runoff and deep 
percolation and is not available to be changed. For reference, the consumptive portion of a 
water right used to flood irrigate lands would be approximately 50 to 60% of the total diversion, 
and the consumptive portion of a water right used for sprinkler irrigation would be 
approximately 70 to 80%. In addition, the ability to divert the changed supply will also be 
limited by the historic timing of use, with less diversion potential at the start and end of the 
irrigation season. 

Finally, as with securing additional storage, the ability for the Town to directly divert the historic 
consumptive use would be ideal. For direct use to occur, the acquired water right would need 
to be located upstream of the Town’s Ridgway Ditch or Happy Hollow Ditch, or be able to be 
delivered to those systems. Alternatively, in order to use a water right acquired outside of the 
Beaver Creek and/or Cottonwood Creek drainages, the Town would have to develop new 
infrastructure that was located adjacent to or downstream of the acquired water right that 
would be used to divert the available supply to the treatment plant without impacting other 
vested water rights, or the Town would have to divert the water right by exchange and/or 
include it in a plan for augmentation. As previously described, the option to use the water right 
by exchange and/or in a plan for augmentation does not increase the supply that is physically 
available to the Town’s water system. Instead, it allows water to be diverted at a structure that 
would otherwise be out-of-priority to a downstream call by replacing the diverted amount at a 
location upstream of the calling structure. Again, an exchange cannot be operated unless 
there is available water in the reach between the point of diversion and the point where the 
river is made whole by the available water right acquisition.  

Develop a Plan for Augmentation: A key attribute associated with a plan for augmentation is 
the ability to replace depletive impacts, as opposed to diversion impacts. As described in the 
context of a historical consumptive use analysis, the total diversion supply can be divided into 
two parts: the portion that is consumed or that is depletive to the stream system and the 
portion that is returned to the stream. A plan for augmentation accounts for the returned 
supply, so long as it returns above the calling structure, and then replaces only the depletive 
impact when the diverting water right is out-of-priority. For a municipality, this distinction can 
be significant, as 90 to 95% of the indoor domestic demand is returned to the stream system, 
whereas only 20 to 30% of the water supply used for sprinkler irrigation returns to the stream 
system. As it relates to Town’s existing water system, the wastewater treatment plant is 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 57 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

located above the Montrose & Delta Canal diversion on the Uncompahgre River. In addition, 
irrigation within the Town’s service area would also return to the Uncompahgre River system 
above the Montrose & Delta Canal. Therefore, as it relates to river administration on the lower 
Uncompahgre River, the Town could develop a plan for augmentation that replaces its 
depletive impact with storage releases (existing, new owned, or new leased) or historical 
consumptive use credits from the acquisition of a senior water right. Depending on the location 
of the replacement supplies, though, this option could require available exchange capacity 
within the Dallas Creek and Beaver Creek drainages. 

  



Water Supply Assessment  Page 58 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

SECTION 5: SUMMARY OF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
1. Production Records:  Town Staff indicated that based on sales the production record at 

the water treatment plant likely overestimates the amount of water use within the Town’s 
service area. Nevertheless, the production record is the best available source of data and 
provided a conservative approximation of the Town’s existing water demands. As such, 
for the water supply assessment, LRE Water used the production record as a basis for 
evaluating existing and future demands, and therefore, the modeled results were tied to 
this data. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  The Town should start by verifying the accuracy of the meter at 
the water treatment plant. If it’s determined that the meter at the water treatment plant has 
not been functioning properly, the Town should consider updating this analysis when new, 
more accurate data is available. In addition, the Town should continue implementing its 
program that replaces meters for customers. It is LRE Water’s understanding that all 
meters within the Town’s service area will be replaced in the next 2-years. When the 
metered supply at production and the metered supply at delivery are functioning properly, 
the difference between the two represents the amount of water lost to leaks and system 
inefficiencies. If the Town reduces the amount of water that it’s losing to leaks and system 
inefficiencies, then less water has to be produced and the overall demand on the water 
system decreases. 
 

2. Lake Otonowanda Records: The Town measures the water supply that is delivered from 
the Ridgway Ditch system at the Lake O Flume. This measured supply is then delivered 
to the Pre-sedimentation Ponds, or it is stored in Lake Otonowanda. Town Staff noted 
issues with the accuracy of this measurement, especially during the winter due to snow 
and ice conditions. The modeled results indicate that the estimated physical supply 
that is available to divert from the Ridgway Ditch system is ample, and if managed 
properly, could allow the Town to meet the total 2050 municipal demand at high 
growth. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Being able to accurately measure how much of the Ridgway Ditch 
diversion is being delivered to the Town is important. As such, the Town should consider 
implementing best management practices to ensure that the equipment and monitoring 
devices at the Lake O Flume are functioning properly, and that accurate measurement are 
being recorded. 
 

3. Ridgway Ditch Diversion Records: The daily diversion record that is maintained by DWR 
is compiled from field observations that are recorded on a weekly or monthly basis during 
the summer irrigation season and less frequently during the winter non-irrigation season. 
While this record keeping practice is common and widely accepted in evaluating available 
diversion supplies, having a more frequently record of observations would improve the 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 59 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

findings of this analysis. In addition, a real time diversion record would allow the Town to 
better manage its portion of the Ridgway Ditch water supply.  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  The Town should consider installing a pressure transducer or  
similar monitoring equipment that records the flow rate through the ditch more frequently. 
This effort should be coordinated with the Division Engineer and District 68 Water 
Commissioner, as DWR is the official agency in charge of maintaining the public record. 
In addition, given the remote location of the Ridgway Ditch, the Town should also consider 
installing telemetry that would allow the Town to access diversion measurements online 
or through a SCADA system. The real time data would also allow the Town to better 
manage its portion of the available supply.  
 

4. Ridgway Ditch Operations:  The model results show that if the Town continues to manage 
the Ridgway Ditch such that it receives approximately 37% of the total available diversion, 
then its municipal water system will not be able to reliably support the high growth, total 
2050 demand under historical or climate change hydrology. However, the model results 
also show that by managing the Ridgway Ditch such that the Town receives the 
entire supply up to the first 2 cfs during the summer irrigation season and entire 
supply up to 0.25 cfs during the winter non-irrigation season, the total 2050 
municipal demand can be met. Moreover, the diversion records indicate that more than 
0.25 cfs is available to divert at the Ridgway Ditch headgate in the winter non-irrigation 
season.  

RECOMMENDATION: As previously recommended, the Town should consider regular 
monitoring of the diversion rate at the Ridgway Ditch headgate, as well as its current 
monitoring of the Lake O Flume. In addition, the modeling results showed that maintaining 
storage levels in Lake Otonowanda is key. The ability to carryover supplies from one year 
to another is critical during a multi-year drought. Therefore, the Town should consider 
implementing guidelines related to storage level thresholds and best management 
practices related to winter operations. The guidelines and practices should set forth how 
the Town manages its senior priority in the Ridgway Ditch for 2 cfs, so that other users are 
limited at times when the Town needs its full entitlement to directly meet municipal 
demands and/or to maintain storage levels in Lake Otonowanda. 

5. Funding and Grants: The recommendations related to monitoring and improvements to 
the Town’s water supply system may be eligible for funding and grant opportunities at a 
federal, state, and local level.   
 
RECOMMENDATION: The Town should investigate how to access potential funding 
opportunity for water-related projects under the recently enacted Infrastructure Investment 
and Jobs Act or through state funding options such as Colorado Water Plan Grants or 
Gunnison Basin Roundtable Grants. 
 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 60 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

6. Cottonwood Ditch Administration: It is the opinion of Mr. Weig, the Water Commissioner 
for District 68, that while Cottonwood Creek is technically tributary to the Uncompahgre 
River, the downstream call on the Uncompahgre River is considered futile to water rights 
that divert from Cottonwood Creek, and as a result, the Town’s Happy Hollow Ditch is not 
subject to the Montrose and Delta call. This opinion is based on the fact that at times when 
the river is typically under administration, the flow in Cottonwood Creek is dry near its 
confluence with the Uncompahgre River.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: The Town should continue to monitor these conditions, and if flows 
in Cottonwood Creek during dry years begin to reach the Uncompahgre River, the Town 
should reevaluate this analysis. 
 

7. Climate Change Considerations: The approach used by LRE Water to evaluate the water 
availability under climate change was based on sophisticated and well supported climate 
datasets that were developed through state planning efforts for the Gunnison River basin. 
This data, however, does not account for the effect of dust on the snowpack.   
 
RECOMMENDATION: The Town should continue to monitor water supply planning and 
modeling efforts at the state and basin wide level, and as better data becomes available, 
the Town should consider reevaluation of this assessment.  
 

8. Ridgway Municipal Code Adequate Water Supply Rules:  In order to ensure that the Town 
has adequate water to serve all its customers now and into the future, the Town has 
proactively adopted Chapter 7-6 Adequate Public Water Supply into the Town code, and 
amended its Annexation Policy to “require dedication of water rights or fees in lieu of 
dedication commensurate with future water demands on the property”. The Town code 
regarding adequate water supply is currently based on the requirements defined by the 
Colorado Revised Statutes (CRS) 29-103 which says that development with less than 50 
single family equivalents (SFEs) are exempt but allows for communities to set a lower limit 
and to provide a more stringent requirement. With major developments within the Town’s 
service area generally totaling less than 50 SFEs. The Town has received no dedication 
of water rights of fees in lieu supporting the acquisition/development of new supplies since 
the adoption of the Adequate Public Water Supply policy.    

RECOMMENDATION:  As stated in the Town’s 2019 CAR, the Town needs to review the 
RMC Adequate Water Supply Rules and consider modifying the code to be more in line 
with the “typical” development observed within the Town service area.  This change would 
be an important step for the Town toward achieving its goal of ensuring development pays 
its own way.      

9. Raw Water Demand:  The model results show that in all of the high growth scenarios, the 
potable 2050 treated water demand could be fully met. For the three scenarios wherein 



Water Supply Assessment  Page 61 of 61 

February 2022 – Project No. 21630-01 

the total 2050 municipal demand could not be met, the raw water system that serves parks 
and open space would have been limited. 

RECOMMENDATION:  In consideration of properties that apply to be annexed into the 
Town’s service area, the Town should examine potential opportunities to acquire water 
rights decreed to irrigate the annexed land and promote the continuance of raw water 
irrigation. This approach allows the Town to continue to use historical agricultural water 
rights without a water court change case, and does not increase the amount of water that 
needs to be delivered to the Town’s municipal water system. In addition, the Town should 
consider adopting codes that encourage new development within the Town’s service area 
to construct raw water infrastructure and/or develop new raw water sources, if applicable. 

10. Ouray County’s Water Court Case:  In LRE Water’s discussion related to water supply 
strategies, the limiting factor in acquiring additional storage and/or water rights was the 
need for those supplies to be located above the Town’s water system, because of limited 
exchange capacity.  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  As part of Ouray County’s pending water court case (Case No. 
19CW3098), the Uncompahgre Water Users Association has signed and agreed “not to 
call in certain circumstances.” This agreement has the potential to increase the exchange 
capacity in the reaches above Ridgway Reservoir and as such, the Town should continue 
to actively engage with the County. It is LRE Water’s understanding that the Town has 
provided the County information regarding the Town’s desired exchange rate on Dallas 
Creek and the Uncompahgre River. 
 

11. Water Right Clean-Up:  In LRE Water examination of the Town’s water rights portfolio, it 
found documentation wherein A. E. Walther deeded 3.0 cfs of the 25.0 cfs that was 
decreed to the original irrigation water right for the Ridgway Ditch (Priority No. 131). It 
appears that the Town’s 3.0 cfs has priority over the remaining 22.0 cfs, based on the 
documents reviewed by LRE Water. However, a water rights attorney should review the 
documents and provide an opinion on the matter. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  While the modeling shows that any supply gap or shortage could 
be eliminated with Town maximizing its ability to divert the first 2 cfs in the Ridgway Ditch, 
the Town should consider hiring a water rights attorney to resolve any ambiguity related 
to the Town’s 3.0 cfs ownership in the Priority 131 and priority of uses as to owners of the 
remaining 22.0 cfs. 
 
 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A: 
Water Right Decrees 

 
Civil Action 1496, Sibert Ditch Change Case 

  



STATE. OF COLORADO'

j ss

County of Ouray
IN TBJ~ DISTRICT COURT.

V-.0

V3'~>-'" 
I

ill (' j

nr TEE MATT}'J:\ OF TIm PET I T IOU OF ' I'HE

TOWlI OF RIDGWAY, a municipal corporation
existil~ under and by virtue of the laws

of the State of Colora.do, r1'O CllANGiE THE POINT

OJ!' DIVERSION 0]' TWO ( 2) SECOIW J!'EET 0:&' \ilAT]; R,

HERl1:TOFORE ADJUDICAT]; D TO THE " SIBER1\ DITCH"

66, PRIORITY # 72, HI' WATER DISTRICT :/-/68, OURAY,

COUNTY, COLORJ\DO, TO TJTh~ HEADGATE OF TEE
RIDGWAY" DITCH, SITUAT] l1) IN SAID WATER DISTRICT,

IN SAID COUNTY MID STAI'Ji~.

t,./

J IS ,-

J'

ooOoo------------ 6

pursuant to an order heretofore made, the above entitled

matter came on to be heard this 16tll day of December, A. D. 1912, before

the Court; the petitioner herein appearing by its Attorney E. G. MacAdams,

a stipulation having been filed herein by all water owners affected

by the cha,nge in the point of diversion as peti tj.oned for.

The Court baving read the petition and stipulation as

filed herein and having considered the evidence' introduced in support
tb.ereof finds: that due notice of the fili.ng of, and the hearing upon
the said petiti,on has been given as provided by law, that the parties
affected by the granting of such change in the point of diversion
have filed their written consent to such change; that the Town of Ridg-
way is tlJe owner of the " Ridgway" Di teh; that the said Town of Ridgw'ay
is the owner of two ( 2) cubic feet of water per second of time of

priority #72, and is lawfUlly entitled to have the point of diversion
of the said t1l0 cubic feet of water per second of time, changed
from tb.e headga te of the " Sibert" Ditch to the headgate of the said

Ridgway" Ditch.
WHEIDC]' ORE IT IS ORDERJm ADJUDGlm MID DECRJi$ I.:

That the point of diversion of two ( 2) cubic feet of

water per second of time of the waters heretofore a.~ udicated to the

Sibert" Ditch 1166, prior:i, ty # 72, i.n Water District #68, Ouray County,
Colorado, so owned by the petitioner, The ~ own' of Ridgway, be and the

same is herp-by diverted and changed from the headga.te of the sa.id

Sibert" Di teh, to the headgate of the said " Ridbrwaytl Ditch, in said
Water Dis-::.rict, County and sta.te, and that the same shall retain V
priority #72, with all r:l.ghts and privileges attached thereto,

PROVIDED ALW.lictYS

V'' ,......That th s decree is given in accordance with the

stipulation ,filed herein, and signed by the co~ ittee appoint, e~ by
the wa.ter owners a.ffected by such Change and by the Attorney for petition-
er, and in accordance with said stipulation it is FURTB1m ORDERED
A)) JUDG],'D AIfD DECREED, that the said two cubic feet of water per second
of time shall be used by sa.id petitioner for domestic purposes only,

That the Water Commissioner and Officials of the said
Water District #68 are hereby empowered, a~ thorized and directed to

change the point of diversion of the said two cubic ff:et of water in ac-

cordance with the terms of this decree; it is further orderf:d that the

petitioner herein, pa~ the costs of this proceeding.
Done in Chambers at Grand Junction, Colorado, this

Sixteenth day of December, 1912.

Sprigg Shackleford

Judg e .

o .'~ iJ
f"" U-.z



1~'n;

County of Ouray lee
STA~E OF COLORADO,

I, J. L. Brownlee, Clerk of the District Court

of Ouray County, the same being a Court of Record, in the state

a.foresaid, do hereby certify the above and foregoing to be a: true,

perfect e.nd comp1p.te copy of Water Decree had and entered of Record

in the above named Court, wherein the Town of Ridgway was the Peti.tioner,

as the 6a~e now remains of record in this office , recorded im Book 7

at page 132 of the records of this office.

IN WIT~mSS VmER}~OF, I have hereunto set my hand and

affixed the seal of said Courtil this 3rd day of January, A. D. 1913.

Clerk.

235



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A: 
Water Right Decrees 

 
Civil Action 939, Ridgway Ditch Irrigation Right 

Subset of District Adjudication  
 

(https://dnrweblink.state.co.us/dwr/DocView.aspx?id=126946&dbid=0&cr=1) 
  



eo-
I I

I

i' .
J)

C--- ~ "...., ,- -_-,_-',." _ '..' ,",,, '___ ,____' .. _____ - ,'~___ ~, , . ,____--'_-

Ae.' I. 111!. ' OII1Ielli, ,~,. - llorthof RaaBe , w..t. boaro Ilc~", U. . a'

ittheooe run. ill a llorthe. st 41reotloo . dlatano. of

f:}~ t :1/a . mUe to a " illl. KorU, ~O' Wea' ,. 8 tut from the plac. ot
1 ,'~ ..

lllDll18' It i. 1 ~ I rut at the' tOPjOne t,~t at th. bot\cm and DiM'

j, at. t,4MIl' wi th . grade ot ill an inch to the rod. ' ,
q~: ' ",-' i

Jt, iii, btreby adJlldged and decreed that thaI" b. allowed to floW, lnto

tIiltil ditcb from said CottollWofd Cre\ tor the uee aroro~ id, ~ to:' tM;

Nl!ttU ot tho ..... ty or partin la,.ruUy entUltd theI'sto, under an\!: by

11'_, of, the;', pprtJll't. tioD by origillal' coo. tnctlOIl - Priori ty Ro. 117 -
y

11/8 ot one cubic foot orwder pel' eeoond. of timo.

llUVBER , ONl!:' liUNDRED AND ONE.

I

RidB"la1 DI t,Cl>.

10 entitled to PrIority NO. l~l. whIch bears date Vi

t

The sald ditch

June let, 1690. It io elalm. d by The Ridgway. Water & ~ Olrer Company and

is ueed in Irrigating 1000 aCres bel??slne to i'\ 1al!llllnt. This,! 1 teh dran

ita e~pply ot wat. r irOm B. av. r Creek, an atfluent of the Dallas rIv. r,

a1ld' COlll' yreei<, an 'arnu. ntot the UnC(l!:lpahgre river. The l1&adgate trOll! "II!

teh it drll". wahl' trom Bta, tt!', Cr. ek' 1e situated . .-i~ Ouray COllnty, and

raws 1 ,. . uppl~":ot ~.jat. r ti'"Om the F..aatOr641ch .' ot- snld' er.. k oat- a point

ill the 5...: V, 'ot s. e~ i~rt 1'1, Tnnsh1p 44, North 'of Rnnse 8 . ost, aRd

abobt 50 ( od; northeast ot th., quart~r stake, cn the sou th UnG or. ald

eHon ,17/

ana of the 4i toh

Col'. ot the 5...

and from the \fest hal1ch of O~ al Creek. theh&ildgaie of this

Is 10C~ hd in Ouray County, at a point at or Ileal' the

I. of Sectlon 20, in . ald Town and Henge. the matn

N. E.

ditch is , IIlllu in length trom wh...a It ls, tsken cut Of BIIlve!' Creek to

Ot6ao.anda Lake, a r. 8ervolr belollc1ne to cla~,~nts, and used by th. e in

8t?rttig the surplus ~ at. rs of ' ald ditch. 7 his ditch 18 5 tect wid. at

tll. top, ~ rut M the bottom /it.d 2 feot deep, IUld has a grade or 16 feet

to th6 mile; its carrying eapaelty is 42 cubic feet of water per second

of time. The brsnch dl teh, which <traws its suppll' of water trom Coal CreEk

te about one tllle in length. It dlscha.'ge. its water Into the main Ridgway

ditch l;t a point In the N. E. \ I. of flection 17, " tout 100 , ods north of

west from the qusrter' stake on the eost l' ne of said feetlon 17. This ditch

is 3 feet " Ide at the top, 2 feet at the bottom nnd 16 lnche. In depth,

It~ a f.rade of \/ 4 of an Inch to the rod. There Is al. o an auxiliary lit
ditch stnrtin;; f., o", tho ", Id" le fCl'k of Penv"," Creek on the c.ou~ h line of

S. ctton 17, about 40 rode west of tho q!lartel' . taka on V,e r.outh line ot



I
I

I
I&id

81-

oeotioD, ! dd thenoe runninc in a northeast direc~i~n and om. t, inB
I

into the east tort of Seayer Creet aboye the hOftdcate heretofore <<esctr-
b~ d as being on oaid, fort.

It is hereby adJudged and decreed that there be allond to' tlow Into

O&1el dl teb from sltid last, " ut and middl~ forkli of Beayer Creek, and trOlll

h.U..t__ tor~_ of CoalCr,.~: for t}n~ 1).~' e!'{Irtenldj end f~r th,- benet! t- 'cr

t~( party or parties lawfully entl U' d thereto, ulldtr and b~' virtue ot
t)

thl, &Ppropriatlon by orlelnd construction - P.' i~rlty 110. 131 - 26' cubio

fe. t of water per .. cotld of t'lme.

NUMBER OUE HUIIDREDAllD OIlE A.

Thomp. Cll Di tch.

The said ditch is entitled to Priority 110.' 132, which bears dnte July
15th, 1891. It is clnim( d by Haymond, Richard, Robort and Laura

ihinnerab and S. R. Brown, ~ nd is u. ed In connection with the Rocky DItches
Nos. 1, 2 and 3, th, He. ervoir, Climax, and Brown dltehoe, In Irrieatlng
260 acru ot land belonging to elr.t<lsnh, Of whiCh Bro-,-," ollne Elef acres and

the Whlnnerahs JointlY 200 acres. This ditch draws its $upplr ~ tTater
fro';' the North fork of BUrl' O Creek, an ar... of Cow Creek. ' i:lle hesdgate 1&

located on the no..th COrk of Burro C,' eek, In OUI' ay C~ unty At' a pOint

hence the N. W. Cor. ot Section 34, T~"' riship ~ 7, No" th ot Range 6 'Jut,
b~ lirs Souih 89. 56' West 24~~7 feet. The ditch runs In a'! iorthw' st

direotion &nd dIscharges its waters Into the South fOrk ot Billy Creek, in

Ouray County, which conveys the wate? fro... its natural coursa to the

Rock)' ditches, lIe..rvoir, Olimax IUld Brown ditches. ' i'hlR ditch was con-

structe.. tor the pUrpose of eonveyln/J lfc.ter from Burro C.' eek Into Billy
Creek to increase the supply of water In BIlly Creek tor the Irl'l" atlon

of the land. belonclne to claImants lylnp, under Billy Creek and uod. r

the BrOWn', Ruervoir and Climax F,nd :locky dl tehee 1, 2 and 3. This J1 tch

is 2 teet wide at the top, 18 inChes at tho botto<l and one foot deep end

haS a grade of 25 feet to the !:Ille,

It is IJ. reby adJudeed ftr,d decreed tInt there be allowed to tIow into

said di tch trO!!! said JIOl"th fork of Burro Cr. ek for the use aforesaid,

rid for the ben. tlt ~f the rart~. or parties lawfull, . ntltled t~ereto, undr

and by virtue of the apPropriation by Prlol'i t~' No. 132 _ not to exceed
7..

cubic feet of wale I' per sec~ ond of tl!:e; that is to .' 1, thero ls I,ereby
alrerded to this ditch c,f the .' oters of tho !1ol' thfOl"k of Bu....o C" eek, sub-

Ject to the priori tlea 780, the Taft DI tch, llnd 64a, the Thlle <II teh, 4



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A: 
Water Right Decrees 

 
Civil Action 1286, Ridgway Water System 

  



5",:; ..

srATE or COLORADO, )
SS.

OOUNTY or OUR' Y, )
III TilE Dl&TRICT COUET THERSOF.

IN' THE KATTER or THE ADJUDICATION or
f.\'i'-1m- nIGH'i"S-' I1i wAxi;R' v.1SiRlv: r No 68.

OS THE, PETITIoN OF A .E. fALTlIERi : rOR
All ADJUDIOA'UOll OF / lIS RIGllTS TO THE
USE OF THE , YATERS OF BEAYEk' CfiEEK,
OOAL OP~ EK, COTTONJOOD OREEr. AND OF

OJ';RTAIN SPRI!IGS IN THE VALLEY or"
OOTTONWOOD CRE4Ki FOR FIRE, DO:~ STIC,
PorrdR AND IRRIOA'.'ION PUHFor;:s, THE
DENVER & RIO GRANDE RAILRoAD COgPANY, ~,
A OOIlPORATIOII, ONE OF Till: IfSPO!IDI' lTS.

Nor. on this 30th, ~? y of Jun~, A, D, ]~ Q5, the above entitled

rnott6r comes on for hearin~ before the Court, and the Court having heard all

of the evidence introduced In said cnuse as " ell (In the part of !,et1tioner

80 th" R~ ni~on,l~nt. The Denver ~( Rio G::rundf1 RaSlroad COl:'\}R.JlY, does .find:-

1st. That n,e l1enver ,~ Rio Gran~~ Pai '.rond Company is a corporation

di1l} organt.ed an,l existing unller and by Yirtlle of the lil"s of the State of

Oolorado, and as s;:c~ is entitled to take, h,)ld (,nd apJ111011riate .. otero of

th~ ptfulio otr~~~o of the state.

2nd. That' the said, '[ ne Denver .., Rio Granc\~ Railroad Con:pany did

on 01' a1:ou~ tM 30th day of' Au.,-u.t. 11137, tak" and ajlproprilltA and has ever
f'.

slnc~ used-'for a t.Qneficial purpo[)f3, to~r'lt, for pot:nr purposen for ita

engine and other t:.otivf! pCli'i13r Of 8aid l:::lilroad, and it if-': 11eCeSSf11'"i fo:~

said Denver & Rjo GrCnQ" Rallroad Company to u~e f'or nu~h purpose, and lt

has so uij~d for s~ch p~ V03e, eV~ r ~inc~ ~~id dat~, thrp.e ( 3) statut~ Inc~es

of' roater p~r sec<J11d. or tir.js tat:~a fron C021 Gl'€:P.l: an.l espl1oial1y bl it

u~ e(\ an:1 tak"n fro," Coal oreek' Dih'h I/o. 29 a. >,,: nt( fCH Uijudicated by
thIo Court; that sai~ patp~ is conv~ye~ throurh and by means of a pipe line,

tht3 h~ a:i of f!hic~ 1s 0:1 th" north bank of Coal CrA,;-k b~ t\fB~ n the head;.:ate

of' the Flora Ditch and the Coal Cree;, Hitch.

That in addition to said a~)J>ropriation BEd o::o1ginal construction

and use the said, Tiler Den. te!' r~ !ita Gr;1ndiS' Eal1road Com~ 3ny, ao shown by
J;lthe evl<'.!'i!!:I'.e. is the own~r by pUJ:'chase and daed fro P. H. Sht:.e ~;:( I_ Hnrtha

Shue (If' th~ e statut" Inches of Prlo~lty No. 31 In Ditch No. 29 ta~en froc

coal Cre-3E.., 3rld l::l!':}:1 Prlo:ritj' rl:JtrH~ f::-o..-: t~~. In! ':!: 1'l of Jun~, 1878, md

that such :r-irht io t.ereby ~ onfirned In said, Th" Deliver I, RJ" Orar.de Railr_

oad Cor:tpany. P.~spon,l~nt.

jg1



I

i

I
I
i
I
i

i
i
1,

I
1
I

i

I1lERl:FORE, it 19 h~ reby Ordered, adjudg~d 3nd deoreed to The IJenver
Rlo orand~ Railro~\ ConpAny, a oorporation, three stntut~ inches of

watsr per aecond Of til:1~ for rOMr purposes out of the waters f'lowing in
C?~_~'_?_~~~_.!!!__~! le ~5>>~~j'_ .Qf~Quray_ and state Qf ' J--0.!ora1~, !'hi~~- !;~1~ ~ fv:r

ity is , 1"-t~<1 as of the 30th" tRy Of August, 1887, for use for pow~r Purp08
es at what 18 kno~ as th~ Pl~~~ont Tate~ Ta,k on th~ line o/' the Denver &
Rio Grand~ Railroad Con:pany in the County of OurS!, and, state of Colorado,
and that the ol\ld The Denver & Rio Grande RaBroad Con;pany \fUS lawtully
entitled to the us~ and benef1t of said app~opriatlon as of the date here-
inabove aet forth b, virtue of appropriation and ori~ina1 conatruotion as

of the 30th de, Of August, la87; the same bei'~ hereb, desi~TInted as prior
ity NO 0 6 for pOY1er and domestio purpos~s knOI'71l as series 110 15.

And it ia fUrther orderedO; ad~udfed ahd ~ ecr..ed that t~e right ,
of th~ said ~ 1~ Denver k Rio Granie Rail~oad Company ln and to three etat-

utP. inches of ",,-tar Of Priority ll" 0 31 in Ditch No. 29 and datil!!: from

June 1st 0, 1876, io !lerr'f'Y " Onn!T.~d in $01,', Cm:rpony for ony ~ nd all proper
uses under and by virtlle or Mid original deoree in ";, ich said Priority No.

31, in favor of" P. I{ .Shue ancl lL3rtha Shul} , f!as r,T~ ntf';d : md . decrl}ed.

DOi'l.P. in O} Jen .: ou:-t

i';lFjl~~:1 ~ t~'/~nn.

Tnn<<...

Iff



c(" ~~~ . 
J-O8aTD'IO.a.n 07

OQtfr,...Uot........ ...,.... ta................. 1Iiil 0..:..

1,.'

CQ::;: f.:::~:,=~,~

O'.__}
N'

I, - _. --'--~.-JI,--J!~!! AA)lgjJ-,- Qllll'lI..__o.r__~htl" lliBtr111:t... 
I

a.e~,~,,_________QQIU',t________
n"'_ ___ __" _ in and for tM aforesaid County ,i,;J StaH,

do ,\ erelJy certify that tM lUUMn and fore/ oinl is '.:.. '{uU, true and correct (;()pyof
I)

1)1:. 8ncarta1n, wntel'_Decre,e,..1aBueJ:Lt0 _ The" DanYOrnA _ Rio, GrandA" Rlli1rond

Lol!!jl;my.--,!1C!!!~_,,~!>_Q'{' L!llll~,!< l,,_QQ)g'J_.__f!_I!.J!!_'!___"-?lIl'!,__l1.0_,,__i-Il,III11!,! l~__,Q!l__J:!.l~___

I and.__Q:f,,~, COrdn 1nth1,Bnoff1ce,

I _________________________,___________,____________ ____________________________________________________________________
I
I made from the ori/ inat p'lper.

I.Y TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I hOve hereunto set "' y hand

and aiJi.:ed, my officw.-l scat, at '!ny olftcc
in",_(!

lU'llY, __ _____'_________

in said County and State, thi-8,__,~_

th__
m___m_______________day of

o!~_Y.
L__

m____
mm_,___A. D.-U 1905.

7>

J~"~o:~:

I

tl

I'
II

II



I

q&J
t/ ;') " ,:t;"'---

W>1
1)
t""', (,.fl I'" 

c--'!
J"'" () Ii:.?

S~ ATF. OF COLORADO
SS III TEE DIITRICT COURT THERl'~OF.

COUNTY OF OUEAY,

IN TH~ } LO\ TlIER OF mJr.~ ADJlmICATION OF WATEH RIGHTS IN WATER

UISTRICT NO. 68, ON TH? PF.TITION OF A. B. WALTHER FOR AN ADJUDI:

CR~~ K

CATIon OF Hlf) RIGHT TO TRR USB OF TRS WA~ rRS OP
BRAVER..,

COAL CRT'~l~K.\

COTTONWOOD CR17K, AND CERTAIN SPRINGS IN TH~ VAL~~ OF COTmONWDOD '

CREEK, FOR D01ffiSTIC PtffiPOSPS.

Now on this day, the same being one of the regular judicial

days of the ~ bove entitled Court, for the June term thereof in the

year 1905, this cause came on to be heard on the petition of the

peti tioner, the answers of the respo!ldents Mary Ann Bouchel', Annie

Torrey, James MCLin, John Grigsby, A~ J. Hoskins and Earl Hoskins,

and on the 'cross petition of Dsve Zattoni and Tom' Sandy, and the

evidence offered in support thereof. The petitioner appearing

in his own proper pereon and by J. p. Cassedy, his attorney, and ~ he

responoents, Boucher, McLin, Torrey. Grig~by, Hoskins and Hoskins

appearing in their own respective persons and by their attorneys

Story & Story, and t':e cross- petitioners Zatton1 a.nd Sandy appear-

in their respective persons e,nd by their attorneys Story & Story,

and Woodhouse and Cbarles Joha~son, claimants to

a.n interest in the \ vaters of Beaver Creek, and D. B. Flora, claimant

to an interest in the waters of Coal Creek, anpearing in their own

proper persons without counsel and without answer; and thereupon

this cause is submitted to the Court on said petition, ans~erB and

cross petition and the evidence sllbmitted in sunport thereof; and

on consideration whereof the Court doth find:

Ist.- That upon the filing of the petit$on of petitioner a.n

order was made and entered direct:iJ: 16 that citation issue for all

parties who claimed or might claim any interest in or to the wa-

ters of Beaver Creek. Coal Creek or Cottonwood Creek, ' or to certa.in

S-prings in the valley of Cottonwood Creek; which said citation was

165



t: .

duly published as appears from the proof of publication on file in

this Court, for four successive weeks in the Ridgway Reporter, a

weekly newspaper of genera.l circulation published at Ridgway in the

County and state aforesaid; and that said oitations were posted in

fourteen public places in the said County of Ouray as required by

law, and that oopies of said citation were delivered ~ er6onally

to each of the above named parties who have entered their anpear-

ance herein more than twenty ,days previ-ous to the hearing on said

petition.

2nd, That water district No. 68 includes all the drainage

of the rncompahgre River and its tributaries south of latitude

380 , 201 north, and north of the San Juan eOlwty line, and is all

included wi thin the exterior bOlwdaries of the CI'unty of Ouray, and

that the said streams of Beaver Creek, Coal Creek and Cottonwood

Creek are all affluonts of the Uncompahgro River and situate whol-

ly within said water district No. 68.

3rd. That the petitioner A. E. Walther has dismissed that portion

of his petition setting forth his claim to domestic water from the

West Fork of Coal' Creek, and the ~~$~~ dents and cross petitioners

McLin, Torre~, Grigsby, Hoskins and Hoskins dls~iss their answer

and cross netition for the use of the waters of Coal Creok for do-

mestic nurposes, all of which seid dismissals are without prejudice.

4th,- That the netitioner 1s the owner of those certain dituhee,

pipe lines and reservoirs known and designated as follows: To- wit:

The Ridgway ~ itch, the' Otonowanda pipe line, the Ridgway pi~e line,

tho Happy Hollow ditch, the~HapPY Hollow pipe line 'and the Hanpy
Ullcl tbc Ridgway Resorvoi:t

HollOW Br!;!ce nipe line, the Otonowanda reservoir '
A
all of which,

taken together, constitute what is known as the R~~ gway Water System.

5th, - That the Ridgway Ditch has its initial point in the

S. E. t of 300. 17, twl'. 44, H. R. 8 W. H. M. P. M. on wnat is ~nown as

the East fork of Beaver Creek at a point about 50 rods North of

1-
1lt

166



East from the quarter stoJke on the south line of said section 17,

hortherly
and thence runs in a generalA~ irection to the point of disoharge

in otonowanda lake or resorvoir situa.te in the northwest quarter

of Sec.:-32, twp. 45, N. R. 8 W. N. M:. P. M a distance ,of a,bout four

miles, and has an auxiliary ditch or arm commencing on the middle
tcJ Ji\'

fork of Beaver Creek at a point about 40i't,9ds west from the quar-

ter stake on the south line of section 17, t~. 44 N. R. 8 W. N. M.

P . M. and thence runs, in a general northeasterly ~ irection to its

point of discharge in tho main Ridgway Ditch at the initial point

or headgR.te' thereof, ~ he length of said auiciliary ditch~e~ ng...~ .

feet, with a fee( er from a spring 168 feet below the head gate of

said auxiliary ditch, and thence running if;!. a northeasterly direc-

tion 152 feet where it emties into said auxiliary ditch; all of

y'
r1~

r I':

which are more partioularly described in the final decree entered

in the general adjudication of ,water rights in wator district No.

68, wherein said Ridgway ditch is designated as Ridgway Ditch No.

101, priority No. 131.

Otonowanda lake or reservoir is a natural basin or depress-

ion in the soil slightly enlarged by artificial moans; oblong in

shape, having its greatest length from east to west, and at its

greatest length is 1800 feet with a # idth of 1500 feet ut its

widest part, with an average depth of 18 feet, and i~ situated

wholly on lands belonging to ' Petitioner" in the NE. t of Sec. 32,

twp. 45 N. R. 8 W. N. I,f. P.) M., and has capaoity to oontain

32, 500, 000 oubic fe.et of water, and is used for the purpose of

storing the waters of Beaver Creek which are carried to said res-

ervoir by the Ridgway Ditch; which said w1:tter is used for domes-

tic purnoses in Fmd about the town of Ridgway and for irrigRtion

PUTl) OSeS in the neighborhood of said Otonowanda lake.

That Otonowanda pipe line is a redwood box or conduit 8 X 8

inches, ' set in the b'round with its intake. at or near the dis-

charge of the Ridgway Ditch, and runs in a general nortrdrly direc-

tion a little over two miles into the Ridgway ?:eservoir, into which

1ll{ '/
1'_ 0, .



r

it discharges and is used to carry water of Beaver Creek from Lake

Otonowanda and t'ILe Ridgway Ditoh to the Ridgway Reservoir, from.

whence the same is distributed among tll'(i:) inhabitants of the town

of Ridg~ay an~ vicinity through the Ridgway pipe line for domes-

tic ~ur~oses; it has a variable grade of from onti foot to twenty

feet to the 100, and has a carrying capacity ,of three sc~ ond feet;

work was commenced troreon on the first da.y of June, 1890, and

prosecuted continuously thereafter until completed and has e"ver

since beenusHd for the nurpoFo of C'arrying said water to the Ridg-

way Reservoir.

The Ridgway TIeservoir is an artificial basin in C~~ ar Cr~Qk

Dr" w, lying about 1/ 3 in t'he SE.{- of n.t and about 2/ 3 thereof in

the s. w. i of NE. t of Sec. 20, twp. 45 N. R. 8 W. N. Lf. P. M., the dam

thereof cros~ ing tho line betw~en said forties on a line

running : 3<;'/610 50' r.., from wh ioh s~ 1d - point the northwest corner

of the Uncomnahgre Hot Springs Reserve bears U. 530 J.5' E. 2310

feet distant; the greatest length of saiCl reBer'lToir i.tllt on the line

of t.he dam thereof and is 450 feet in length, and its grea.toEt w1l!bh

is at right angles to snid dam and is 180 feet, with an average depth

of 12 feet; it is used for a supply reservoir for the town of Ridg-

way for whioh it supplies wv.ter for domestio purposes, and has a

capacity of e,pproximB,tel~r 650, 000 cnlJic feet; it draw"s its supply

of water from the Ridgway Ditch and Otonowanda IJako through the

OtonoVlande Pipe Line, fmd from Cottonwood Creek and - the springs in

he valley thereof through the Hanpy HOllow Ditch alJd Happy Hallow

Pipe Lino, and is used for storing said waters ano for supplying the

inha.bitants of saicl town of P.iogway with water for Domestic purposes.
is an "

The.t the Ridgway 11ipe 11:hei' j\l iron pipe ranging from 12 inches

to 3/ 4 of an inoh in diameter. sunk in the ground to a depth suf-

ficient to ~ rotect the c0ntents thereof from freezing, with numer-

ous laterals or service pipe therewith; it has its intake at a point

near the center of the dam on. the northeast face of the Ridgway

reservoir, and thence rlms in a general' northeasterly direction to,

i_ C~8)R__ '-...V ,,~/ i.;)



upon and along the streets of the town ot Ridgway in sections 16

and 17, twp. 45 N. R. 8 W. N. M.? M. where it is useo. forsnpplying

water to the inhabitants of said town for domestio purposes; that

the total length of the said Ridgway pipe line, together with the

various laterals and service pipe conneoted therewith, Is 15. 000

feet: that work on the Ridgwny Ditch, the otonowanda pipe line,

the Ridgway Pipe Line, the Otonowanda Reservoir and the Ridgway

Reservoir was commenced on the first day of June, 1890. and l'ros-

w5uJ
1,0

ecuted continuously thereafter until completed, That thE} Ridgway

pipe line has a grade of 3 inches to the rod and a carrying oapac-

ity of six seoond feet.

That the Happy Hollow Ditch has its initial point or head-

gate on the east bank of Cottonwood Creek at4 a point whenoe the

S"'i. t of 300. 20, Twp. 45 U. R. 8 W. IT. M. F. U. bears S. 280 45' w.

2396 feet distant, thence runs in a general northeasterly direction

2227 feet to a ' Point din the SE. ' of nE.~ of Sec. 20,~ twp. 45 N. R.

8 W. N. U. P. H. where it discharges into the Ridgway Reservoir, at

a point whence the NW. oorner of the Uncompahgre Hot Springs Re-

serve bears N. 540 30' E. 2385 feet distant; it is 2 feet wide at

the bottom, 2 feet vide s.t the top, Ii feet deep t. 
with 8. grs,de of

two inches to the rod and a carrying capacity of five second feet;

that wo~k was commenced on the Ha~py Hollow Ditch on the first

day of 1~ roh, 1892 and prosecuted oontinuously thereafter until

oompleted on or about the first day of December, 1892, it draws

its sunply of water from Cottonwood Creek and oertain Springs in

the valley thereof, through which said ditch' the waters of Cotton-

wood Creek and said Springs have ever since been carried tprough

the Ridgway pipe line to the town of Ridgway where the same have

been used ever since ~ hQ first day of Deoember, 1892 fordomespic

fI. -
purposes.

hat the Happy Hollow nipe Line has its, head gate at a

t
c -'

10 catch basin for a number of Springs on the east bank of Cottonwood

Creek at a point in the SF. t of NE.~ Sec. 3l. twp. 45N. R. 8 W.

N. M. P. M. whence the northeast oorner of said seotion 31 belE~
j_69

J r I
H/



N. 220JE. 1830 feet distant, and thence runs in a general north-

easterly direction 10, 586 feet where it discharges into said reser-

voir at the same ~ oint ,that the Happy Hollow ditch discharges; that

said pipe line ,oonsists of iron pipe 12 inches in digmeter at its

inlet and gradually diminishes to a pipe six inches in di~ eter,

at which diameter it oontinues to the point of discharge; said

pipe line is sunk in the ground to Q depth of three feet, has a

grade of 2 inches to the rod and a carrying capacity of four

second.. 
feet.

at the Happy HollOW Branch Pipe Line has its initial

point at a catch basin for the water of several springs in the

NE. t pf mv. l 3eo. 29, 45 N. R. 8 W. U. U; P. M. ' at a point whence the

nqr~4w~~ t q~~~~ r of said section 29 bears N. 720 W. 1510 feetdistunt,

lirid "thenco: ritns in e ,; cneral northeasterly direct ion ..i. distanc(; of ].t80' '
1:~ t"1:r{tt,. where it conneots with and discharges into the Happy Hol-

low pipe line at a point 3309 feet above the discharge thereof;

that the Happy Bre,nch Pipe Line is constructed of pipe of the same

kind, character a~d dimensions, and is sunk in the ground in the

l

sa.me wa.y, as the Hsnpy Hollow Pipe Line, has a grade of twonin6hes

to the rod and a carrying eapacity of four second fe6t.

Th,at the Ha.,py HOllow Pipe Line a,nd the Happy Hollow Branch

Pipe Line draw their source or supply of water from Cottonwood

Creek and the aforesaid Springs, and carry the same water claimed

herein through and under the Happy Hollow Ditch, with a priority

of the same date as the Hanpy HollOW Ditch, which said water is

used through the Ridgway pipe line in and about the town of Ridg-

way for domestic pur~oses. That Vlork was commenced on the Happy

Hollow Eipe Line and the Happy Holly Brance Pipe Line on the first

iJ;}

day of October. 1904 and that, while not fUlly completed are now

in use. and that the water carried through said pipe lines and

claimed thereunder is the same water appropriated and used hereto-

fore through the HaDpy Hollow Ditch under a priority as ~ f the

first day of 14arch, 1892.

6th.- That the reSpondent : rary Ann Boucher is the owner\:of

the Tidwell Ditch No. InO. priority No. 127 for 3/ 8 of one second 4~

ii-tO



foot of water, bearing date of April 15, 1882 for irrigation pur-

poses, and that the said respondent claims the right to use and is

entitled to the use of t of one second foot of the waters of

Cottonwood Creek for domestic ~ urposes, to be carried through said

Tidwell Ditch to and upon the lands of respondent situate in Sec.

17, fwP. 45 N. R. 8 W. N. It. P. M. . and more particularly described in

the/ 60nere.l decree adjudicating water rights in water district No.

unde1a priority to be known as Pri.No. 7r,;second seriesr;;Di tClh No . 100
68, where the same is designe.ted as Tidwell Ditch No. 100, and to

bear date as of the 15th, day of April, 1890.

7th.- That in tho town of Ridgway. and in the vicinity there-

of .there are ' something in excess of 500 consumers of water for
all

domestic purposes, who draw their water supplyAfrom and through

the Ridgway water system,. besides certain other uses, for stock,

for feeding boilers, for heating purposes, etc.

8th,- T hat during a large portion of the irrigat1~p se~-

son the amount of water running in Beaver, Creek, the West arm of

Coal Creek, Cottonwwod Creek and the Springs, in the valley there-

of, is so reduced in quantity that it does not exceed three second

feet from all of said sources, and that there have already been

adjudicated for irrigation purposes out of the waters of said

streams not less than 45 second feet, so that for. a large portion

of the irrigation season absolutely no water can be . acquired from

any of the sources from which the Ridgway water system draws its

supply to be used for irrigation purposes. .

9th. - That because of the shortage of water in Beaver

Creek, Cottonwood Creek and the wo:s1t arm of Coal Creek, and the

various springs hereinab6'v-ec referred to, for several months. during

the irrigation season, it is absolu.tely necessary that at the time

and times during the year when there is a surplus of water, or when

it is not being used for irrigation, the petitioner should be al-

lowed to store the water nwarced to him, or so much thereof as is

not in constant use, in the Otonowanda and Ridgway Reservoirs.

10th. - Tha,t at least five second feet, under all the

17i



circumstances developed by the evidence in this case, is necessary

to insure that the inhabitants af the town of Ridgway have a suf-

ficiency of water for domestic purposes.

11 th . - That the respondents and cross petitioners Dave

Zattoni and Tom Sandy are the owners of that certain ditch known

as the Zattoni Ditch which has its initial point or headgate on the

west bank of the south or middle fork of Coal Creek 100 rods from

R.
north of east the southeast corner of Sec. 17, twp. 44 N'

A
8 W.

N. M. P. M. in said County of 'Ouray, and thence rUBS in a northwest-

erly direction to the West Fork of Coal, Creek, and thence in a.

northerly direction to the lands of the said Zattoni and Sandy,

to- wit: the NW.! SE. t. NE.,*, SW. t Seo. 33, twp. 45 N. R. 8 W.

N. M. P. M. comprising in all 160 acres. That said Zattoni Ditch is

It feet wide at the bottom" 2 feet wide at the top, It feet dee-p,

with a grade of 40 feet to tho mile and a carrying capacity of

four second feet; that wonk was commenced on said ditch on the

first day of June, 1901 and prosecuted oontinuously thereafter

until comuleted; that said Zattoni Ditch draws its suppl~ of water

from the south or middle fork of Coal Creek and from the west fork

of Coal Creek, whioh said wa.ter is used by said respondents zat:..

tont and S~ ndy for irrigating purposes and for domestic use on

the lands herein desoribed~

l2th.- ~ lat s~ id cross petitioners gaitoni and Sandy culti-

vate about 40 aore.s of the above described lands on whioh they raise

hay, grain and vegetables, and that it will require one second foot

of water for the nroper irrigation of said lands.

l3~h.- That said oross petitioners claim the right to use

and are entitled to the use of the waters of the south or middle

fork ofCaal Creek and the West Fork of Coal Creek, 9, statute

inches of water for domestic purposes. That not to exceed three

statute inches of said water so olaimed for domestic purposes shall

be drawn from the west arm of Caul Creek at any time, and that at

no time shall any more be drawn from the west arm of Coal Creek than

shall be sufficient, taken in connection with that drawn from the
1-72

t.."



2MP;
east or middle fork of Coal Creek, to make the quantity of 9, statute

inches to which said cross petitioners are entitled for domestic

purposes.

14th. - That the said Zattoni Ditch shall be known and desig-

nated as ditch No. 124, and thut the water awarded thereto shall be

designated as nriority No. 146, for irrigation nurposes, and as pri-

ority No. 16 & 17, of the second series for domestic purposes.

l5th.- That petitioner dismisses all claims set u~ in his

petition to a change of the points of diversion of the waters a'ilP"# rd-
Ii<

ed to the Cottonwood Ditch No. 69, priority No. 75, and to the

Jones ditch No. 97. priority No. 122.

16th.- That netitioner dismisses all claims made inhis. said

Petition to tbc waters of Cottonwood Creek through the Happy Hol-

low Di tch, the HapTlY hollow Pipe Line, and the Ha:ppy Hollow Branch

pipe Line, or either of them for irrigation purposes.

l7th.- That petitioner dismisses the cJ:ikim made in his pe-

ti tion to tl:E-; waters of the 1/ est Fork of 'Coal Creek, the waters of

BeavGr Creek and to the v~aters of Cottonwood Creek, and the waters

of the Springs in the valley thereof, for storage nurposes, other

than his right to store so mush of the waters of Beaver Creek, Cot-

tonwood Creek und the Springs in the valley thereof, as may be

awarded to him for domestic, purposes.

18th.- That petitioner is and shall be entitled to store

so much of the five second feet of the waters of Beaver Creek, Cot-

tonwood Creek and the Springs in the valley thereof. herein awarded

to him for domestic nurposes. in the said OtonowHnda and Eidgway

Reservirs as may not be required at Rny time for actual use for

domes tic pur-poses, in ora.er that 11 SU1) ply may alwRYs be had in said

reservoirs to cover the shortage of water during the itrigation

season, in said streams.

19th.- That the .hidgvray Ditch shall 1)0 known und designated

as ditch No. 101, priority No. 8. second s~ ries: thut the Otonowanda

pipe line shall be known and desigr..
L'" ..:1 as Ditch no. , 120, priority,

No. 9, socond series; That tho Ridgway pipe line shall be known and

1i"'i3 / f :.



designated as ditch No. 121, priority No. lO~ seco~d series; that

the Happy Hollow D1tah shall be known a.nd d.cs 19natet: as d ~ teh No.

122, priority No. 11 second series; that the Hanpy liollow ripe Line

and the Happy Branch Pipe J.Jj. ne shall 1~ e known aBd designated as

ditch No. 123, and as priorities Nos. 12 and 13, second spries; that

the Ridgway RCf< e:rvoir shall b~ known as reQurvoir No. 1,-".:riority

No. 14 ~ ccono werios; and the Otonowanda reservoir shall be known

as Reservoir No. 2, priority No. 15, second series;

2Qt:h. That the prioritios of the Ridgway Ditch, the OtonO\1S.n-

dt. p1.pe:' l:1lne, the Ridgwlil.Y pipe line, the Ridgway reservoir end the

Otonowanda reservoir shall bear date as of the 1st, d-El,y of June', 1890.

and that the priorities of the Haopy Hollow Ditch, the Happy Hollow

Pipe Line and the Ha.ppy HoJ.lo'w Branch Pipe Line shall l'ear dat.e as of

the 1st, day of lilarch, 1892.

21st. - That all of the awards ~ ade herein shall be subject

to a1J. ve1id, subf:l,~sting; awarn~ heretofDre made that are prior to

the priorities herein fixed and determined.

IT IS THERPtFORE CONSID? RED, ADJUDGED AND DTI; C5Er.D BY S~RE

COURT, that there 1) 6 allowed to flow into the Hanpy HollOW Di teh No.

122 , priority no., 11, second serios; and into the Hanpy HOllow -pipe /'

line and the Happy Hollow Brunch pipe line, Ditch No. 123, priorities

Nos, 12 and 13, second series; TWO( 2) CBCOlm FFET of the waters of

f

Cottonwood Creeknnd of certnin Springs in the valley tl1ereof, to be

used in and a.bout the town of Ridgway, for domestic purposes, under

a priority to bear date as of the 1st, day of l,loarch, 1892, which ss,id

V.

priorities shall be known as priorities Nos. 11, 12, and 13, second

series.
AND IT IS FTffiTBtR ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND D~ CREE~ BY THF COURT;

THAT THI~RJ~ BE ATJLOW]~ to flow into the Ridgway ditch Uo. 101, prior-

ity No. 8, second seriee; FIVE ( 5) second feet, of the waters of

Beaver Creek, to be used for domestic purnosos in s.nd about the

town of Ridgway, to be conve~Ted there through the suid Ridgway Ditch,

tho Otonowanda Reservoir, the Otonowanda Pipe Line, tho Ridgway Re~~ 4l

ervoir and the Ridgway Pipe Line. which said water shall include
41.



0nters drawn from the east fork of BeaverCreek, the middle fork of

Beaver through the Ridgway auxiliary ditch and the Spri~ near the

head of the auxiliary ditch, carried thereto ~ rough the feeder; but

in no case shall the amount of water allowod to flow into said Ridg-

way ditch from all of said sources, exoeed ~ n amount suffioient when

added to that which is then being disoharged into the Ri~gway Reser-

voir through the Ha ppy HollowDi tch, the Hap}>y Hollow .Pipe Line and

the Happ~: Hollow Branch Pipe Line, will make a total of Five (5)

eecomd feet of water, which amount of wat~r so awarded from Beaver

Creek for domestic uses, shall hav~ a priority under clate of the

1st, day of June l8~O, and be designated as Eriority No. 8, seoond

series.

And Be It Furthered Ordered and Decreed by the Court, that

the petitioner may store any of the waters herein awarded to him,

when the same, is not required' for irnmedi,ate use for domestic pn:n-

poses in the Ridgway and Otonowanda Reservoirs.

AlID IT IS FUWrHER C.Ol~SIDERED, ADJUDGED AND D:RCRE":' D by the

Court, that there be Rllowed to flow into the Tidwell Ditch No. 100,

onefourthof one second foot of the waters of Cottonwood Creek, to be /'

used in, upon and about the residence of the respondent Mary Ann', V
Boucher in section 17, T. 45 N. R. 8 W. N. U. P. l!. for domestic pur-

P:) ses, under a priority to boar date as of the 15th da,y of April

1890, and to be designated as Priority No. 7, second series.

And It Is Further Ordered and Decreed by the Court, that

there be allowed to flow into the _~_att_?J:l~. ?i~.r;}~__ No. 124. from the

80uth or Middle fork' of Coal Creek and from the west fork of Coal

Creek, One ( 1) second foot of ,water to be used on section 33 in T.

45 N. of R. 8 W. : a. U. p. ll. for irrigation purposes, to bear da.te

as af the 1st day of June 1901, and to be designated as priority No.

146.
And Be It Further Ordered and Decre..ciby the Court, that

there be allowed to flow into the Zattoni Ditch No. 124, Uine ( 9)

statute inches of tho waters of the south or middle fork of Coal

11754' 1



Creek, to be used for domestio pllr1ioaee, by the respondents and

oross petitioners J.attoni s.nd Sandy, on seotion 33 in T. 45 !I. R.

8 W. N.: M. P. M. under a priority to bear date as of the 1st, day of

June 1901, to be designated as priority No. 16, seoond series.

And Be It Furthered Ordered and Decreed by the Court, tha.t

there be allowed to flow into the Zattoni Ditch No. 124 from the

West Fork of Coal Creek, Three( 3) Statute inohes of water to be

used by the oross- petitioners Zattoni and Sandy, for domestic pur-

poses, upon Sect ion 33 in T. 45 N. R. 8 VI. U. I!. P. L1. under e, nriori ty

o, be.ar datp!as of the 1st , day of June 1901, but in no case shall

any water be allowed to flow into the Zattoni Ditch, from the West

Fork of Coal Creek, when the we,ter flowing therein from the south

or middle Fork of Coal Creek shall be equal to ( 9) nine statute

inches, for domestic purposes; and in no case shall the total

amount of water taken from the west fork of Coal Creek for domes-

tio pur, oses, exceed an amount sufficient, when added to that taken

from the south or middle fork of Coal Creek to make' ( 9) statute

inches of water; which said water so awarded from the west fork of

Coal Creek shall be designated as Priority No. I?, second series.

AND IT IS' FURTHER OHDJ3RBD, AD.TUDGBD AND n:r.Cm:ED, . that the

cos.ts of this proceed ing l)e prorated as followtto - wit:

1)- That the costs growing out of the filing of the answers

and cross- netitions of respondents, Boucher, Grigsby, Hoskins,

Hoskins and UcLin, be paid by said respondents.

2).- 1'hat the costs growing out of the filing of the an+;-

swer and cross- petition of the respondents Zattoni and Sandy, be

paid by said :r~Slp~ nlGli~ t8'. '.\t~,. 1 "";"

3).- That allother costs of this proceeding be paid by'

petitioner,
DONE III OP~ N COURT, this 2nd",; day of August, 1~)05.

1beron stevens.

OK.
J. P. Cassedy.

Atty for petitioner.

story & Story

Atty' s for reapond,ents.

Judge

i\""/6

LIS"



r,

State of Colorudo )
SS

County of Ouray. )

I, W. R. Middaugh, Clerk oitha Diattiot

Court of Ouray' County, the same being a Court of Record,

in the state aforesa~d, do horeby certify tho above and fore-

going to be a true, perfeot and cOl'YlTlleto copy of a cert&in

water Decree in Water District No" 68,' had and entered of record

in the above said Court, wherein A. E. Walther, was petitioner, as

the same is of recOrd and on file in this offioe.

IN ~ ITNESS WHBREOF, I have hereunto set my hand end

affixed the seal of said Court, at Oultay, this lOth day of

Nov. A. D. 1905.

Signed) W. H. Middaugh, Clerk.

Seal)

j"" ~
h '; i
i\~ ~

t/ '1'



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A: 
Water Right Decrees 

 
Case No. W-1305, Beaver Creek Springs 

  



1: 7

FN`       T'; 6" i' Con.
t^ ri,r r p Jt4J a

77( w7
i 

IN THE DISTRICT COURT
T,   t r l073

IN AND FOR WATER DIVISION 04 L- <--"    

STATE OF COLORADO

Case No.

IN THE MATTER OF THE APPLICATION FOR    )
WATER RIGHTS OF THE TOWN OF RIDGEWAY    ) AMENDED
IN THE UNCOMPAHGRE RIVER OR ITS RULING OF WATER REFEREE
TRIBUTARIES;  TRIBUTARIES INVOLVED: 
BEAVER' CREEK,  IN THE COUNTY OF OURAY    )

The applicant,  The Town of Ridgeway,  c/ o Terence J.
Quinn,  P. O.   Box 646 ,  Ouray,  Colorado 81427,  requests the right

to use spring water for domestic purposes in the Ridgeway Ditch.
Filed August 22 ,  1972 .

In opposition,  Wayland Phillips,  c/ o David W.  Griffith,
1405 Arapahoe Avenue,  Boulder,  Colorado 80302 ,  claiming adverse
affect to existing decrees.

FINDING OF FACT

The Ridgeway Spring No.   2 ,  The Ridgeway Spring No.   3,  The
Austin Spring,  are all tributary to Beaver Creek,  a tributary of
Dallas Creek,  which is tributary to the Uncompahgre River in Ouray
County and Water District No.   68.

Said springs are described as being located as follows:

Ridgeway Spring No.   2  --  400 feet more or less North of the
headgate of the Ridgeway Ditch,  which headgate is described •
as being located in the Southwest Quarter of Section 17 ,
Township 44 North,  Range 8 West,  N. M. P. M.  about 50 rods
Northeast of the Quarter stake on the South Line of said
Section 17.

Ridgeway Spring No.   3  -  950 feet more or less North of the
same Ridgeway Ditch as described.

The Austin Spring  -  is described as being located at a
point from whence the.  Southeast corner of Section 17 ,
Township 44 North,  Range 8 West,  N. M. P. M. ,  bears South
61130 '  East a distance of 1, 950 feet more or less.

The three springs as described are tributary to Beaver
Creek and are subject to call by senior priorities in Beaver Creek; ' .
however,   since the construction of the Ridgeway Ditch which traverses
the natural channel flow of each spring allowing each spring to flow
direct into said ditch,  all ofthe flow of each has been allowed to
comingle with water decreed to the said Ridgeway Ditch to the benefit
of all users thereof.

The Ridgeway Spring No.   2 is said to produce 10 G. P. M,  or
022 c. f. s.   of water.

The Ridgeway Spring No.   3 is said to produce 12 G. P. M.  or
026 c. f. s.  of water.



The Austin Spring is said to produce 60 G. P. M.  or13 c. f. s.  of water.

Stith the Town of Ridgeway and the protestant,  WaylandPhillips claim and may own some right in the Ridgeway Ditch.    Anydecree written for the springs at this date is subject to call from
Beaver Creek and a measuring device must by constructed in the
Ridgeway Ditch immediately downstream from the point of entry ofthe Austin Spring for administrative purposes.

No adverse effect can be determined to any Oppositiondecree.

R U L I N G

IT IS THE RULING OF THE REFEREE that water arising out ofthe Ridgeway Spring No.   2 ,  the Ridgeway Spring No.   3,  and the AustinSpring has been appropriated and applied beneficially,  and that the
Ridgeway Ditch is approved and granted an absolute decree not toexceed  . 22 c. f. s.   from the Ridgeway Spring .No.   2,   . 026 c. f. s.  from theRidgeway Sprang No.   3,  and  . 13 c. f. s.   from the Austin Spring,  forirriga.tion: and for domestic purposes,  with an appropriation date ofJune 1,   1890 .     It is the intent ofthis ruling that water belongingto the Town of Ridgeway,  decreed to the Ridgeway Ditch,  is not in-
creased hereby.

Dated

E. L.  WILSON

r

Water Referee
Division No.   4

ITO protest W'AJ Mod in this Matter;
Tho foregoing ruling is conftrn   .
nd appro0d a and is Made tho

J'adsm ut and Door$# of thid ddurt b



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A: 
Water Right Decrees 

 
Case No. 96CW076, Hyde Sneva Ditch 

  



1""-"--.

t;.
Yt

Case No. 96CW076

Filed 'n The District Court
W~ter Olvi~ion Fnllf

APR 1 ..,.

KtY PNUipI. Qlo(k

DATe OF MAlLIN G

I
1-11- 97

DISTRICT COURT, WATER DIVISION 4, COLORADO

j

FINDINGS AND RULING OF THE REFEREE AND JUDGMENT AND DECREE OF

THE WATER COURT -

CONCERNING THE APPLICATION FOR WATER RIGHTS OF THE SOUTH RIDGWAY

PARTNERSHIP AND ROBERT SAVATH, IN OURAY COUNTY.

THIS MATTER has come before the Referee on an Application for Change of Water

Right (the " Application") filed by the Applicants, South Ridgway Partnership and Robert Savath.

The Referee, having reviewed the Application and other pleadings in this case, and having

considered the Division Engineer' s Consultation Report in accordance with C. R. S. ~ 37- 92-

302(2)( a), ( 4), and now being fully advised with respect to this matter, hereby enters the

following Findings and Ruling of the Referee and Judgment and Decree of the Water Court.

I. FINDINGS

1. A properly verified Application was filed by the Applicants on April 30, 1996,

and was timely published in the Water Court Resume for Water Division No. 4, and in a

newspaper of general circulation in Ouray County, in accordance with C. RS. ~ 37- 92-302( 3).

2. The name and address of the Applicants are as follows:

South Ridgway Partnership
1700 Lincoln Street, Suite 1725

Denver, Colorado 80203

Robert Savath

c/ o South Ridgway Partnership
1700 Lincoln Street, Suite 1725

Denver, Colorado 80203

3. A timely Statement of Opposition was filed by the Dallas Creek Water Company.

No other statements of opposition were filed and the time for filing any additional opposition has

expired. On November 7, 1996, the Division Engineer issued his Consultation Report as

required by C.RS. ~ 37-92-302(2)( a), ( 4), 15 C.RS. ( 1996) and the Referee has considered the

same. .

4. Timely and adequate notice of the Application was given in the manner required

by law. All persons affected by the Application, whether appearing or not, are parties hereto

1)

U tv ~.. J. 'T . 1/' c~.



and are bound by this Ruling, all notices required by law having been given, and the Referee

having jurisdiction over the subject of this proceeding; See C.R.S. ~~ 37- 92-203 and 37- 92-302.

5. The Application seeks a change in the point of diversion and place of use for the

Applicants' portion of the Hyde-Sneva Ditch water rights.

A. The Applicants seek to change their entire 1.1146 c. f.s. interest in the

subject Hyde-Sneva Ditch water rights, comprised of 0. 925 c. f.s. of

Priority No. 42 and 0. 1896 c. f.s. of Priority No. 100.

B. Both priorities of the Hyde-Sneva Ditch water rights at issue in this case

were originally decreed on May 15, 1897, by the Findings and Decree of

the District Court of the Seventh Judicial District, Sitting in and for Ouray

County. The decreed point of diversion of the Hyde-Sneva Ditch water

rights is at a point on the south bank of Dallas Creek, a tributary of the

Uncompahgre River, near the center of the NE 1/4 of the NE 1/ 4 of

Section 7, Township 45 North, Range 8 West, N.M.P. M., Ouray County,

as shown on the attached Exhibit A. The appropriation dates for the

subject water rights is October 1, 1880 for Priority No. 42 and May 1,

1886 for Priority No. 100.

C. Historic Use: The subject Hyde-Sneva Ditch water rights have historically

been used to irrigate approximately 36 acres of land in the SW 1/4 of

Section 16, Township 45 North, Range 8 West, N.M.P.M., as identified

on the attached Exhibit A.

6. Description of Proposed Change: The Applicants request the following change

in the point of diversion and a place of use of their interest in the Hyde-Sneva Ditch water

rights.

A. Alternate points of diversion: The Applicants seek to establish two

additional alternate points of diversion to the existing point of diversion

for the Hyde-Sneva Ditch: one at the headgate of the Dallas Ditch, and the

other at a well located on the " South Ridgway Partnership Property"

depicted on Exhibit A.

1) The decreed headgate of the Dallas Ditch is located at a

point on the East Fork of Dallas Creek ( tributary to Dallas

Creek, tributary to the Uncompahgre River) whence the

Southwest Comer of Section 24, Township 45 North,

Range 9 West, N.M.P. M. bears North 510 East 498 feet,

as depicted on the attached Exhibit A. The Applicants own

1.1 c. f.s. of the Dallas Ditch water rights and request the

right to divert their interests in both the Hyde-Sneva and

2-



Dallas Ditches at the Dallas Ditch headgate. The

Applicants are not requesting a change of their Dallas Ditch

water rights.

2) The Applicants also request the right to divert their Hyde-
Sneva Ditch rights at existing Well No. 7687, located in

the SW 1/ 4 SW 1/4 Section 16, Township 45 North, Range
8 West, N.M.P. M., Ouray County, as shown on the

attached Exhibit A. Well No. 7687 was permitted for

domestic purposes on January 5, 1961.

B. Change in place of use: The Applicants also request a decree changing
the place of use of their interest in the Hyde-Sneva Ditch water rights.
The Applicants propose to use the subject Hyde-Sneva Ditch water rights

to supply water for the irrigation of lawns and gardens within the Solar

Ranches Subdivision, and open space irrigation, all within the property

designated on Exhibit A as " South Ridgway Partnership Property". The

area to be irrigated is located within the SE 1/4 of Section 17 and the SW

1/4 of Section 16, Township 45 North, Range 8 West, N.M.P. M.

7. Well No. 7687 is approximately 600 feet from the Uncompahgre River. Any

stream depletions caused by withdrawals of ground water through that well will not be

appreciably lagged and thus, such withdrawals will affect the Uncompahgre River in

approximately the same time as depletions through surface diversions at the Hyde-Sneva Ditch.

8. Diversions at the Dallas Ditch headgate take water from the same watershed as

those at the Hyde-Sneva Ditch headgate. Diverting all or a portion of the subject rights at the

Dallas Ditch headgate will not materially alter the historic exercise of the subject rights, except,

perhaps, during the late irrigation season, when the source of supply at the original headgate of

the Hyde-Sneva Ditch water rights is comprised of return flows that are not available at the

headgate of the Dallas Ditch. Accordingly, during that period, when water is available at the

Hyde-Sneva Ditch headgate from sources other than the mainstem of Dallas Creek, which would

satisfy Applicants' Hyde-Sneva Ditch water rights, the Applicants shall not divert the subject

Hyde-Sneva Ditch water rights at the Dallas Ditch headgate so as to injure intervening junior
water rights between the locations of the Hyde-Sneva and Dallas Ditch headgates.

9. The Applicants propose to limit diversions under this change at the three proposed
diversion points to a total flow rate equal to the Applicants' portion of the decreed priorities of

the Hyde-Sneva Ditch, Le., 0. 925 c.f.s. of Priority No. 42 and 0. 1896 c. f.s. of Priority No.

100. These diversions are in addition to diversions made pursuant to the Applicants' Dallas

Ditch water rights. Pursuant to this change, diversions will occur only when the Hyde-Sneva

Ditch is in priority.

3-



10. The Applicants further propose to use the subject rights to irrigate not more than

36 acres, consistent with historic use. This limitation shall not preclude the use by the

Applicants of their Dallas Ditch water rights and the subject Hyde-Sneva Ditch water rights for

the irrigation of the entire South Ridgway Partnership depicted on Exhibit A. The number of

acres so irrigated shall be allocated to each of the rights in proportion to the amount of water

diverted in priority under each of them.

11. The proposed change of water rights described in the preceding paragraphs 6

through 10 will not injuriously affect any owner of or persons entitled to use water under a

vested water right or a decreed conditional water right.

12. The changes of water rights decreed herein are, as a matter of law, permissible
and come within the definition of a " change of water right" authorized by statute. See C. R.S.

37-92- 103( 5).

13. The terms and conditions as set forth in this Ruling are adequate to prevent injury
to the owners of, or persons entitled to use, water under a vested water right or a decreed

conditional water right. See C. R.S. ~ 37- 92- 305( 3) and ( 4).

14. This Ruling is administrable by the water officials of the State of Colorado.

II. RULING OF THE REFEREE

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that the foregoing

Findings are incorporated herein and that the Application for Change of Water Right filed by
South Ridgway Partnership and Robert Savath is hereby GRANTED, subject to the terms and

conditions set forth in this Ruling.

1. Name and address of Applicant:

South Ridgway Partnership
1700 Lincoln Street, Suite 1725

Denver, Colorado 80203

Robert Savath

c/ o South Ridgway Partnership
1700 Lincoln Street, Suite 1725

Denver, Colorado 80203

2. Mailing address of Applicant:

c/ o Wayne F. Forman, Esq.
Brownstein Hyatt Farber & Strickland, P. C.

410 17th Street, 22nd Floor

4-



Denver, Colorado 80202

3. Name of structures for which change is decreed: Hyde-Sneva Ditch.

4. Location of existing structure:

The decreed point of diversion of the Hyde-Sneva Ditch water rights is at a point on the

south bank of Dallas Creek near the center of the NE 1/4 of the NE 1/4 of Section 7, Township

45 North, Range 8 West, N.M.P. M., Ouray County, as shown on the attached Exhibit A.

5. Description of water rights subject to change:

1.1146 c. f.s. in the Hyde-Sneva Ditch comprised of 0. 925 c. f.s. of Priority No. 42 and

0. 1896 c.f.s of Priority No. 100, decreed on May 15, 1897, in the Findings and Decree of the

District Court of the Seventh Judicial District, Sitting in and for Ouray County, with

appropriation dates of October 1, 1880 for Priority No. 42 and May 1, 1886 for Priority No.

100. The decreed source of the subject right is Dallas Creek, tributary to the Uncompahgre

River.

6. Description of change of water rights:

The point of diversion and place of use of the subject Hyde-Sneva Ditch water rights are

changed as follows:

A. The Applicants may divert all or any portion of the subject Hyde-Sneva

Ditch water rights in priority at the originally decreed headgate or at two

alternate points of diversion: one at the headgate of the Dallas Ditch and

one at Well No. 7687.

1) The headgate of the Dallas Ditch is decreed at a point on the East

Fork of Dallas Creek ( tributary to Dallas Creek, tributary to the

Uncompahgre River) whence the Southwest Comer of Section 24,

Township 45 North, Range 9 West, N.M.P. M. bears North 510

East 498 feet, as depicted on the attached Exhibit A.

2) Well No. 7687 is located in the SW 1/4 SW 1/4 Section 16,

Township 45 North, Range 8 West, N.M.P.M., Ouray County,

shown on the attached Exhibit A. Well No. 7687 was permitted
for domestic purposes on January 5, 1961.

B. The subject Hyde-Sneva Ditch water rights may be used to supply water

for the irrigation of lawns and gardens within the Solar Ranches

subdivision, and for open space irrigation, all within the property

designated on Exhibit A as " South Ridgway Partnership property". The

5-



total area to be irrigated comprises 96 acres located in the SE 1/ 4 of

Section 17 and the SW 1/4 of Section 16, Township 45 North, Range 8

West, N. M.P. M. Said rights shall be limited to a maximum of 36 acres

of irrigation at anyone time. Applicant shall be entitled to irrigate the

entire 96 acre property with its Hyde-Sneva Ditch and Dallas Ditch water

rights, so long as the Hyde-Sneva Ditch rights, on a pro rata basis, do

not irrigate more than 36 acres at anyone time.

C. Diversions at the three alternate points of diversion shall not exceed the

flow rate of the Applicants' portion of the Hyde-Sneva Ditch water rights.

All such diversions shall be made only when the subject Hyde-Sneva Ditch

rights are in priority.

D. Upon a showing that water is available at the Hyde-Sneva Ditch headgate

to satisfy the Applicants' Hyde-Sneva Ditch water rights from sources

other than the mainstem of Dallas Creek, the Applicants shall not divert

the subject rights at the Dallas Ditch headgate alternate point of diversion

so as to cause injury to junior water rights on Dallas Creek between the

points of diversion of the Hyde-Sneva and Dallas Ditch headgates.

7. Prior to utilizing Well No. 7687 for the purposes described in this Ruling, the

Applicant shall submit an application to the State Engineer for an amended well permit. Upon

such application, the State Engineer shall consider this Rulinr: in making his

determination of the Application.

8. Pursuant to C. R.S. ~ 37-92-304(6), the Court shall retain jurisdiction over this

matter for * if in order to reconsider, if necessary, the question of injury to the vested

rights of others. Applicant shall notify the Court when the well is in service.

three years after the well is put into service.

6-



DATED this J!:L~y of H~ 1997.

A3IOA~ ~
Water Referee

Water Division No. 4

THE COURT DOTH FIND THAT NO PROTEST TO THE RULING OF THE

REFEREE HAS BEEN FILED. THE FOREGOING RULING IS CONFIRMED AND

APPROVED, AND IS HEREBY MADE THE JUDGMENT AND DECREE OF THIS COURT.

Date: 5-BJf7

MaRed.A Copy of thrs Document to

aU parties in this case.

DOCAi:i -~~~ ~
Kay Phiilips, Water Clerk ~~

BY THE COURT:

Hon. Robert A. Brown

District Judge
Water Division No. 4

7-



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A: 
Water Right Decrees 

 
Case No. 99CW265, Ridgway Pump Station No. 1 

  



DATE Of MAIUNG Filed in the Disir' ci Coto
p Water Division 4

JUN 1 2000
DISTRICT COURT, WATER DIVISION NO. 4, COLORADO

Kay Phi i; ps, Clerk of Court

CASE NO. 99CW265

FINDINGS AND RULING OF REFEREE

IN THE MATTER OF THE APPLICATION FOR WATER RIGHTS OF:

TOWN OF RIDGWAY

In the Uncompahgre River, Ouray County, Colorado.

Applicant, The Town ofRidgway, P.O. Box 10, Ridgway CO 81432, requests a Surface Water
Right by Application filed December 30, 1999.

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. All notices required by law of the filing of this Application have been given.  The Referee has
jurisdiction of this case.  The time for filing of statements of opposition has expired and no such
statements have been filed.

2. Applicant requests an absolute water right for the RIDGWAY TOWN PUMPSTATION NO. 1,

which is located 500 feet east of the west section line and 500 feet south of the north section line,

NWl/4NW1/ 4NW1/ 4, Section 16, Township 45 North, Range 8 West, N.M.P.M.  This diversion takes
wastewater tributary to the Uncompahgre River.  Applicant desires to have absolute flow rights for 1. 0
c.£ s. for municipal uses.  The Court finds that the RIDGWAY TOWN PLWSTATION NO. 1 will

produce 1. 0 c.f.s., and that Applicant has placed this water to municipal uses.

RULING

Applicant is hereby GRANTED an absolute water right for 1. 0 c. f.s. of water for municipal uses,
from the RIDGWAY TOWN PUMPSTATION NO. 1, located as above-described, with an appropriation
date of October 6, 1999, adjudication date of 1999.

Dated this l9-,  day of t 2000.

Ai'Z
Aaron R. Clay
Water Referee, Division 4

7o protest Vag filed in tbls matter.     

p fpbe foregoing ruling Is aonfirmd Mated-A Copy of thin
TO approved, and, is made the all parties in this case.
Todgment and Decree of thft court*

C) Q
iatod=

tad p c7

Kafir Phillips, Water Clerk
later 4—



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A: 
Water Right Decrees 

 
Case No. 11CW162, Ridgway Pump Station No. 2 

 



DISTRICT COURT, WATER DIVISION 4, COLORADO

Court Address:   1200 N. Grand Ave., Bin A

Montrose, CO 81401- 3146

DATE FILED: May 30, 2019
CASE NUMBER: 2011 CW 162

IN THE MATTER OF THE APPLICATION FOR WATER

RIGHTS OF

TOWN OF RIDGWAY Case Number:  IICW162

IN THE UNCOMPAHGRE RIVER, OURAY COUNTY

CORRECTED RULING OF REFEREE AND DECREE

Applicant, TOWN OF RIDGWAY. P. O. Box 10, Ridgway, Co 84132, requests Surface Water
Rights by Application filed December 29, 2011.

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. All notices required by law of the filing of this Application have been given.  The Referee
has jurisdiction of this case.  The time for filing of statements of opposition has expired and no such
statements have been filed.

2. Applicant requests an absolute water right for the RIDGWAY PUMP STATION NO.2,

which, based on a GPS reading and PLSS calculation, is located within the SEI/ 4 NE1/ 4 SE1/ 4 of
Section 17, Township 45 North, Range 8 West, N.M.P. M., at a point 1620 feet from the south section
line and 250 feet from the east section line ( NAD 83, Zone 13S, Easting 0258168m, Northing
4225975m).  This diversion takes water tributary to Cottonwood Creek and the Uncompahgre River.
Applicant desires to have absolute flow rights for. 25 c. f.s. for municipal use. The Court finds that the

RIDGWAY PUMP STATION NO.2 will produce .25 c. f.s., and that Applicant has placed this water to
the beneficial use requested.

RULING

Applicant is hereby GRANTED an absolute water right for .25 c. f.s. ofwater for municipal
use,  from the RIDGWAY PUMP STATION NO.2,  located as above-described,  with an

appropriation date of July 31, 2006, adjudication date of 2011.

Prior to a call being placed on Cottonwood Creek by this decree, there must be structures in
place either segregating the introduced flows ofthe Dallas Ditch from the native flow ofCottonwood
Creek, or structures and measuring devices which allow for the call to be administered with respect
to the introduced Dallas ditch flows.  Any structures are subject to the approval of the Division
Engineer.



This Correceted Ruling and decree is being entered to correct the amount granted from .025
c. f.s. to .25 c. f.s.

Dated this 30th day of May, 2019 nunc pro tunc the 7th day of June, 2012.

re g S way

Water Referee, Division 4

The time for filing of protest having expired, and no such protest having been made, the
Court hereby confirms the foregoing Ruling, and makes it the Decree of the Court.

Nunc pro tunc July 10, 2012

BY THE COURT:

DATED May 30, 2019

J. ',S,  ven Patrick

v4ateT Judge



DISTRICT COURT, WATER DIVISION 4, COLORADO

Court Address:   1200 N. Grand Ave., Bin A

Montrose, CO 81401- 3146
FILED Document

O Montrose County District Court 7th J
Fling Date: Jul 10 2012 3: 57PM MDT
Fling ID: 45255109
Review Clerk: Darleen Cappannokeep

IN THE MATTER OF THE APPLICATION FOR WATER

RIGHTS OF

TOWN OF RIDGWAY Case Number:  11CW162

IN THE UNCOMPAHGRE RIVER, OURAY COUNTY

RULING OF REFEREE AND

DECREE

Applicant, TOWN OF RIDGWAY. P. O. Box 10, Ridgway, Co 84132, requests Surface Water
Rights by Application filed December 29, 2011.

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. All notices required by law of the filing of this Application have been given.  The Referee
has jurisdiction of this case.  The time for filing of statements of opposition has expired and no such
statements have been filed.

2. Applicant requests an absolute water right for the RIDGWAY PUMP STATION NO.2,

which, based on a GPS reading and PLSS calculation, is located within the SE1/ 4 NE1/ 4 SE1/ 4 of
Section 17, Township 45 North, Range 8 West, N.M.P.M., at a point 1620 feet from the south section
line and 250 feet from the east section line ( NAD 83, Zone 13S, Easting 0258168m, Northing
4225975m). This diversion takes water tributary to Cottonwood Creek and the Uncompahgre River.
Applicant desires to have absolute flow rights for. 025 c. f.s. for municipal use. The Court finds that the

RIDGWAY PUMP STATION NO.2 will produce. 025 c. f.s., and that Applicant has placed this water to
the beneficial use requested.

RULING

Applicant is hereby GRANTED an absolute water right for. 025 c. f.s. of water for municipal
use,  from the RIDGWAY PUMP STATION NO.2,  located as above- described,  with an

appropriation date of July 31, 2006, adjudication date of 2011.

Prior to a call being placed on Cottonwood Creek by this decree, there must be structures in
place either segregating the introduced flows of the Dallas Ditch from the native flow of
Cottonwood Creek, or structures and measuring devices which allow for the call to be administered
with respect to the introduced Dallas ditch flows. Any structures are subject to the approval of the



Division Engineer.

Dated this 7th day of June, 2012.

S. Gregg4Stadw/ay]

z

Water Referee, Division 4

The time for filing of protest having expired, and no such protest having been made, the
Court hereby confirms the foregoing Ruling, and makes it the Decree of the Court.

II
Done this  ) OV/ day of J 2012.

BY THE COURT:

9Steven Patrick

Water Judge



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B: 
Population Projections and Basis for Projecting Future Needs 

 



 

Population Projections and Basis for Projecting Future Needs 

Table 1 is historic and projected population data from the State Demographer’s website.  Historic data is 
available for both municipalities and counties.  Population forecasts are not available for municipalities. 
However, it is possible to estimate what Ridgway’s population might be in the future using a variety of 
growth scenarios. 
 

o County Growth Rates: Under this scenario, the Town of Ridgway will experience the same annual 
rates of growth as projected for Ouray County.  
 

o Same Ratio between Town and County Growth for last 20 years: Under this scenario, the Town 
will grow at about 54% faster than the County.   

 
o 2000-2020 Growth Rate Continues: Under this scenario, the Town of Ridgway will experience the 

same annual rate of growth as it has, on average. In the last two decades the early growth rates 
average is about 2.3%.    From  2010 -2020 rate that rate was about 1.7% 

 
Looking at recent past projections, the 2018 Ridgway Community Profile prepared by Clarion Associates 
as part of the Town’s Comprehensive Plan update listed the growth rate from 2010 to 2016 as 1.6% 
average per year which was thought be high. Note that using current State Demographer data for that 
time period, the annual average growth rate turned out to be closer to 1%.  Using a growth rate of 1.6% 
and using the 2019 demographer data for the Town results in a population of 1770 people in 2050.  The 
annual average of the rates of change from 2000-2019 rate per demographer data for the Town is 
actually 2.3%.  At 2.3% average annual increase results in a 2050 population of 2000 people, about an 
80% increase. The most recent data is the 2020 census data.  It shows a 2020 population of 1184 about a 
28% increase over the 10 year period.  Anecdotally, there was a relatively large increase in population in 
2021 too.  If one assumes a 3% population increase in 2021 and 2022 then a drop back to an average of 
2.2% increase, the 2050 population would be about 2300 people 

While it is not certain the growth projected in these scenarios will occur over the next 30 years, they are 
helpful in showing a range of possible futures that might come to pass under certain conditions. There 
are many constraints in Ridgway that may limit growth, from the availability of water, to the availability of 
land to support residential development, to economic shocks that could reduce growth across the region, 
state, or country.  Based on the past, it is likely there will be periods of rapid growth as there has been as 
a result of the pandemic and periods of slower growth. To be conservative is assessing the water needs 
for the community in the next 30 years, a design population of 2000 in 2050 is recommended. 
 

Table 
- 1  

From State Demographer 
county muni time series csv 
082421, updated with 2020 
census  

      
    

           

  Town Ouray Cty  
 

  Town County 
          

 
          

1980 369   1925   
 

2015 953 1.38% 4597 0.70% 
1981 398 7.86% 2056 6.81% 

 
2016 995 4.41% 4778 3.94% 

1982 415 4.27% 2110 2.63% 
 

2017 1008 1.31% 4799 0.44% 



 

1983 420 1.20% 2124 0.66% 
 

2018 1050 4.17% 4808 0.19% 
1984 438 4.29% 2207 3.91% 

 
2019 1083 3.14% 4934 2.62% 

1985 425 -2.97% 2130 -3.49% 
 

2020 1184.0   4931 -0.06% 
1986 392 -7.76% 1999 -6.15% 

 
2021 1219.5   4938 0.14% 

1987 412 5.10% 2151 7.60% 
 

2022 1256.1   4960 0.45% 
1988 413 0.24% 2219 3.16% 

 
2023 1283.7   4981 0.42% 

1989 425 2.91% 2262 1.94% 
 

2024 1312.0   5009 0.56% 
1990 423 -0.47% 2295 1.46% 

 
2025 1340.8   5028 0.38% 

1991 439 3.78% 2419 5.40% 
 

2026 1370.3   5060 0.64% 
1992 459 4.56% 2535 4.80% 

 
2027 1400.5   5095 0.69% 

1993 471 2.61% 2653 4.65% 
 

2028 1431.3   5131 0.71% 
1994 522 10.83% 2902 9.39% 

 
2029 1462.8   5167 0.70% 

1995 550 5.36% 3085 6.31% 
 

2030 1495.0   5204 0.72% 
1996 582 5.82% 3252 5.41% 

 
2031 1527.9   5242 0.73% 

1997 653 12.20% 3322 2.15% 
 

2032 1561.5   5279 0.71% 
1998 666 1.99% 3453 3.94% 

 
2033 1595.8   5317 0.72% 

1999 692 3.90% 3618 4.78% 
 

2034 1630.9   5356 0.73% 
2000 744 7.51% 3776 4.37% 

 
2035 1666.8   5395 0.73% 

2001 731 -1.75% 3809 0.87% 
 

2036 1703.5   5435 0.74% 
2002 728 -0.41% 3903 2.47% 

 
2037 1741.0   5476 0.75% 

2003 728 0.00% 3905 0.05% 
 

2038 1779.3   5519 0.79% 
2004 760 4.40% 4023 3.02% 

 
2039 1818.4   5562 0.78% 

2005 788 3.68% 4084 1.52% 
 

2040 1858.4   5606 0.79% 
2006 877 11.29% 4137 1.30% 

 
2041 1899.3   5650 0.78% 

2007 912 3.99% 4274 3.31% 
 

2042 1941.1   5694 0.78% 
2008 936 2.63% 4407 3.11% 

 
2043 1983.8   5738 0.77% 

2009 920 -1.71% 4372 -0.79% 
 

2044 2027.4   5782 0.77% 
2010 925 0.54% 

   
2045 2072.0   5825 0.74% 

2011 917 -0.86% 
   

2046 2117.6   5869 0.76% 
2012 930 1.42% 

   
2047 2164.2   5913 0.75% 

2013 935 0.54% 
   

2048 2211.8   5957 0.74% 
2014 940 0.53% 

   
2049 2260.5   6001 0.74%       
2050 2310.2   6046 0.75% 

 
Assessment of Water Demand and Water Rights Needs 

The Town has for most of the last 30 years had a relatively low per capita water consumption in the 
winter months.  In summer, Town's water consumption is more typical of the region.  For a while as the 
Town grew, more efficient plumbing fixtures and appliances kept it so that water sold, especially in the 
winter, did not increase as fast as the population was growing.  As the population has recovered from the 
recession, with new construction and immigration to Ridgway, demand has increased.  As of 2017, the 
amount of water sold annually was still less than the peak demand in 2008 (48.4 MG).  However, in 2018, 
even under mandatory water restrictions with significant outreach encouraging users to decrease water 
usage due to the major drought during the summer of 2018, the Town sold 50.562 million gallons about 5 
million gallons more than the previous several years. This was likely a result of the severe drought 
conditions and people wanting to keep their landscaping alive.  Water sold was about 42.5 MG in 2019, a 



 

wetter year, and about 49 MG 2020 which was another drier year.  Just looking at water produced in the 
winter, it increased about 1% a year for the last few years. Looking at the decade from 2009 to 2019, the 
population increased about 17% whereas water sold remained about the same. 

Looking at the total demand, based on the meter in the water plant, potable water usage (water 
produced) was around 220 acre feet (AF) per year 2019 and 2020 and around 230 AF in 2018.  Given the 
extreme drought in 2018, in a more typical year the current demand is about 220 AF.  If the Town 
increases water demand by 50% in 30 years, the potable demand will be in the 330 AF range.  If the 
growth rate continues to follow the pattern of the last couple years, the potable demand in 2050 could 
be in the range of 450 AF. However as discussed below water usage has increased at a much slower rate 
than the population has over the last 20 years.  In addition the Town has updated its zoning regulations to 
encourage denser development, smaller lots and adopted new landscaping requirements to reduce 
outdoor water demands.   

 

Figure 2 (above) summarizes the water treatment plant production and water sold for the last 20 years.  
The numbers fluctuate quite a bit between years.  Looking at the water sold numbers which has less 
variability, there does seem to be an increase in water sold as the population grew in the early 2000’s 
until the recession impacted the town in 2009.  From 2012 going forward with the exception of 2019 as 
the economy has recovered there has again been a slow increase in water sold.  Looking between the low 
point in 2004 and the peak in 2018, the water produced has increased from about 48.3 MG to about 75.2 
MG about a 56% increase while water sold has increased from 38.8 MG to 50.3 MG a 30% increase.  Note 
that population increased from 704 to 1050 in the same timeframe, a 50% increase. Town staff has 
concerns about the accuracy of the master meter that measures the water produced.  In 2022 they 
intend to include a master meter downstream of the water storage tanks at the water plant and also to 
have the produced water master meter professionally re-calibrated.   



 

Looking at Figure 3 below one can see that the population has increased at a faster rate than water sold 
annually or in the winter.  Even though the population is expected to increase as much as 80% by 2050 
using the more aggressive models, based on historic trends and concerns about climate change and 
drought, the water demand is projected to increase about 50%. 

 

 

The Town’s parks and open spaces are irrigated with non-potable water. Street watering and water from 
construction is generally provided through the non-potable water system as well.  The source of the non-
potable supply is an outlet from the pre-sedimentation ponds which is diverted into the non-potable 
supply line upstream of the water treatment plant.  Between 1990 and 2010, the Town’s parks and space 
area increased significantly.  However, in the last decade there has been little addition to public open 
space or park space.  The Town does not track the amount of water consumed through the non-potable 
system, but it is estimated to be about 0.2 - 0.35 cfs per day for much of the irrigation season which 
typically runs from mid to late April through early to mid-October.  The above estimate is based on the 
difference between water produced and staff’s estimate of how much water the Town diverts to the pre-
sedimentation ponds.  Assuming that at the beginning and end of the season there is less demand and 
that there are periods of wet weather with less demand, the demand for non-potable shown in Table 2 
below is estimated to be in the 175 AF/year range.  Note that the Town does not track what water flows 
out of the pre-sedimentation ponds through the overflow structures.   

 



 

 

 

The non-potable demand is a significant amount of the total water demand for the Town during the 
summer months.  During the hotter, drier parts of the irrigation season it is about half of the total 
demand.   

Table 2 - 2020 Water Demand  
            

                

2020   Water Production  Non Potable Total 

     Gals  CFS AC FT CFS AC FT AC FT 

Jan          4,927,875          0.25  15.124 0 0 15.12 

Feb         4,313,902          0.22  13.240 0 0 13.24 

Mar         4,750,194          0.24  14.579 0 0 14.58 

Apr         4,368,250          0.22  13.407 0.15 9.00 22.41 

May         7,434,292          0.38  22.817 0.25 15.50 38.32 

Jun         8,105,881          0.41  24.878 0.34 20.40 45.28 

Jul         8,128,236          0.42  24.946 0.33 20.46 45.41 

Aug         8,521,200          0.44  26.152 0.25 15.50 41.65 

Sep         6,345,921          0.32  19.476 0.22 13.20 32.68 

Oct         5,148,372          0.26  15.801 0.15 9.30 25.10 

Nov         3,908,267          0.20  11.995 0 0 11.99 

Dec         4,739,060          0.24  14.545 0 0 14.54 

                

        216.96   103.36 320.32 

        
 NOTE:  Non potable flows are based on staff estimate of total diversions 

         less the amount produced.      
 

As the State, and the west as a whole, grapples with how to meet the State's projected water shortage 
with simultaneous population increases and an apparent long-term drought cycle, one hopes that 
plumbing fixtures and water consuming appliances will continue to become more efficient.  It will also be 
necessary to make landscaping increasingly water efficient, and/or explore land use regulations that 
discourage high water use.  These types of efforts may lead to a slight drop in per user consumption; 
however, as the population grows water demand is likely to grow with it, absent any significant changes 
in the cost of water or policy changes to limit water use.  Making matters more challenging, climate 
change is likely to reduce the yield (wet water) from the Town's source of water supply. As noted above, 
the Town has recently updated some of its land use regulations to encourage denser development and 
less outdoor water usage.  

The challenge is to determine how estimates of past water usage can be projected into the future.  The 
non-potable demand is likely to depend on how the acres of parks and open space increases into the 
future.  How they are landscaped will also impact how much water they require.  The Town has recently 
modified the landscaping requirements on private property taking into account the desire to conserve 
water. It is anticipated that new open space and even some park space will also be landscaped with water 
conservation in mind. Based on the slower growth in parks and open space over the last 15 years, the 



 

Town’s emphasis on higher density infill growth, and the Town’s recognition for the need for water 
efficiency, for the purposes of the water availability study, a 35% increase in non-potable demand is 
recommended.  

Potable water demand will depend on the rate at which the population changes over the next 30 years, 
how much landscaping and the types of landscaping that is part of the housing development, the water  
efficiency of appliances and fixtures, and how conscientious consumers are regarding water usage as well 
other factors including precipitation patterns.   For the purposes of the water availability assessment, with 
an intent to be conservative, it is recommended the Town plan for a 50% increase in potable water 
demand.  That figure is a little less than the increase in water produced from 2004 – 2018, but is 
considerably more than the increase in water sold during that period.  It is recommended that the Town 
keep an eye on water usage and if increases in water demand average more than 1.5% per year that the 
Town complete another study to determine water availability in about 15 years.   

In order to keep water available for development, it is strongly recommended that when new properties 
are annexed to the Town that part of the annexation include dedication of water rights to the Town to 
account for the long term uses of the land being annexed. Where practical, this is also recommended for 
land being subdivided.   



 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM #2 
 



 

 

To:    Honorable Mayor Clark and Ridgway Town Council 
From:   Preston Neill, Town Manager 
Date:   February 24, 2022 
Agenda Topic: Review and action on Project Development and Implementation 

Agreement – Lena Street Improvements between Lena Street Commons, 
LLC and the Town of Ridgway 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
ACTION BEFORE COUNCIL: 
Council is asked to review and take action on the attached Project Development and 
Implementation Agreement – Lena Street Improvements between Lena Street Commons, LLC and 
the Town of Ridgway.  
 
SUMMARY: 
Pursuant to the recorded Development Agreement for the Lena Street Commons Project, which was 
recorded on August 19, 2019 in Ouray County records at reception No. 223540, Town staff and 
representatives of Lena Street Commons, LLC have developed an “Implementation Plan” that 
establishes the responsible parties for undertaking varying elements of the Lena Street 
Improvements, as well as the timing and sequencing for performing the work. It also addresses the 
timing and procedures for the parties to pay their share of the costs and expenses for the Lena Street 
Improvements. The Lena Street Improvements are specific to the section between Charles Street 
and Otto Street.  
 
Once the Project Development and Implementation Agreement is executed, the Town will issue a 
formal Request for Bids (RFB), which is a competitive sealed bid process. The aim is for Council to 
consider awarding a contract to the bidder whose bid best meets the requirements and criteria set 
forth in the RFB at the April 13, 2022 Regular Council meeting. Moreover, the aim is for the selected 
contractor to complete the work in 2022.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
The Development Agreement described above identifies that Lena Street Commons, LLC is 
responsible for 60% of the costs associated with the Lena Street Improvements, while the Town of 
Ridgway is responsible for 40%. The Lena Street Improvements are identified as a 2022 Capital 
Project in the Town’s 5-Year Capital Improvement Plan and the 2022 Annual Budget has funding 
earmarked to cover the Town’s estimated contribution based on the current design iteration and 
the associated preliminary budget.  
 
This project was discussed in various neighborhood and public meetings in 2018 and 2019, giving 
residents the opportunity to share thoughts and concerns on the design of the improvements. Lena 
Street residents were invited to an informational session on January 17, 2022 so they could be 
refreshed on the design and receive updates on the timeline for the project. The input received at 



 

 

that session prompted a Town Council Workshop on January 27, 2022 so that Council could consider 
several options for design modifications on the west side of Lena Street. Direction was provided to 
modify the design to make the sidewalk 6’ wide, install valley pan for drainage, and to keep the area 
between the sidewalk and valley pan (about 16’ in width) as gravel sloped from front of walk to back 
of pan.  
 
ATTACHMENT: 
Project Development and Implementation Agreement – Lena Street Improvements 



 

1 

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION AGREEMENT  

LENA STREET IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 This PROJECT DEVELOPMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION AGREEMENT (this 

“Agreement”) is made and entered into, effective as of this ___ day of February 2022 (the 

“Effective Date”), by and between LENA STREET COMMONS, LLC, a Colorado limited 

liability company (“Property Owner”), and the TOWN OF RIDGWAY, a home-rule 

municipality and political subdivision of the state of Colorado (“Town”). Property Owner and 

Town hereinafter are referenced collectively as the “Parties” or individually as a “Party.” 

 

RECITALS 

 

A. Property Owner is the owner of real property located in Ridgway Colorado, more 

particularly described on Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein (the “Property”). 

 

B. Property Owner has developed a portion of the Property pursuant to a February 

10, 2021, Final Plat recommended for approval by the Ridgway Planning Commission and 

approved by the Ridgway Town Council.   

 

C. The Property is a tract of land lying east of Blocks 31 and 32, west of the west 

line of the Railroad right-of-way between Otto St. and Charles St. in Ridgway, Colorado.   

 

D. Pursuant to an August 19, 2019, Development Agreement by and between the 

Town and the Property Owner (the “Development Agreement”), the Property Owner is required 

to undertake Infrastructure Improvements, as further detailed and defined in the Development 

Agreement, including the costs, fees and expenses for improving certain portions of Lena Street 

 

E. The Parties are in a position to proceed with the Lena Street improvements in 

accordance with the Development Agreement.   

 

F. The Parties wish to enter into this Agreement outlining the implementation plan 

for the construction of the Lena Street improvements as further outlined herein.   

 

PROJECT DEVELOPMENT and AGREEMENT 

 

 In consideration of the covenants and agreements set forth herein, and other good and 

valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which hereby are acknowledged and 

accepted, the Parties hereby agree as follows: 

 

1. Scope of Improvements.  The Parties agree that the Lena Street improvements 

(hereinafter the “Project”) shall be in accordance with the plans (“Approved Plans”) attached 

hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A.  The Parties shall not modify the Approved Plans 

unless mutually agreed upon by each Party, not to be unreasonably withheld.  

 

2. Budget.  The Parties have reviewed and approved an estimated budget for the Project 

dated November 24, 2021 (“Preliminary Budget”), attached hereto and incorporated herein as 



 

2 

Exhibit B.  The Parties agree that the estimated cost of the Project pursuant to the Approved 

Plans is Eight Hundred Thirty-Nine Thousand Eight Hundred Dollars ($839,800.00) (the “Cost 

of the Project”), which is reflected in the Preliminary Budget. The Parties shall not modify the 

Preliminary Budget unless mutually agreed upon by each Party, not to be unreasonably withheld. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge that the Preliminary Budget is only an 

estimate and the final budget is dependent upon the bids submitted in response to a Request for 

Bids and any project management costs.  

 

3. Deposit of Funds.  Pursuant to the Development Agreement, the Cost of the Project is to 

be borne Sixty Percent (60%) by the Property Owner, and Forty Percent (40%) by the Town. 

Within three business days of the mutual acceptance of Bid Documents and the Bid Awarding 

(“Funding Deadline”), the Owner shall tender the amount of Five Hundred Three Thousand 

Eight Hundred and Eighty Dollars ($503,880.00) as its share of the Cost of the Project, which 

funds shall be deposited into escrow account held and maintained by the Town of Ridgway 

(“Lena Street Improvements Escrow Account”) and dedicated exclusively for use by the 

Parties in connection with this Agreement for the payment of the Cost of the Project. The Town 

shall likewise tender the amount of Three Hundred Thirty-Five Thousand Nine Hundred and 

Twenty Dollars ($335,920.00) for its share of the Cost of the Project by the Funding Deadline, 

which shall be paid into the Lena Street Improvements Escrow Account.  

 

4. Implementation Plan.  The Parties agree upon the following proposed schedule and 

implementation plan for the Project:   

 

   

i.  Town Issues the Bids Documents [see 3(a)] March 3, 2022 

ii.  Pre-Bid Meeting  March 17, 2022 

iii.  Deadline for Bid submittal March 24, 2022 

iv.  Bid Opening March 24, 2022 

v.  Bid Awarding by Ridgway Town Council April 13, 2022 

vi.  Commencement of the work Construction Season - 2022 

vii.  Completion of the Work On or Before 12/31/2022 

 

a. Bid Documents.  The following shall consist of the Bid Documents:  

 

[ X ]  Agreement including General Conditions 

[ X ]  Request for Bids and Instructions to Bidders 

[ X ]  Bid Form 

[ X ]  Measurement and Payment 

[ X ]  Specifications 

[ X ]  Drawings 

[ X ]  Addenda – if any 

[ X ]  Change Orders - if any 

[ X ]  Written Interpretation of OR - if any 

[ X ]  Performance Bond and Payment Bond  

[ X ]  Notice of Award 

[ X ]  Notice to Proceed 



 

3 

The Town shall provide the Property Owner with a draft of the Bid Documents when 

compiled by the Town for review and comment by the Property Owner and in any 

event, prior to the time that the Bid Documents are released to the public.  Property 

Owner shall provide any comments on the Bid Documents within two business days 

after receiving the initial drafts.     

 

b. Advertising.  The Town shall post the Bid Documents on the Town website, shall 

advertise Project in Town’s paper of record, the Ouray County Plaindealer, and, the 

Western Colorado Contractors Association. The Property Owner is welcome to 

circulate the Bid Documents to any other entity or contractor, inviting the same to 

submit a bid.   

  

c. Pre-Bid Meeting.  The Town shall hold a pre-bid conference on or about March 17, 

2022.  The Property Owner is encouraged to attend this conference. The Project 

Engineer shall conduct the pre-bid conference and shall address all questions 

presented during the meeting.  The Project Engineer shall prepare a summary of the 

Pre-Bid Meeting and any addenda which is deemed appropriate by the Town, 

provided that the Project Engineer shall not unilaterally alter the scope of the work 

contemplated in the Approved Plans, and shall not unilaterally increase the Cost of 

the Project reflected in the Preliminary Budget nor the timing/scheduling of the work 

contemplated in this Agreement without the prompt approval of the Owner, which 

shall not to be unreasonably withheld.   

 

d. Bid Opening.  At the date and time listed in the Bid Documents, scheduled for March 

24, 2022, the Town shall hold a public bid opening, and will announce the name of 

the bidder and their total bid.  

 

e. Bid Summary.  The Project Engineer shall prepare a detailed bid summary checking 

for mathematical errors on bids, and thereafter will notify the bidders if any of the 

totals read aloud at the bid opening are in error.  The detailed bid summary will be a 

confidential document until after the award in case the Town elects to reject any, and 

all bids. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Town will provide the bid summary to 

the Property Owner for review and comment, provided the Property Owner keeps the 

bid summary confidential until after an award of Bid is executed. 

  

f. Reference Check.  The Town staff shall be responsible for checking the references of 

the apparent successful best qualified, lowest, responsible and responsive Bidder and 

the second lowest.  The Town shall consult with the Property Owner about its 

experience with the Bidders.  Town staff shall prepare a recommendation to the Town 

Council based on staff’s review of the bids, reference checks, and any information 

provided by the Property Owner.   

 

5. Award of Bid.  Upon the Town Council authorizing its award of contract, Town staff 

shall issue a contract to the awardee and review the awardee’s bonds and insurance before the 

Town Manager signs the contract on behalf of the Town. Property Owner shall have the ability 

to review the Town contract and provide comments to the same prior to it being provided to the 



 

4 

awardee.  Incorporating any comments from Property Owner shall be the sole responsibility, and 

election of the Town.  

 

6. Pre-Construction Meeting.  Prior to contractor commencing construction on the 

Improvements, a preconstruction conference shall be held with the Contractor, the Town 

representatives The Town will notify the Property Owner who may elect to attend the pre-

construction meeting. The Parties agree that work associated with the Project shall be 

coordinated with the Owner to correspond with the approved development of the improvements 

being undertaken by Owner on the Property.   The Work associated with the Project has been 

coordinated with and approved by the Owner.  Should the Town propose any changes to the 

Work on the easement on the Owner’s property, the Town will coordinate those changes with the 

Owner. 

 

7. Inspection of the Improvements. Town Staff and the Project Engineer shall work 

together to provide day to day inspection of the Project and construction process.  After notice to 

the Town’s project manager, the Property Owner may observe the Project.  Upon review of the 

Project, the Property Owner is to communicate only with the Town’s representative or Project 

Engineer.   

 

8. Periodic Updates of the Project.  The Project Engineer shall provide project 

management as needed.  At the end of each week the Town and the Contractor shall agree on 

quantities of work completed.  At the end of each month the Town and Contractor shall prepare a 

request for payment.  The Town will provide a copy of the request for payment from the 

Contractor and all other project invoices that are to be paid that month to the Property Owner 

before making any payments to the Contractor.  The Town is responsible for managing and 

administering the work in a manner that keeps the Project on schedule in terms of the Approved 

Plans, the Preliminary Budget and this Agreement and shall notify the Property Owner in the 

event that work needs to vary from the Approved Plans, the Preliminary Budget and the timing 

indicated in this Agreement.  The Parties shall meet and confer from time to time as necessary to 

discuss the potential for cost overruns and opportunities to control costs and otherwise avoid cost 

overruns. 

 

9. Project Meetings.  In the event it is needed, the Town and Contractor shall conduct any 

Project meetings.  The Town shall notify the Property Owner of any prescheduled meetings, 

which the Property Owner is welcome to attend.   

 

10. Allocation of Payments.  The Town shall notify the Property Owner of its share of the 

Project expenses, and thereafter, three days after such notification, the Town shall deduct the 

Owner’s share from the escrow account, which share of funds are consistent with this 

Agreement.  In the event that there are cost overruns for the Project that are reviewed and agreed 

upon as provided for in this Agreement, both Parties shall deposit their respective share of the 

Cost of the Project to cover said cost overruns into escrow.   

 

11. Project Completion.  When the Project is substantially completed, the Town, the Project 

Engineer and the Property Owner shall conduct an inspection of the project.    

 



 

5 

12. Notices.  All notices, notifications and other communications required or permitted by 

this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or sent by facsimile or email 

(with confirmation of receipt), to the Parties at their respective addresses. 

 

13. Dispute Resolution.  In the event of any dispute between the Parties arises in connection 

with this Agreement, the Parties agree to submit the matter to non-binding mediation or other 

such alternative dispute measure before filing any litigation claim.  The Parties further agree that 

the non-prevailing Party, as determined by the mediator or adjudicator, shall pay to the 

prevailing Party, in addition to all sums that either Party may be called upon to pay, the 

prevailing Party’s attorneys’ fees (including the costs of in-house counsel) and costs related to 

prosecuting or defending the claim, whether or not an action is filed or prosecuted to judgment. 

 

14. Modification and Waiver.  No change, modification or waiver of any provision of this 

Agreement shall be valid or binding unless it is evidenced in writing, dated subsequent to the 

date hereof and signed by both Parties hereto.  No waiver of any breach, term or condition of this 

Agreement by any Party shall constitute a subsequent waiver of the same or any other breach, 

term or condition.  

 

15. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance 

with the internal laws of the State of Colorado, and venue shall lie exclusively in the courts 

located in Ouray County, Colorado. 

 

16. Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire agreement and understanding of 

the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and no other representations, promises, 

agreements or understandings regarding the subject matter hereof shall be of any force or effect 

unless in writing, executed by both Parties hereto and dated on or after the date hereof. 

 

17. Headings.  The headings used in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only 

and shall not be deemed to limit, characterize or in any way affect the interpretation of any 

provision of this Agreement. 

 

18. Severability.  In case any one or more of the provisions contained herein for any reason 

shall be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or 

unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement, but this Agreement shall 

be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision or provisions had never been 

contained herein. 

 

19. Warranties of Authority.  The Parties expressly warrant and represent to each other that 

they have the full right, title and authority to enter into this Agreement as provided herein, and 

that no approvals or consents of any other persons, entities or agencies are necessary to affect the 

same. 

 

20. Counterparts Signatures.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, all of 

which taken together shall constitute one agreement, and any Party may execute this Agreement 

by signing any such counterpart. 

  



 

6 

21. Review.  This Agreement has been carefully read by the Parties, the contents hereof are 

known and understood by the Parties, and it is signed freely by each Party executing this 

Agreement. 

 

  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement, intending it to be 

effective as of the Effective Date. 

 

 
PROPERTY OWNER: 

  

Lena Commons, LLC,  

a Colorado limited liability company 

 

 

By: ______________________________  Date: _________________ 

 

Printed Name: _____________________ 

Title: ____________________________ 

 

STATE OF _____________ ) 

) ss. 

COUNTY OF ____________ ) 

 

Subscribed to and acknowledged before me this ____ day of _____________, 2022, by ______________ 

as the ___________________________ of Lena Commons, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company. 

 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

 

_____________________________   My commission expires: ______________ 

Notary Public 

 

  



 

7 

TOWN:  

 

Town of Ridgway, Colorado, 

a municipal corporation 

         

 

By: ______________________________  Date: _________________ 

 

Printed Name: _____________________ 

Title: ____________________________ 

 

ATTEST: 

 

      

Town Clerk 

 

 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 

    ) ss. 

COUNTY OF OURAY ) 

 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of ______________, 2022 by 

________________, Town Manager, Town of Ridgway, Colorado. 
 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

              

      My commission expires:    . 

Notary Public 

  

 


	00 agenda
	01 Agenda Item 1
	02 Water Supply Assessment
	1. Memo
	2. Water Supply Assessment (2022-02-16)_Public
	Section 1: INTRODUCTION
	1.1 Scope of Work

	Section 2: WATER SYSTEM DEMANDS
	2.1 Existing Water System Demands
	2.1.1 Existing Potable Water Demands
	2.1.2 Existing Raw Water Demands

	2.2 Demand Forecast (2021 to 2050)
	2.2.1 Potable Water Demand Projections
	2.2.2 Raw Water Demand Projections


	Section 3: WATER AVAILABILITY
	3.1 Physical Water Supply
	3.1.1 Ridgway Ditch Diversion System
	3.1.2 Lake Otonowanda
	3.1.3 Happy Hollow Ditch System
	3.1.4 Pre-sedimentation Ponds

	3.2 Legal Water Supply
	3.2.1 Ridgway Ditch
	3.2.2 The Town’s Ridgway Water System
	3.2.3 Other Water Rights
	3.2.4 Water Right Administration

	3.3 Climate Change Considerations
	3.3.1 Climate Change Diversions

	3.4 Reliability of The Town’s Water System
	3.4.1 Supply-Demand Scenarios
	3.4.2 Modeled Supply Gap


	Section 4: WATER SUPPLY STRATEGIES
	Section 5: SUMMARY OF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
	Scenario Detail Summaries (C1, C2, H1, H2).pdf
	Ridgway_Supply_Demand_Model_SummaryPage_02032022_A2C1.pdf
	SummaryPage

	Ridgway_Supply_Demand_Model_SummaryPage_02032022_B1C1.pdf
	SummaryPage

	Ridgway_Supply_Demand_Model_SummaryPage_02032022_B2C1.pdf
	SummaryPage

	Ridgway_Supply_Demand_Model_SummaryPage_02032022_C1C1.pdf
	SummaryPage

	Ridgway_Supply_Demand_Model_SummaryPage_02032022_C2C1.pdf
	SummaryPage

	Ridgway_Supply_Demand_Model_SummaryPage_02032022_D1C1.pdf
	SummaryPage

	Ridgway_Supply_Demand_Model_SummaryPage_02032022_D2C1.pdf
	SummaryPage

	Ridgway_Supply_Demand_Model_SummaryPage_020032022_A1C1.pdf
	SummaryPage




	03 Agenda Item 2
	04 Project Development and Implementation Agreement - Lena Street Improvements
	1. Memo
	2. Project Development and Implementation Agreement - Lena Street Improvements




